
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded  

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Guy Close 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Tel: 39 50878 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Richard Mills 
Tel: 24 74557 
 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 
 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (HOUSING AND REGENERATION) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on 

Tuesday, 25th June, 2013 at 10.00 am 
 

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 9.30 am) 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
B Atha Kirkstall; 

D Collins Horsforth; 

J Cummins Temple Newsam; 

P Grahame Cross Gates and 
Whinmoor; 

M Iqbal City and Hunslet; 

S Lay Otley and Yeadon; 

V Morgan Killingbeck and Seacroft; 

D Nagle Rothwell; 

J Procter (Chair) Wetherby; 

C Towler Hyde Park and 
Woodhouse; 

G Wilkinson Wetherby; 

 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded). 
 
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head 
of Governance Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting). 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows: 

  
           No exempt items have been identified on 

the agenda. 
 

 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
C 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES - 30TH APRIL 2013 
 
To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 30th April 2013. 
 

1 - 8 

7   
 

  SCRUTINY BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development presenting the Board’s 
terms of reference. 
 

9 - 22 

8   
 

  CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on the appointment of co-
opted Members to Scrutiny Boards. 
 

23 - 
28 

9   
 

  2012/13 QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
To consider a report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
summarising the quarter 4 performance data 
relevant to the Scrutiny Board. 
 

29 - 
44 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
D 

10   
 

  SOURCES OF WORK 
 
To receive a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on potential sources of work 
for the Scrutiny Board. 
 

45 - 
132 

11   
 

  INQUIRY TO CONSIDER STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION - DRAFT TERMS OF 
REFERENCE 
 
To consider a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on draft terms of reference 
for an inquiry on student accommodation in the 
city. 
 

133 - 
140 

12   
 

  WORK SCHEDULE 
 
To consider the Board’s work schedule for the 
forthcoming municipal year. 
 

141 - 
146 

13   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Tuesday, 30th July 2013 at 10.00am (Pre-meeting 
for all Board Members at 9.30am) 
 

 

 
 
 



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

��������	
���
	��������	��
	�������������	
	

����
���	����	������	����	
�

��������	
�

�

	����
������
������	�����������

� �

	����
��������������
���	������
���	���
��������������� ��!�"
���	�����������
��#
$�������%�� ��	����&��'�	�
	�

�
���	 ������ 	�!"#�#$	�"%��& 		

#���������$���
�������� 
	���
����������������	��
���������
��	 ��
����
()

��	���	��*���	�����
	+,�
�
��������$�����������������	��$����	������
���	��"
	�������-���������������
���	'����
����"��������
���������	��
�����$��	�������
���������
	����
��
	��
�	���
��
����
��	����������� ���,��
�
)�����
��	�
��������������	�������"����*
��	�
	���
���	�	������������
$

�����������	�������

	����
	�����.��� ���������/	�����������������	��
��"� �
������01� ������������,��
����"��������
	�� ��������������$�������
��
"��*
��	�
	,�
�

���	 ��'"	�'"% 		
#�����$����	
������������
���
��	�����
��
	��������
$����������������������
�
�������������
��
$�	������
������	��� ��	�
�����
	23�
�

•� ��
��	��)

��	��4�*����������
���
���������������		�	��5�������
(���	���/����6+�("�	
���776�������+�

•� .	������	��$����5$	����
��*������%	�����	�������� ���	����(���	���
/����8+�("�	
���791�������+�

•� ��� ����
��� ����	�*����$�#�����	��4�*��
���
�������������	��������
.:��
�����(���		�	����
��� ��	��/���
����	�+(���	���/����77+("�	
�����
797�������+�

•� &
�'������
���4�.:��
������
������	
����
�����������	�������
	�9;���
������917;�(���	���/����79+("�	
���799�������+�

�
#����
�
��	���$����	
������������������������
���������	��������������
��
�
���<
�	�� �����������������
������
�����
	������

	���=��$������,�
�

���	 
"()���'�*#	*+	
� ()* �,)"	�"(-#���.	�#'"�" ' 		
#�����$����	
������
���������
	��� ��	��
������	������������������������
�����	�,�
�

��/	 �!*)*$�" 	+*�	�, "#("	�#0	�*'�+�(�'�*#	*+	�-, '�'-'" 		
�	���
�
� ��
������	���$������������
	��������
���

	����
��"�/<���,�
�
�
��������
	��������	�����������
���

	����
����%�� ��
��
�����
����
���

	����
��
"�/<���,�
�

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

�
��1	 �" �$#�'�*#	*+		�*2*!'"0	3"%,"�		

#���)����
�����
��	 ��
��
����	��"�����������
���	���
�������������
���
�	�
���	�������
����
��������������
�����������	���
	�
��"����
����)��������
3

�����"�������
��������
��	 ��
���,�
�
�����4�
�4��

�+� #����������
����	
�������������	���
	�
��"����
����)����������
3
�����
"�������
������
�����������

���	��������
��,�

�+� #����
	��������
�������
������������	���������
��	 ������������
��<
�������
�$������
�"��)�����:������	�����������	'���
������
������
�
	����
��
	��
�����$
�'�
����������
��	 ��
�����	�������
�������
�����
���
��	 ��
����(*���	�����
	+��	�9177>79,�

�
��5	 3�#-'" 	2	�5'�	3��(�	����		

�����4�
�4�#����������	
����
�����������	�������
	�9?���"�����917;����
����
����������
���������
��,�
�

��6	 3�''"� 	��� �#$	+�*%	'�"	3�#-'" 		
�+� ���
��	 �/	<
�� �4���������������	��������
�����("�	
���71@�������+�

#������	���������
��	 ����������	�
��������������	������������
���=��
��	
����	�����
�
��
	�
	���������
��$

���������
������
�����)

��	��
�	��*���	�����
	���������������	��������
�����	��
	��917;,�
�

��7	 �'-0"#'	�*- �#$		
#���������
��
����� ������
���	���
���������������������
���$������:��
����
���
���
	�����		�	���������������
	�
����	�$����		�	���
��� ��
����
��	��
�

��	�������
���	���	�������� ��	����������
���	�����		�	����������
	���	��
�	<
�������
���
��
����
������
��	�����
��
����
	��	�������� ,�
�
����	�����
��������
���$������
� �
�������
���
������������
��
��.	���
	��	��
�	��������

��

����	�������A�%������
	������	�� ����
���
���	���

��	��
���'������	���$����	�����������?��
���
��������=��
�������	�
�����
	>�
���	��

�����������	�,�
�
#����
��
$�	���������	��������$�����	�����	��	����	������
	�����
�"������=�
<
�������	���
���	��23�
�

3� �

	����
������
�	��.:��
�����"�������������

��

�������		�	���	��
�
��
������������

3� "��������������������������		�	��5����������� ������
���	��
3� "��*
��	��
����	��#��������������� ������
���	����
3� "���
�	����������)����
��)

��	������	���������.	���
	��	���	��

������

��

���
3� "��"��'�/����	������������"�	�����������*�	�$����.	���
	��	���	��

������

��

���
�

#������������		�	��5������������	�������������������
����	������������������
���'��

	�����
����	�������
	��
���
��	�����
��
����
	��	�������� ,�)��
����������
�����������������
��	��	
������$���������	���	���
���
������

Page 2



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

�������������
��	���������
���:�������	�"��	$

���	���
����������
������
���	��$��������

	��	������	��
	�����
������	�����
���
��
���
��� ��	�������	�
�����,����������������������	
�����
���
���	�����		�	����������
	���	�������
�
�������90@7�	�$���
��	������

����	��
��
����
�������
��
����
	,�#���
�

	�����
	��	
����
������������������
	���
����
��	�������
���	��
���	��	�
�
����
	��$�����$�����
	��������
	�
�������� ���B
�	�	��
��
�������	���
����
������	���$�����
�������	<
���������	�����������
	������
���������,�)�����������
�
�������
�
���
���
���	��
	�)���,�C�	��� ���������������
������

	���=�����		�	��
�
��� �����

���	�����%	���� ������
���	�����	�911?�(%��+�$�����$���
�:��������
�����
���������� ��
��� ��	������������
���������� �$��	���������	�
�����
������	������917;�
������ �9170,�)���	�
��������������	����������$���
������
���$
�'��	���
�������	��$���
�����
����"����������$��
	�����
�
	��	�,�
�
�������������
���
	��	�
���
	������
	��	���
���������
���,�
�
/	��
���� �����������������	���$���������
���	
�����
�����
����	��
��	�23�
�

•� #����
	���	���:���������������		�	��)

����*
�������������$�����
�
�������������
�����
�������������
	����������
����
��	��
���
��
����
	��	��$����������	�����
	�$� ���������
��$������	��
����
���������
�� =�������	��

•� �����������
	�����

	�����
��� �
	���
��	���

��	���������	���:���$����	�
�����
���������� ��
�����������	
�����
���������������������������
���������������
��������������������������������
��������������������������������
��
�������������
�����������
������
����������
����������������
����������������������������������������������������������� �����
��
����
����������
��������������
����������
�����
���
������������������
�������!�����
��������������������������
�����
��������"������������
���
�����������������������������#$%&�������������'���������(��������
�
�����
���������
������������������������������������������������
���
��������������"��������������������������
����������������
��
����
��������������
��������
����
���
�����������������������)�
*+ 	�,)���������
����������
���
�
�����-��

•� �����������
	�����
�$� ��������������		�	��5��������������������
	��
�
�����������
����	����
�����������
����	��$���������	����������	�
���	�����
�����������	
�����
������������
�����������.�/�������������
���������������������������������������
��������������������
����
,����������������������������������������������������
��!������)�
.�/���/�����������������������������
���������������
����������������
���������������������������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������������,������ ������
������������������������-�

•� #����
	���	���:���������������������������������������	������
	�;,6�
��
�������
����
����
��	�����
��
����
	�$�����
�������	�
	��$����$�����
����������
������

�����������
	�

Page 3



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

•� �����������
	�����
�$���������	��
����$������ �	���

	������:�
	�����	��
��
��	��������	�������
��� ���������������
��	�������
������
	����
$��	���
��	�����
��
����
	�$������� �

�������������������0���
���������������������������������������������������
������1�������������������
����������������������������������
���
�����
�����������
���������
����!������
���
���
��������
�����������
���������������������
�����������������)���������
�������������
�
���������������������
���������
������

�������������������������2����-�

•� �����������
	�
�������
��� ��
������A=�����
��)

��	��"�:=��	��$�������
��
	
��������$�����	 ����������
	��
	������
����
	��
����
��	��
���
��
����
	�

•� #���	�����
�������
�����
��
	������������	������
�����
��*�=	�$�������
$

�����
�
����
��������	����	�����	������	����	����
��������
������������
�
�����
����
	�
����
��	���

��	���	�������
�������� �
��
�
����
	��������
	��
	�
�����
	�����������������

��$����'� �
���'��
�������	��
��	�����������
����
	��	����
��
	��%�/�5���	��
������
��������	�������
��	�����'���

•� /��$������
��������������
����

	�����	���������$����
����������������
	�
�������
���������	���
������������
	�����
��	���

��	��������
�
�����4�
3�

�+� #���������
	��	���
�����������������
���� ��������������		�	��5�������
�	���������
���
������������
��
��.	���
	��	���	��������

��

������
	
���,�

�+� #�������������
���	������������
������	<
�� �
	���
��	���

��	�����

	�����'�	�� ������
�����
���
���������
��	 ��
�����	�����	�$�
�
	������� �����	��������������	���������
��	 ������������$�
��������
������
��������	����
���
	��������
	�������������������	���	��
	��917;,��

�
��8	 �""0 	��'.	�"$�*#	�*(�)	�#'"�!�� "	���'#"� ��!	
"9*)-'�*#	

�!!*�'-#�'�" 	2	�* '	�" ")'�#"	�"9�":		
�����
���
����������� �*���
	�$����
���������	�������
	��
������
��	�����
���
�
��
	�
���
	��	���
�������������� �*���
	��
����.	�������������	�������
� ��
���	��	����	�����
	����
������
���)������	��*����$,�
�
"���
��	�����'�
�	��.:��
�����5���������
��
������������	������
���	������
$����	�����	��	����	������
	�����
�"������=�<
�������	���
���	��,�
�
/	����������	����
	������.:��
�����5������������������ ������������	����
�
��������
�������
��	��������
�
��
	���
�
������
��
����.	�������������	��������
�	�����������	����
�����$

�������		

	�����	��������	��	��*����$�
	�9?���
�
	��917;,�)����������������������$

��������	���
	����
������������
����,�
�
����
���
	��	�
���
	������
	��	���
���������
��,�
�
/	��
���� �����������������	���$���������
���	
�����
�����
����	��
��	�23�
�

•� �����������
	��������.%����
��
����/	������	��C
	��$�������������
�����
#��	��
���C
	���

Page 4



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

�����3������������������������������������,�.�,3	����
����������
���������4������	
�����������3*�������
��������������#$%&)�����
��������������������
������
�����
����������������
)������

����������
�
���"�����
���

�����
��������������
�������

�����������������������
���������
��������������
������
����������������5����������������������
������
������
��-�

•� �
���	�������$������$���
��	���
������
�
��
	�
�����

�������
������
��	�����
	���	����������&����-
�'������/	���������#��	��
����
��� ��
�
	����
��
	��
��
	��������
�
�������	��
������������	���������
	��

���
���
����	��	��	��������

	������:��
	����
��
	�
�����$��	�9D��	��;D��

•� #��������������
	��	���
������
�������	��
����	��
���������	�����
	�
��������$���	������	
$��
�
	�
�'���
$	�������������	�������� ��

•� �����������
	�
���
���	��	���
	��	�������$

���������������������
����
����	�:������� ������	��$�����
	����
��
	������

	�����$

������
�:��������
��
	����
����
$��������������������	��������	���
$��������
��� �$����
�����3���������������������������������������������������������������
,3	������
���������������6&7������
����������
���������������������
������������������
�����!�����
�����.�
��������������������
����������
������������������������
������������
�������������������
�.������
��������������!����������������������������8�������������������6%$�
��

����	��
�������������4�������������"��������������������
���-�

•� �����������
	���������

	����$����������	��
�������
	�$����
������
����
�
��
��������	��$��������'����
���
���
���������������	�������

	����
�����	�������������
�����3�������������������������������������������������������
�������
������������������������������������������
������������������
�����
,�.����
����������
��������������������������������������������
������
,���
�3����������	����������������������������������
�����������������
�����
�����-�

•� �����������
	�����
�$���������������������������
	��	�������	�������� �
����
	�$�����$���
�����
�$������������$���������������������
	��
�����3�����������������������������������������������

��9�������
�
8�������������
�����
����������������
�����
�����
���������
�����
�������
������-�

•� #���	�����
���������
��	 ��
�����
��	��
�	����
��� ��	������������	����$�

�������
���������
�����������
	�$����	�������� �

�
�����4�
3�

�+� #���������
	��	���
���������
������	
���,�
�+� #���������
�������
���������
������
�����
���
���������
��	 ��
�����	�

����	�$��
	������� �����
��
$�	�������
���	��	�=���		

	����	���	�
�������	��	�������$�
	�9?����
	��917;�����
�������
�
������
�����
�
��
	�
�	�������
����.	�������������	������=�������	����
������
���
	��	�,��

�
���	 �#$�$"%"#'	:�'�	�:#"� 	*+	�"'��)	�#�' 	�#	'�"	��'.	�"#'�"		

*������	���
�"�	
���718�
�����������	�������
	�9?���"�����917;������������
��

����� ������
���	���
�������������
���
	�$�����	������	���������������	�
$�����
����	��
$	�����	�������� ���	�����
��
$�	������
��	�	��
��#��	�� �������

Page 5



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

$������
��	����������������������������
����
������
��������������

��
�����
���	���	���������� �$��	�!���
����&����
��	�,�
�
����	�����
��������
���$�����
�����
�������
��
$�	���
�
��	����
������
�	�
�����
	>�
���	��
�����������	�23�
�

•� ��
��*��
����
	��(����	��:�7�������+�

•� C

���������
����(����	��:�9�������+�

•� �����	�%	
�
������������
�������(����	��:�;�������+�
�
"�������C
���	��)����
����� ���	����"�	�����	��$����	�����	��	����	��
����
	�����
�"������=�<
�������	���
���	��,�
�
/	����������	����
	���������
�����
	�������������	�
�����
	��������	������	��
��
��
	����$����	�������� ���	���E������	������	����	��E��

���������
�����	������
����
�����	�����������������

	�����

�����'���������	�����������	��
������	��

	���,�
�
�������������
���
	��	�
���
	������
	��	���
���������
����	������	�����,�
�
/	��
���� �����������������	���$���������
���	
�����
�����
����	��
��	�23�
�

•� �����������
	����������������	�������	 ��	��
�	����
��
	��
������
��
��������
	�
����������
�
�����
����
������$����	�������� ���	����
�����������������0���
���������������������������
���������������

���
���������������������
������������-��

•� #���	�����
��	�

���������������
	�
���
����������
	�����
����	�����
��� ���	�����	������	�����
����	������
��	����������� �$��������	����
�����!�������������������0���
�����������������������
���������
�������
��������������
������������������������������������
	�
������
�
���
������$
�'���
���	�� �
	�����'�	��	��
���
	���<
����
�����!�������������������0���
���������������������
��������
��������������
�������������������������	�������
����������9�����������
�����������������2�����0������-�

•� #
���'	
$������������
��
$�	������
��	�	��
��#��	�� ������������	
$�
����	���
�����	����	'���@����	�����%F��	����������
���	���������
����	��
��	'���0����	��$���	
$�

�����
���	��������

���	��5:�
�����������	�
�
	�
	�

•� �����������
	����������� ���	�����������
��� �
	����������:����������
������
��
����
��� ���
������	�5��� �
�����!�������������������0���
�����������������������
���������
������������*�������:���
�������	�
�������������
;
�������������
��������
�������
��������������������������������������������
���������������������
����	�������
����������9����������������������������2�����0������-�
�

�����4�
3�#���������
	��	���
���������
����	������	���������	
���,�
�
(�

	����
�����
���	����������������	�����77,G1����
��	������
���
	��
������
��
�������+�
�

Page 6



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

(�

	����
������������������������	�����77,GG����
��	������
���
	��
������
��
�������+�
�

���	 ��'.	���*��'.	�)�#	�"9�":	��%")�#"		
#����������	��������.:��
�����(���		�	����
��� ��	��/���
����	�+��
��������
�����
��������	��	���������$�
��������� ����
��� ����	�#�����	�,�
�
#����
��
$�	���������	��������$�����	�����	��	����	������
	�����
�"������=�
<
�������	���
���	��23�
�

3� "��)���������	������.:��
�����5������������
���	���"�	�����	��
3� "��"�������B����	���)

��	��/	������	��"�	��������� ������
���	��

�
���
���
�����
���	���������
���������
����	
���������������
�
������
�����	���
$

��������

�����
����
��	 ��
���
	�
�����
	��	�����	���
���	 ����	����
���	��������
����� ,�
�
����
���
	��	�
���
	������
	��	���
���������
��,�
�
/	��
���� �����������������	���$���������
���	
�����
�����
����	��
��	�23�
�

•� �����������
	�����
�$�����������������	���	�����
���
������	��
������
�
��
?G2;G������
���	��
��	�$��
����
	���
$	�������
�����	��������	������
��$� �����	����������
�����!�����
� ����������0���
������������������������������
������
������������������������������������"�����������
�������������-�

•� �����������
	���

������������� �
����� ����
��� ����	��	����$�
�������
�����
�
���$����	������
��
��� �
�����3��������������������������������������������������
����������
�
�����
��������
���������������������
���
��
����������������������
���
����-�

•� �����������
	�
���������
�����	�������
��	
$��	�������
�
�������
	�
�������	������
��	���

��	���
	����
	���	���	��� ��������	� �
�����3�������������������������������������������������
������������
��������������������������������������������
��-�

�
�����4�
3�

�+� #���������
	��	���
���������
������	
���,�
�+� #����������
����	
��������������	����
����������	��������� ����
��� ����	�

���	
$�

���	��,�
�

���	 ;*�&	�(�"0-)"		
�����
���$����
��������� �����)����
�����
��	 ��	��"�����������
���	��
$���������������������
��	 ��
���=��$
�'���
��������
�������
���	���
	�������
 ���,�
�
����	�����
��������
���$������
� �
�������
��
$�	���
�
��	����
������
�	�
�����
	>�
���	��
�����������	�2�
�

Page 7



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	�������
������������

�

•� ���
��	 ��
����()

��	���	��*���	�����
	+�&
�'������
����
��
9179>917;�"
	�������-����(����	��:�7�������+��

•� .:��
������
����4�"�	
����
����"����	�������
	�9;���������917;�
(����	��:�9�������+��
�

#������	���������
��	 �������������
��	 ��
��
��������	�����������
����	��
����
	�����
�"������=�<
�������	���
���	��,�
�
�����4�
3�

�+� #���������
	��	���
���������
����	������	���������	
���,�
�+� #�������������
�����
$�	������$
�'������
����
���������
��9179>7;�

���	
���,�
�+� #�����������
�����������	������
���������
�� =�������	������	��
����


	��������	����
�������������
���������	��$����	�����	�$�"
	�������
-���,�

�
�
�
(#��������	���
	��
�������79,71��+�
�
�
�

Page 8



 

 

Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board 

Date: 25th June 2013 

Subject: Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. This report presents the terms of reference for the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Board for Members’ information (Appendix A). 

 

2. Scrutiny Boards will continue to be aligned to the Strategic Partnership Boards and are 
therefore authorised to review or scrutinise the performance of their relevant 
Partnership Board. In accordance with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, Scrutiny 
Boards will also continue to act as ‘critical friend’ to their relevant Partnership Board 
and assess how well the Partnership is working in practice. A report summarising the 
Scrutiny Board’s observations and recommendations following its assessment of the  
Housing and Regeneration Board in March 2013 is attached for information (Appendix 
B).  

 
Recommendation 
 

3. Members are requested to: 
 

(a)  note the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference; 
(b) note the report of the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board on the Housing 

and Regeneration Partnership Board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Report author:  Richard Mills 

Tel:  2474557 

Agenda Item 7

Page 9



 

 

1.0    Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report presents the terms of reference for the Housing and Regeneration 
Scrutiny Board following recent amendments made to the Council’s Constitution. 

 
1.2 Following the Scrutiny Board’s assessment of the Housing and Regeneration Board 

in March 2013, a report summarising the Scrutiny Board’s observations and 
recommendations is also attached for information. 

2.0 Background information 

2.1 The Annual Review of the Constitution more often than not identifies areas for 
amendment in relation to the Scrutiny Boards’ terms of reference to ensure 
consistency in wording and provide procedural clarity. 

 
3.0 Main issues 

Constitutional changes affecting the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference 
 
3.1 On this occasion there have been no changes to the remit of this Scrutiny Board. The 

terms of reference are attached for Members’ information (Appendix A). 
 
3.2 The Board’s terms of reference are related to the functions delegated to the Director 

of Environment and Neighbourhoods and Director of City Development. In general 
terms, these cover the following areas: 

 

• The authority’s role as housing authority 

• The condition and occupation of housing 

• Caravan sites and land occupied by travelling people 

• Area based housing led regeneration 
 
3.3 In terms of Executive Members, the Scrutiny Board’s role encompasses the areas of 

responsibility assigned to the Executive Members for Neighbourhoods, Planning and 
Support Services for the first three bullet points above. Responsibility for housing led 
regeneration is assigned to the Executive Member for Development and the 
Economy and is delegated to the Director of City Development. 

 
 Alignment of Scrutiny Boards to the Strategic Partnership Boards 
 
3.4 Scrutiny Boards will continue to be aligned to the Strategic Partnership Boards and 

are therefore authorised to review or scrutinise the performance of their relevant 
Partnership Board.  In accordance with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, Scrutiny 
Boards will also continue to act as ‘critical friend’ to their relevant Partnership Board 
and consider and report on the following areas: 

 
1. What contribution the Partnership Board is making to tackle poverty and 

inequality, and the progress being made against this? 
 
2. How successfully the Board’s partnership arrangements are working? 

 

Page 10



 

 

3. To what extent are significant benefits being seen from partnership working? How 
has partnership working ensured increased pace of change to address the issue 
in hand? 

 
3.5 During March 2013, the Scrutiny Boards received a report from their relevant 

Strategic Partnership Board setting out their strengths and potential areas for 
development in respect of the three key questions above.  The Scrutiny Boards were 
also given the opportunity to question the chair, members of the Partnership Board 
and support officers.  

 
3.6 It was agreed that, following the scrutiny sessions, each Scrutiny Board would 

produce a summary report of its findings. The Scrutiny Support Unit would then 
prepare a cover report drawing out any common threads and best practice emerging 
from the individual inquiry sessions. The full report will be presented to Council, as 
the commissioning body for this piece of scrutiny inquiry work. Each Strategic 
Partnership Board will also receive their respective individual report, along with the 
cover report, and will be requested to respond to any scrutiny recommendations in 
the normal manner. 

 
3.7 As the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board is aligned to the Housing and 

Regeneration Partnership Board, representatives from this Partnership Board 
attended the Scrutiny Board’s meeting on 26th March 2013.   A report summarising 
the Scrutiny Board’s observations and recommendations in relation to the Housing 
and Regeneration Board was forwarded to the Partnership Board and is also 
attached for Members information (Appendix B). 

 
4.0 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The amendments made to the Council’s Constitution were considered by the 
General Purposes Committee on 9th May 2013, prior to being formally considered 
and approved by Council on 20th May 2013.   

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration. 

4.2.1 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, the Scrutiny Boards will continue to 
ensure through service review that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration 
issues are considered in decision making and policy formulation. 

4.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards continue to promote a strategic and 
outward looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the City Priorities.  The Scrutiny 
Boards will continue to review or scrutinise the performance of their relevant 
Strategic Partnership Board.  In doing so, they will review outcomes, targets and 
priorities within the Business Plan and specific “Best City for…. “ priorities set out 
within the City Priority Plan. 

 

4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 This report has no specific resource and value for money implications. 

Page 11



 

 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The amendments made to the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference aim to provide 
procedural clarity. 

 
4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 This report has no risk management implications 

5.0 Conclusions 

5.1 The terms of reference for the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board were 
unchanged and are attached for Members’ information (Appendix A). 

 
5.2 Scrutiny Boards will continue to be aligned to the Strategic Partnership Boards and 

authorised to review or scrutinise the performance of their relevant Partnership 
Board. In accordance with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, Scrutiny Boards will 
also continue to act as ‘critical friend’ to their relevant Partnership Board and assess 
how well the Partnership is working in practice. Following the Scrutiny Board’s 
assessment of the Housing and Regeneration Board in March 2013, a report 
summarising the Scrutiny Board’s observations and recommendations is attached for 
information (Appendix B).  

6.0  Recommendations 

6.1 Members are requested to: 
 

(a)  note the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference; 
 
(b) note the report of the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board on the Housing 

and Regeneration Partnership Board. 

7.0  Background documents1 

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

Page 12



Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration)    
 

Working Group 
 

                        Inquiry to consider Student Accommodation in the City  
 

    Terms of Reference  
 

1.0  Introduction 

1.1     The Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) in early 2013  expressed  
    concern that planning approval had been given for a change of use of offices to  
    form student accommodation at Pennine House, Russell Street as this was a  
    complete departure from the traditional areas for student accommodation. The  
    Board requested briefing papers on this issue. 

 
1.2     At the last Scrutiny Board meeting of the 2012/13 municipal year on 30th April  

    2013 Members considered a report of the Director of City Development which  
    explored issues underpinning the preparation of a new planning policy for  
    student housing development in the city. It also listed current planning  
    permissions and enquiries for purpose built student accommodation in the city. 
 

1.3     A report from the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods entitled ‘Update  
    on the analysis of current housing market trends within the Leeds 6 postcode  
    areas’ was also considered at that meeting. 

 
1.4     The Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and Support Services  
          reported at this meeting that a cross Council initiative was to be established on  
          the issues relating to the housing market in traditional student housing areas. 
 
1.5    As a consequence of those discussion the Scrutiny Board recommended that its  

    successor Scrutiny Board in 2013/14 undertake an inquiry into student  
    accommodation in the city.  

 
1.6    Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) is asked to: 

 
a) establish a Working Group comprising of all Members of the Board to 

undertake this inquiry. 
 

b) consider whether it wishes to co-opt up to two non-voting co-opted 
members to this Working Group for the period of this inquiry. 

 
 

2.0   Context of and Drivers for the Inquiry  
 
2.1   The context of and drivers for the inquiry are: 

 

• Concern at the introduction of student accommodation into the Prime Office 
Quarter of the city. 
 

Page 13



• Desire to contribute to the issues underpinning the preparation of a new 
planning policy for student housing development in the city. 

 

• Public examination of the Council’s Core Strategy in the summer of 2013 
whereby the ‘soundness’ of the plan policies will be considered by an 
independent inspector who will hear from objectors and from the Council. 

 
 

3.0   The Scope of this Inquiry 
 
3.1   The scope of this inquiry is to review and consider 

 

• The report by re’new which has been commissioned by the Director of City 
Development to examine the demand and supply for student 
accommodation in Leeds. It has been asked to propose policies and 
management arrangements to better assess the future provision of student 
housing and the suitability of locations based on consultations it had carried 
out with key stakeholders including higher education institutions, UNIPOL 
and others active in the student market. 
 

• The identification of other key stakeholders and others active in the housing 
market who have not been consulted by re’new and whether further 
information is required following analysis of re’new’s report. 

 

• The implications of a criteria based planning policy for student 
accommodation in the city with a move away from traditional student areas 
and an increase in planning applications for student development in 
locations which are considered unsuitable by adjoining occupiers and local 
residents. 

 

• The identification and location of current planning applications and 
enquiries for student accommodation in the city and whether there is a 
need for the development of supplementary planning polices for these 
specific areas. 

 
  4.0   Comments of the relevant Directors and Executive Board Members 
 

  4.1   The relevant Directors and appropriate Executive Board Members have been 
requested to comment on these terms of reference and these will be reported to 
Members of the Scrutiny Board (Housing & Regeneration) Working Group at its 
first meeting. 

 
5.0   Timetable for the Inquiry 
 
5.1 The inquiry will take place over at least three sessions of the Working Group 

with a view to issuing a final report in October 2013.  
 

5.2 The length of the Inquiry is subject to change. 
 

 

Page 14



 
6.0    Key Issues and Questions  
 
6.1   There are a number of key issues and questions including: 
  

• What is the demand and supply for student accommodation in the city 
including traditional student areas? 
 

• What arrangements are in place to help regenerate traditional student areas 
where there is a decline in students wanting to live in those areas? 

 

• Where is the current demand for student accommodation and is there an 
oversupply? 

 

• What actions, if any, can the Council and our partners take to influence 
market forces that encourage the provision of student accommodation in 
areas that are not considered unsuitable by adjoining occupiers and local 
residents? 

 

• The need to avoid duplication of effort on this issue following the 
announcement by the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and 
Support at the Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) on 30th April 
2013 that a cross Council initiative would be established to consider issues 
relating to the housing market in traditional student housing areas. 

 
7.0 Submission of Evidence 
 
7.1 There will be at least three evidence gathering sessions and further meetings 

will be scheduled as required: 
 
        Session One – July 2013 Date and Time to be Confirmed 

 
        The purpose of this session is to:  
 

• Approve the draft terms of reference for this inquiry following consideration by 
the Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) in June 2013. 

 

• Receive the report of the Director of City Development on Student Housing 
and the report of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods on an 
analysis of current housing market trends within the Leeds 6 postcodes. 
These were discussed at the Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) 
meeting on 30th April 2013 which requested this inquiry.  A copy of the 
relevant minutes for that meeting will be attached to those reports.  

 

• Consider the report by re’new on the demand and supply for student   
accommodation in Leeds.  

 

• Hear the representative from re’new, Phil Crabtree, Chief Planning Officer 
and Maggie Gjessing, Housing Investment Manager. 
 

Page 15



• Identify other key stakeholders and others active in the housing market who 
have not been consulted by re’new and whether further information is 
required following analysis of re’new’s report. 

 

• Confirm witnesses to attend the next meeting of the Working Group. 
 

 Session Two – August 2013 Date and Time to be Confirmed 
 

          The purpose of this session is to consider: 
 

• Any information requested from the last session. 
 

• A paper by the Chief Planning Officer on the implications of a criteria based 
planning policy for student accommodation in the city with a move away 
from traditional student areas and an increase in planning applications for 
student development in locations which are considered unsuitable by 
adjoining occupiers and local residents. The report to include the 
identification and location of current planning applications and enquiries for 
student accommodation in the city and whether there is a need for the 
development of supplementary planning polices for these specific areas. 

 

• Discuss the key issues as appropriate. 
 

• Hear from Phil Crabtree, Chief Planning Officer and from other key 
stakeholders and others active in the housing market who have been 
invited to attend today’s session having been identified at the last  

                meeting of the working group. 
 

• Confirm witnesses to attend the next meeting of the Working Group. 
 

• Identify recommendations for inclusion in the Scrutiny Boards final report. 
 

 
 Session Three – September Date and Time to be Confirmed 

 
The purpose of this session is to consider: 
 

• Any information requested from the last session. 
 

• Hear from witnesses identified at the last meeting of the Working Group. 
 

 
          Draft Final Report – Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) October  
          2013 
 

• Consider the Board’s draft final inquiry report and recommendations  
 
8.0     Witnesses 
 
8.1  The following witnesses have been identified as possible contributors to the  
          inquiry: 
 

Page 16



• Chair of the Housing and Regeneration Strategic Partnership Board 

• Officers from Environment & Neighbourhoods Directorate as necessary e.g. 
Megan Godsell on housing policy and Maggie Gjessing on housing delivery 
issues 

• Officers from City Development Directorate as necessary e.g. Phil 
Crabtree, Chief Planning Officer, Robin Coghlan on Planning Policy issues 
and David Feeney on overall Core Strategy 

• Representatives from Children’s Services  11-19  

• Representative from re’new 

• Representatives from Universities, Unipol and other student unions 

• Representative from Homes and Community Agency 

• Private sector representation 
    

8.0 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

8.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities 2011 to 2015 have been developed to 
ensure our legal duties are met under the Equality Act 2010. The priorities will 
help the council to achieve it’s ambition to be the best City in the UK and 
ensure that as a city work takes place to reduce disadvantage, discrimination 
and inequalities of opportunity. 

8.2 Equality and diversity will be a consideration throughout the Scrutiny Inquiry 
and due regard will be given to equality through the use of evidence, written 
and verbal, outcomes from consultation and engagement activities.  

8.3  The Scrutiny Board may engage and involve interested groups and individuals 
(both internal and external to the council) to inform recommendations. 

 
8.4 Where an impact has been identified this will be reflected in the final inquiry 

report, post inquiry. Where a Scrutiny Board recommendation is agreed the 
individual, organisation or group responsible for implementation or delivery 
should give due regard to equality and diversity, conducting impact 
assessments where it is deemed appropriate. 

 
9.0 Post inquiry report monitoring arrangements 
 
9.1 Following the completion of the Scrutiny inquiry and the publication of the final 

inquiry report and recommendations, the implementation of the agreed 
recommendations will be monitored by Scrutiny Board (Housing and 
Regeneration). 

 
9.2 The final inquiry report will include information on the detailed arrangements for 

how the implementation of recommendations will be monitored. 
 

10.0 Measures of success 
 
10.1 It is important to consider how the Scrutiny Board will deem if their inquiry has 

been successful in making a difference to local people. Some measures of 
success may be obvious at the initial stages of an inquiry and can be included 

Page 17



in these terms of reference. Other measures of success may become apparent 
as the inquiry progresses and discussions take place. 

 
10.2 Some initial measures of success are: 
 

• Identification of actions that will help to contribute to the regeneration of  
traditional student areas where there is a decline in students wanting to live 
in those areas. 

 

• Identification of policies and actions that will encourage the provision of 
student accommodation in areas that are not considered unsuitable by 
adjoining occupiers and local residents. 

 

Page 18



 1

 
 
 
 

 
Background                                                                              Appendix  B 

1. The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that all Scrutiny Boards will act as a “critical 
friend” to the relevant Strategic Partnership Board and consider and report on the following 
areas: 

• What contribution the Partnership Board is making to tackle poverty and inequality, and 
the progress being made against this 

• How successfully the Board’s partnership arrangements are working 

• To what extent are significant benefits being seen from partnership working? How has 
partnership working ensured increased pace of change to address the issue in hand? 

2. During March 2013, the Scrutiny Boards received a report from their relevant Strategic 
Partnership Board setting out their strengths and potential areas for development in respect 
of the three key questions above.  The Scrutiny Boards were also given the opportunity to 
question the chair, members of the Partnership Board and support officers.  

 
3. As the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board is aligned to the Housing and 

Regeneration Partnership Board, the following representatives from this Partnership Board 
had attended the Scrutiny Board’s meeting on 26th March 2013: 

 

• Councillor P Gruen, Executive Member, Neighbourhoods, Planning & Support Services 

• Councillor R Lewis, Executive Member, Development & the Economy 

• Mr Martin Farrington, Director of City Development 

• Ms Christine Addison, Chief Regeneration Officer/Acting Chief Asset Management 

Officer, City Development 

• Ms Maggie Gjessing, Housing Investment Manager, City Development 

• Apologies were reported from Mr Neil Evans, Director of Environment & Neighbourhoods 
  
4. This report summarises the observations and recommendations made by the Scrutiny 

Board during this meeting. 
 

Issues Highlighted to the Scrutiny Board by the Director of City Development and 
the Executive Board Members 
 
5.  In the absence of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods, the Director of City  

Development introduced the report and highlighted and commented on the challenge of 
achieving growth in the current housing market. He stated that 3,828 housing units had been 
delivered in 2008/09 but this had fallen to 1,700 in 2010/11 and had risen to 1,931 in 
2011/12. However, the latest figure of 1,200 houses delivered in 2012/13 was only 52% of 
what the target was in the Council’s core strategy and therefore there were significant areas 
of improvement to be made. Whilst the Council had significant influence it was not within its 
power to deliver the homes required. As the Council is the lead agency, the largest land 

Report of the Housing and 

Regeneration Scrutiny Board on the 

Housing and Regeneration Partnership 
Board 

Page 19



 2

owner and the planning and highways authority it has considered how it could facilitate 
housing growth. To this end it had developed a series of initiatives and mechanisms 
including the 

  
• development of the brownfield land programme 
• older peoples housing and care programme 
• facilitation of self-build schemes 
• reviewed its policies on affordable housing 

  
  6. Finally, the Director of City Development referred to the membership of the Housing and 

Regeneration Strategic Partnership Board and in particular to the importance of having 
building society representation on the Board as mortgage access was one of the key factors 
to housing growth.  

 
  7. The Chief Regeneration Officer gave the Board a brief update on the background and 

membership of the Housing and Regeneration Strategic Partnership Board. She stated that 
the strength of the Board was the range of its members but advised the meeting that it 
remained difficult to engage the private sector in its work. Specific reference was made to the 

  
• work of the board’s Sub Groups, namely the East Leeds Regeneration Board and the 

Housing Forum 
• Council’s City Priority Plan target for affordable housing in 2012/13 of 525 and the  
       likely outcome of just under 500 affordable homes being delivered 
• target set for reducing the number of empty properties by 2,200 and the likely 

outcome being 2,300 
• various energy efficiency targets which would be met this year 

 
8. The Executive Board Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and Support Services stated  

that he was satisfied with how the Housing Forum was working and the fact that there was 
now one voice for housing in the city. It had good representation from the private sector and 
the Housing Associations. The meetings were not officer led and any Member of the Board 
could place items on the agenda and present reports. He then referred to the East Leeds 
Regeneration Board and acknowledged that it had taken sometime to reach an accord and 
clarity as to the direction it wanted to move towards. It was clear that any development in 
East Leeds was dependent upon having the necessary infrastructure in place. Finally, he 
referred to the difficulties of selecting representation from the private sector on the Board. It 
was clear that developers were often not without prejudice and pursue their development 
interests. He stated that membership remained an issue and that the group was still 
emerging and that further work needed to be undertaken to develop relationships further. 

  

The Scrutiny Board’s observations and recommendations relating to the Housing 
and Regeneration Partnership Board. 
 
    Acknowledging  
 
9. Firstly,  

a) Acknowledgement of the benefits that this Partnership Board had brought in terms of 
bringing together Councillors with other partners, including those from the voluntary 
sector. 

b)   Members noted that many of the views and recommendations of the Scrutiny Board on       
      housing growth, re-development of brownfield sites, development of greenfield sites and 

Page 20



 3

    concerns over the SHLAA process had been acknowledged by the relevant Executive 
Members. A number of initiatives had been progressed and approved by the Executive 
Board which was supported by this Scrutiny Board. 

c) That any proposed changes to the Partnership Boards should be made in agreement 
with partners. 

 
      Other general observations 
 
10. Clarification as to why there was no mention of the work of the North East Quadrant Forum  
      in the report which included representation from East Leeds Parish Councils, local schools  
      and ward members and was chaired by Councillor P Grahame. The Director of City  
      Development responded and acknowledged the valued work that was being undertaken by  
      the Forum. 
 
11. Concern as to how brownfield sites could be redeveloped to reduce the pressure on  
      greenfield sites? The Director of City Development referred to the development of the 10  
      year Brownfield land programme which would require more bespoke measures to make  
      brownfield sites more attractive to developers. This could include attracting new house  
      builders to the city and encouraging niche house builders more suited to developing smaller  
      and more difficult sites. 
 
12. Reference to the fact that whilst planning approvals had been given for a number of housing  
      developments in East Leeds, they were subject to the development of the East Leeds  
      Orbital Route (ELOR) and Manston Lane and other improvements in order to secure the  
      12,500 jobs on offer in East Leeds. The Executive Board Member Neighbourhoods,     
      Planning and Support Services acknowledged the importance of getting the necessary      
      infrastructure in place in East Leeds in order to unlock the land that already had planning  
      approval for housing development. He stated that the Director of City Development was  
      currently leading on a feasibility study on the financing of the ELOR.  
 
13. Reference to the Carla11 judgement and the fact that despite phases 2 and 3 greenfield  
      sites being released three years ago to provide 12,000 homes there were no sites ‘shovel  
      ready’ for development. 
 
14. The need to challenge developers to increase their build out rates on sites currently  
      averaging say 30 to 40 homes per year per site to 60 to 80 homes per year. 
 
15. Whether the Home Builders Federation would be more representative of the house builders  
      on the Housing and Regeneration Strategic Partnership Board and Sub Groups. The  
      Director of City Development agreed that this would be considered. 
 

·    16.  Whether decontamination of brownfield sites funded by the Council would be sufficient to  
make sites more viable for development. The Director of City Development stated that 
decontamination alone would not be sufficient. What was needed was a range of initiatives. 
He referred to the government decision to offer home buyers a 20% interest free 5 year 
loan that would provide buyers with a substantial initial deposit and make brownfield sites 
more viable. 
 

·    17. Reference to affordable housing and the view that some officers were taking a firm line on  
the percentage of affordable homes required for developments within the ‘golden triangle’ 
and was none negotiable. This was of particular concern if developers had not had 
previous dealings with the Council and were put off at the first hurdle by such an inflexible 

Page 21



 4

approach. The Director of City Development recognised this concern and agreed that every 
request required a proactive, considered and in depth response in order to achieve the best 
and most effective outcomes. 

 
18.  Concern that the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) has no  
       democratic accountability and no formal decision making powers. Although there were  
       planning approvals for 21,000 housing units the SHLAA had accepted the view of  
      developers that 8,000 units were not achievable for development. The Executive Board      
      Neighbourhoods, Planning and Support Services reported that a paper would shortly be    
      presented to the Executive Board that reviews the membership, operation and terms of    
      reference of this group. The Chair referred to the Scrutiny Board meeting on 30th October  
      2012 which expressed concerns as to whether the SHLAA was fit for purpose and  
      welcomed the Executive Board Members intervention on this matter. 
 
19. Members supported the approval of the Executive Board to accept a request from the  
      Homes and Community Agency (HCA) that the Council transfer four Listed Buildings into its  
      ownership at Tower Works, Globe Road, Holbeck. The transfer of the buildings would be  
      accompanied by a financial dowry funded by the Department of Communities and Local  
      Government and will result in the City Council and HCA working in partnership to bring  
      forward the redevelopment of Tower Works and the wider Holbeck Urban Village 

·          

Conclusion & Recommendations 
 
20. In conclusion, the Scrutiny Board would like to reiterate some of the key points that have 

been raised within this report, which are as follows: 
 

a) That the Scrutiny Board will continue to monitor progress in delivering the development  
     of the brownfield land programme which it strongly supports. 
b) That the Director of City Development consider the Board’s suggestion that  the Home  

Builders Federation might be a more appropriate body to represent house builders on 
the Housing and Regeneration Strategic Partnership Board and Sub Group. 

c) That the Scrutiny Board welcomes confirmation by the Executive Board Member  
           (Neighbourhoods, Planning and Support Services) that the Executive Board would  
           shortly consider a report reviewing the membership, operation and terms of reference of  
           the Strategic Housing and Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA). 

d) To note that the Director of City Development acknowledged the Board’s concerns that  
some officers were taking a firm line on the percentage of affordable homes required for 
developments within the ‘golden triangle’ and were none negotiable and instead every 
request by developers ought to be proactive, considered and given an in depth 
response that would achieve the best and most effective outcomes for the city. 

e) To support the initiative to bring forward the redevelopment of Tower Works and the  
     wider Holbeck Urban Village. 
f) That the Scrutiny Board’s observations and recommendations would inform the wider 

Scrutiny report to Council in relation to the Strategic Partnership Boards. 
  
 
 
May 2013. 

Page 22



Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board 

Date: 25th June 2013 

Subject: Co-opted Members 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. For a number of years the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  However, the 
appointment of co-opted members has not been considered consistently across all 
Scrutiny Boards. 

2.  This report provides guidance to the Scrutiny Board when seeking to appoint co-opted 
members. There are also some legislative arrangements in place for the appointment 
of specific co-opted members. Such cases are set out in Article 6 of the Council’s 
Constitution and are also summarised within this report.   

 
Recommendation 
 
3. In line with the options available outlined in this report, Members are asked to consider 

the appointment of co-opted members to the Scrutiny Board. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 Report author:  Richard Mills 

Tel:  2474557 

Agenda Item 8

Page 23



 

1 Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek the Scrutiny Board’s formal consideration for the 

appointment of co-opted members to the Board. 
 
2 Background information 
 
2.1 For a number of years the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 

appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  For those Scrutiny 
Boards where co-opted members have previously been appointed, such 
arrangements have tended to be reviewed on an annual basis, usually at the 
beginning of a new municipal year.  However, the appointment of co-opted members 
has not been considered consistently across all Scrutiny Boards. 

 
3 Main issues 
 
 General arrangements for appointing co-opted members 
 
3.1 It is widely recognised that in some circumstances, co-opted members can 

significantly aid the work of Scrutiny Boards.  This is currently reflected in Article 6 
(Scrutiny Boards) of the Council’s Constitution, which outlines the options available to 
Scrutiny Boards in relation to appointing co-opted members.   

 
3.2 In general terms, Scrutiny Boards can appoint: 
 

•  Up to five non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that does not go 
beyond the next Annual Meeting of Council ; and/or, 

 

•  Up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the 
duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry. 

  
3.3 In the majority of cases the appointment of co-opted members is optional and is 

determined by the relevant Scrutiny Board.  However, Article 6 makes it clear that co-
option would normally only be appropriate where the co-opted member has some 
specialist skill or knowledge, which would be of assistance to the Scrutiny Board.  
Particular issues to consider when seeking to appoint a co-opted member are set out 
later in the report. 

 
3.4 There are also some legislative arrangements in place for the appointment of specific 

co-opted members. Such cases are also set out in Article 6 (Scrutiny Boards) of the 
Council’s Constitution and are summarised below. 

 
 Arrangements for appointing specific co-opted members 
 
 Education Representatives 

 
3.5 In addition to elected Members appointed by Council, the Local Government Act 

2000 states that the relevant Scrutiny Board dealing with education matters shall 
include in its membership the following voting representatives in accordance with 
statutory requirements: 

 

Page 24



 

• One Church of England diocese representative1  

• One Roman Catholic diocese representative1 

• Three parent governor representatives2  
 
3.6 The number and term of office of education representatives is fixed by full Council 

and set out in Article 6.  Representatives of the Church of England and Roman 
Catholic dioceses are nominated by their diocese and parent governor 
representatives are elected.  Such representatives are then notified to the Scrutiny 
Board and their appointment confirmed. 

 
3.7 Where the Scrutiny Board deals with other non-educational matters the co-opted 

members may participate in any discussion but shall not be entitled to vote on those 
matters. 

 
 Crime and Disorder Committee  

 
3.8 In accordance with the requirements of the Police and Justice Act 2006, the Council 

has designated the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) to act as the 
Council’s crime and disorder committee.   

 
3.9 In its capacity as a crime and disorder committee, the Scrutiny Board  (Safer and 

Stronger Communities) may co-opt additional members to serve on the Board, 
providing they are not an Executive Member. 

 
3.10 The Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) may limit the co-opted 

member’s participation to those matters where the Scrutiny Board is acting as the 
Council’s crime and disorder committee. 

 
3.11 Unless the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) decides otherwise, any 

co-opted member shall not be entitled to vote and the Board may withdraw the co-
opted membership at any time.  

 
Issues to consider when seeking to appoint co-opted members 

 
3.12 Currently, there is no overarching national guidance or criteria that should be 

considered when seeking to appoint co-opted members.  As a result, there is a 
plethora of methods employed within Councils for the appointment of co-optees to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees (Scrutiny Boards).  For example, some Council’s 
use “job descriptions”, some carry out formal interviews and some advertise for co-
optees in the local press, with individuals completing a simple application form which 
is then considered by Members.   

 
3.13 The Constitution makes it clear that ‘co-option would normally only be appropriate 

where the co-opted member has some specialist skill or knowledge, which would be 
of assistance to the Scrutiny Board’. In considering the appointment of co-opted 
members, Scrutiny Boards should be satisfied that a co-opted member can use their 
specialist skill or knowledge to add value to the work of the Scrutiny Board.  However, 

                                            
1
  Article 6 states this appointment shall be for a term of office that does not go beyond the next Annual 
Meeting of Council 

2
  Article 6 states these appointments shall be for a four-year term of office 

Page 25



 

co-opted members should not be seen as a replacement to professional advice from 
officers.  

 
3.14 Co-opted members should be considered as representatives of wider groups of 

people.  However, when seeking external input into the Scrutiny Board’s work, 
consideration should always be given to other alternative approaches, such as the 
role of expert witnesses or use of external research studies, to help achieve a 
balanced evidence base.  

 
3.15 When considering the appointment of a standing co-opted member for a term of 

office, Scrutiny Boards should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may 
arise during the course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms 
of reference.  To help overcome this, Scrutiny Boards may wish to focus on the 
provision available to appoint up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of 
office that relates to the duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry.  

 
3.16 Despite the lack of any national guidance, what is clear is that any process for 

appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried out in a manner 
which seeks to strengthen the work of Scrutiny Boards. 

 
4.0 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 During 2010/11, the guidance surrounding co-opted members was discussed by the 
Scrutiny Chairs and it was agreed that individual Scrutiny Boards would consider the 
appointment of co-optees on an individual basis. 

 
4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration. 

4.2.1 The process for appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried 
out in a manner which seeks to strengthen the work of the Scrutiny Board.  In doing 
so, due regard should also be given to any potential equality issues in line with the 
Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme.  

4.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The Council’s Scrutiny arrangements are one of the key parts of the Council’s 
governance arrangements.  Within the Council’s Constitution, there is particular 
provision for the appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards, 
which this report seeks to summarise. 

4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 Where applicable, any incidental expenses paid to co-optees will be met within 
existing resources.  

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

  4.5.1 Where additional members are co-opted onto a Scrutiny Board, such members    
must comply with the provisions set out in the Member’s Code of Conduct as detailed 
within the Council’s Constitution.  

 

Page 26



 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 As stated in paragraph 3.15 above, when Scrutiny Boards are considering the 
appointment of a standing co-opted member for a term of office, they should be 
mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise during the course of the 
year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms of reference.   

5.0 Conclusions 

5.1 For a number of years the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  However, the 
appointment of co-opted members has not been considered consistently across all 
Scrutiny Boards. This report therefore sets out the legislative arrangements in place 
for the appointment of specific co-opted members and also provides further guidance 
when seeking to appoint co-opted members. 

6.0 Recommendations 
 
6.1 In line with the options available outlined in this report, Members are asked to 

consider the appointment of co-opted members to the Scrutiny Board. 
 
7.0 Background documents3 
 
7.1 None. 

                                            
3
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board 

Date: 25th June 2013 

Subject: 2012/13 Quarter 4 Performance Report 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

This report provides a summary of performance against the strategic priorities for the 
council and city related to Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board.   

Recommendations 

Members are recommended to 

• Note the Quarter 4 performance information and the issues which have been 
highlighted and consider if they wish to undertake further scrutiny work to 
support improvement over the coming year in any of these areas.  

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report presents to Scrutiny a summary of the quarter four performance data for 
2012-13 which provides an update on progress in delivering the relevant priorities 
in the Council Business Plan 2011-15 and City Priority Plan 2011-15.   

2 Background information 

2.1 The City Priority Plan 2011 to 2015 is the city-wide partnership plan which sets out 
the key outcomes and priorities to be delivered by the council and its partners.  There 
are 21 priorities which are split across the 5 strategic partnerships who are 
responsible for ensuring the delivery of these agreed priorities.   

 
Report author: Robert Wood 

Tel:  274638 

Agenda Item 9

Page 29



 

 

2.2 The Council Business Plan 2011 to 2015 sets out the priorities for the council - it 
has two elements - five cross council priorities aligned to the council’s values and a 
set of directorate priorities and targets.     

2.3 Members will note that the delivery of City Priority Plan priorities are shared with 
partners across the city while the Council Business Plan sets out the Council’s 
contribution to these shared priorities.  This report provides an overview of the 
performance relating to both plans enabling the Scrutiny board to directly challenge 
the council’s performance as well as seeking to influence and challenge partners 
contributions through existing partnership arrangements. 

2.4 This report includes 2 appendices: 

•••• Appendix 1 – Performance Reports for the City Priority Plan Priorities 
relevant to the Board 

•••• Appendix 2 – Directorate Priorities and Indicators relevant to the Board as 
well as any other issues highlighted through the performance management 
process  

 
2.5 Each quarter every priority within the City Priority Plans and Council Business Plan 

are rated green, amber or red according to overall progress against their 
achievement. These are allocated as follows: 

• Green - progress is as planned/expected over the last 3 months.  All, or most, 
of the relevant actions/activities are on track and most targets are being met for 
the aligned performance measures.  

• Amber - positive progress is being made but not as much as planned/expected.  
Only some of the relevant actions/activities are on track.  Only some of targets 
are being met for the aligned performance measures.  

• Red =-progress is not being made as planned/expected.  Few of the relevant 
actions/activities are on track.  Few of the targets are being met for the aligned 
performance measures.  

A review of this process is currently underway to ensure that all priorities are rated in 
a consistent manner. 
In addition, performance indicators within the Council Business Plan are also rated 
green, amber or red according to progress against the target laid out in the plan. 

3 Main issues 

Quarter 4 Performance Summary 

City Priority Plan 

3.1 There are 3 priorities in the City Priority Plan relevant to Housing and Regeneration 
Board. At Quarter 4, two are assessed as green and one as amber.  

3.2    The amber priority is:- 

• Maximise regeneration investment to increase housing choice and affordability - from 
its adoption, anticipated in 2014, the Core Strategy indicates that the City has an 
annual housing requirement of 3,660 units for the first 5 years  then 4,600 units 
thereafter until 2028. In terms of delivery, 1,650 new homes were built during 

Page 30



 

 

2012/13, with 442 units delivered in Qtr 4. This is a reduction on the 2,032 homes 
delivered in 2011/12, as a result of fewer starts over the last 3 years. The lower 
2012/13 total is largely due to the difficulties associated with the weakened housing 
market and access to finance both for developers and purchasers. The Council is 
continuing to support the increase in supply of housing through various initiatives. 
(see 3.3) 

 
. Council Business Plan 

3.3 Directorate Priorities and Indicators – there are currently 3 directorate priorities 
relevant to the Board and 2 are assessed as green and 1 is amber as is its aligned 
performance indicator.  The amber priority and indicator are: 

• Identify targets for new housing and strategies to support their delivery (Increase 
number of new affordable homes built - Target 500, Result 360) As a result of fewer 
Firstbuy completions than expected, and completion dates for two S106 schemes 
and one Registered Provider (Affordable Housing Provider) scheme falling into 
2013/14, the number of affordable homes delivered in 2012/13 did not meet target 
and is lower than the number delivered in 2011/12 (495). The delayed schemes will 
still be delivered within the funding period i.e. by March 2015, Work continues on 
wider strategies linked to housing growth in the city, including the use of commuted 
sums, Right to Buy receipts and the New Homes Bonus as well as work with 
developers and housing associations.  Proactive work is also progressing with the 
Planning service to drive housing growth using the Core Strategy and Interim 
Affordable Housing Policy.    

3.4 Key Performance Highlights 

• Improve energy efficiency in public and private sector homes (Increase number of 
improved energy efficiency installations in houses (both public and privately owned)) 
– there were over 20,000 energy saving installations in 12/13, above target by 25%. 
10,007 measures have been installed in 8,098 households under the Wrap Up Leeds 
Scheme with a further 10,760 lofts and cavity walls installed by 5 of the big 6 energy 
companies. 

Performance reporting going forwards 

3.5 We are currently reviewing our performance arrangements to ensure they continue 
to remain fit-for-purpose. This brings opportunities to streamline a range of 
intelligence arrangements in the wider area of strategy and improvement and 
reduce bureaucracy but we are mindful that this needs to be balanced with 
ensuring proper accountability, decision-making and assurance. To allow time to 
develop, consult on and implement any new arrangements, we are proposing that 
we suspend Q1 performance reporting to CLT and members. 

 

 

 

Page 31



 

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 This is an information report and as such does not need to be consulted on with the 
public.  However all performance information is published on the council’s and 
Leeds Initiative websites and is available to the public.    

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 This is an information report and not a decision so due regard is not relevant.  
However, this report does include an update on equality issues as they relate to the 
various priorities within the Performance Reports.   

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 This report provides an update on progress in delivering the council and city 
priorities in line with the council’s performance management framework.   

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 There are no specific resource implications from this report. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 All performance information is publicly available and is published on the council and 
Leeds Initiative websites.  This report is an information update providing Scrutiny 
with a summary of performance for the strategic priorities within its remit and as 
such in not subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 The Performance Report Cards include an update of the key risks and challenges 
for each of the priorities.  This is supported by a comprehensive risk management 
process in the Council to monitor and manage key risks.  These processes also link 
closely with performance management. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 This report provides a summary of performance against the strategic priorities for 
the council and city related to Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Members are recommended to: 

7 Note the Quarter 4 performance information and the issues which have been 
highlighted and consider if they wish to undertake further scrutiny work to 
support improvement over the coming year in any of these areas. 

Page 32



 

 

8 Background documents1  

8.1 City Priority Plan 2011 to 2015 

8.2 Council Business Plan 2011 to 2015 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available for inspection on request for a period of four 
years following the date of the relevant meeting.  Accordingly this list does not include documents containing 
exempt or confidential information, or any published works.  Requests to inspect any background documents 
should be submitted to the report author. 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



M
e
e
ti

n
g

:
H

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 R

e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 B

o
a
rd

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

: 
A

ll 
p
e
o
p
le

 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s

O
u

tc
o

m
e
: 

L
o
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le

 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
fr

o
m

 r
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t

P
ri

o
ri

ty
:

M
a

x
im

is
e
 r

e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
to

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 c

h
o
ic

e
 a

n
d
 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
ili

ty
.

W
h

y
a
n

d
 w

h
e
re

 i
s
 t

h
is

 a
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

L
e
e
d
s
 i

s
 a

 g
ro

w
in

g
 c

it
y
; 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 2

0
0
1
 a

n
d
 2

0
1
1
 t

h
e
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o
n
 r

o
s
e
 b

y
 5

%
 (

3
5
,9

0
0
) 

fr
o
m

 7
1
5
,6

0
0
 t

o
 7

5
1
,5

0
0
. 

 T
h
is

 u
p
w

a
rd

 
tr

e
n
d
 i

s
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t

o
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

to
 a

n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 8

6
0
,0

0
0
 b

y
 2

0
2
8
.

T
h
e
 i

m
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

is
p
ro

je
c
te

d
 r

is
e
 b

ri
n
g
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 f

o
re

fr
o
n
t 

a
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 g

ro
w

th
, 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 p

u
b
lic

 a
n
d
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
s
to

c
k
. 

S
to

ry
 b

e
h

in
d

 t
h

e
 b

a
s
e
li
n

e

T
h
e
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 i

n
d
ic

a
te

s
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
 C

it
y
 h

a
s
 a

n
 a

n
n
u
a
l

h
o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

3
,6

6
0
 

u
n
it
s
 
fo

r 
th

e
fi
rs

t 
5
 
y
e
a
rs

 
(f

ro
m

 
it
s
 
a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
, 

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 
in

 
2
0
1
4
) 

th
e
n
 
4
,6

0
0
 
u
n
it
s
 

th
e
re

a
ft

e
r 

u
n
ti
l 
2
0
2
8
. 

In
 
te

rm
s
 
o
f 

d
e
liv

e
ry

, 
1
,6

5
0
 
n
e
w

 
h
o
m

e
s
 

w
e
re

 
b
u
ilt

 
d
u
ri
n
g

 
2
0
1
2
/1

3
,

w
it
h
 
4
4
2
 
u
n
it
s
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 i
n
 Q

tr
 4

.
T

h
is

 i
s
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 w

h
e
n
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 2

0
1
1
/1

2
 r

e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
2
,0

3
2
 

h
o
m

e
s
. 

T
h
e
 l

o
w

e
r 

2
0
1
2
/1

3
 t

o
ta

l 
is

 l
a
rg

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 a

s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 

w
e
a
k
e
n
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 m

a
rk

e
t 

a
n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 f

in
a
n
c
e
 b

o
th

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

u
rc

h
a
s
e
rs

w
it
h
 c

o
n
s
e
q

u
e
n
t 
fe

w
e
r 

s
ta

rt
s
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y

e
a
rs

.

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
m

e
s
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 i

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
 i

s
 3

6
0
,

lo
w

e
r 

th
a
n
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 
in

 
2
0
1
1
/1

2
o
f 

4
9
5
. 

T
h
is

 
is

 
a
s
 
a
 
re

s
u
lt
 
o
f 

fe
w

e
r 

F
ir
s
tb

u
y
 
c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
s
 
th

a
n

e
x
p
e
c
te

d
;

a
n
d
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 d

a
te

s
 f

o
r 

tw
o
 S

1
0
6
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 o

n
e
 R

e
g

is
te

re
d
 P

ro
v
id

e
r 

(A
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

ro
v
id

e
r)

 s
c
h
e
m

e
 f

a
lli

n
g
 i

n
to

 2
0
1
3

/1
4
, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 t

h
e
s
e

w
ill

 s
ti
ll 

b
e
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 p

e
ri
o
d
 i
.e

. 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
5
.

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

lo
n
g

 t
e
rm

 e
m

p
ty

 p
ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 r

e
tu

rn
e
d
 t

o
 

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 i

n
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
 (

3
,2

6
5
) 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e
 E

m
p
ty

 H
o
m

e
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y

h
a
s
 e

x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 t

h
e
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
 2

0
1
1
/1

2
 t

o
ta

l 
(3

,2
4
3
).

 T
h
is

 i
s
 a

 v
e
ry

 p
o
s
it
iv

e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 c

it
y
 a

n
d
 h

a
s
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
te

d
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

h
o
m

e
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

.

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g

 t
h
e
 i

n
c
re

a
s
e
 i

n
 s

u
p
p
ly

 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 v

a
ri
o
u
s
 i

n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
: 

in
c
re

a
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 s

u
p
p
ly

 o
f 

la
n
d
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 r

e
le

a
s
e
 o

f 
s
o
m

e
 g

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

 s
it
e
s
; 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 H

o
u
s
in

g
In

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

L
a
n
d
 S

tr
a
te

g
y

to
 d

ra
w

 t
o
g

e
th

e
r 

s
it
e
s
 t

o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 b

u
ild

in
g
; 

th
e
 E

m
p
ty

 P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
; 

B
ro

w
n
fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
d
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
; 

th
e
 

N
e
w

 
B

u
ild

 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
; 

In
te

ri
m

 
A

ff
o
rd

a
b

le
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
; 

th
e
 

L
e
e
d
s
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 M
o
rt

g
a
g

e
 S

c
h
e
m

e
; 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

s
e
lf
-b

u
ild

in
g
. 

In
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 o
f 

th
is

, 
th

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

n
e
w

 h
o
u
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 n

e
t 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

e
m

p
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
s
 a

 N
e
w

 H
o
m

e
s
 B

o
n
u
s
 (

N
H

B
).

 W
o
rk

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 t

o
 a

llo
c
a
te

 N
H

B
 m

o
n
ie

s
 t

o
 a

C
it
y
 w

id
e
 e

q
u
it
y
 l
o
a
n
 s

c
h
e
m

e
. 
 

W
h

a
t 

d
o

 k
e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

th
in

k
  

N
o
th

in
g
 t

o
 a

d
d
 a

t 
Q

tr
 4

C
IT

Y
 P

R
IO

R
IT

Y
 P

L
A

N
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 R
E

P
O

R
T

L
IV

 1
2

0
1
2

/1
3
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

 4

In
c

re
a

s
e

 t
h

e
 N

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
N

e
w

 H
o

m
e

s
 B

u
il
t

0

2
0
0

4
0
0

6
0
0

8
0
0

1
0
0
0

1
2
0
0

1
4
0
0

1
6
0
0

1
8
0
0

No. Homes

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
N

e
w

 H
o
m

e
s
 B

u
ilt

(C
u
m

u
la

ti
ve

)

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
N

e
w

H
o
m

e
s
 B

u
ilt

(C
u
m

u
la

ti
ve

)

4
0
6

8
3
8

1
2
0
8

1
6
5
0

B
y
 e

n
d
 Q

1
 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

B
y
 E

n
d
 Q

2
 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

B
y
 E

n
d
 Q

3
 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

B
y
 E

n
d
 Q

4
 

2
0
1
2
/1

3

H
e
a
d

li
n

e
 I
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
:

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

n
e
w

 h
o
m

e
s
 b

u
ilt

 p
e
r 

y
e
a
r.

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

n
e
w

 a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
m

e
s
 b

u
ilt

 p
e
r 

y
e
a
r.

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

lo
n
g
-t

e
rm

 e
m

p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

ro
u
g

h
t 

b
a
c
k
 i
n
to

 
u
s
e
. 

Page 35



W
h

a
t 

w
e
 d

id
 (

2
0
1
2
/1

3
Q

tr
 4

)
N

e
w

 H
o

m
e
s
 B

u
il
t

(P
ri

v
a
te

 &
 A

ff
o

rd
a
b

le
)

E
a
s
t 

L
e
e
d
s
 E

x
te

n
s
io

n
 (

E
L
E

):
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

 (
E

B
) 

h
a
s
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 f

o
r 

a
 H

ig
h
w

a
y
s
 F

e
a
s
ib

ili
ty

 B
ri
e
f.

 M
o
u
c
h
e
l’s

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 t

o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 

th
is

 w
o
rk

, 
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
J
u
n
e
. 

W
o
rk

 h
a
s
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 t

o
 p

re
p
a
re

 a
 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 p
la

n
 f

o
r 

th
e
 E

a
s
t 

L
e
e
d
s
 e

x
te

n
s
io

n
 w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 h

e
lp

to
 i

n
fo

rm
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

. 
D

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 

h
a
v
e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

a
ro

u
n
d
 

th
e
 

O
u
tl
in

e
 

P
la

n
n
in

g
 

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 

fo
r 

N
o
rt

h
e
rn

 
Q

u
a
d
ra

n
t 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 

d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

(2
0
0
0
 

h
o
m

e
s
).

  
 

E
A

S
E

L
:

B
e
llw

a
y
 

a
re

 
n
o
w

 
s
e
e
k
in

g
 

to
 

fo
rm

a
lly

 
b
ri
n
g

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 
th

e
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
S

p
o
ff

o
rt

h
 H

ill
. 

A
 M

o
d
e
l 

fo
r 

E
q

u
it
y
 L

o
a
n
s
 i

s
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e

d
 t

o
 

e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
is

 p
ro

v
id

e
s
 f

o
r 

fu
ll 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

a
ll

re
m

a
in

in
g

 E
A

S
E

L
 P

h
a
s
e
 1

 s
it
e
s
. 

S
a
le

 o
f 

la
n
d
 a

t 
S

it
e
 3

 t
o
 C

h
a
p
e
lo

a
k
 S

u
rg

e
ry

 i
s
 n

o
w

 c
o
m

p
le

te
.

B
ro

w
n
fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
d
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 (

B
L
P

):
A

n
 i

n
d
ic

a
ti
v
e
 d

is
p
o
s
a
l 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 p

re
p
a
re

d
. 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

s
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 C

a
re

 P
ro

je
c
t:

W
o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
-g

o
in

g
 t

o
 e

n
g

a
g

e
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

M
a
rk

e
t 

to
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
 

a
p
p
e
ti
te

 
fo

r 
E

x
tr

a
 

C
a
re

 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

. 

S
e
lf
 B

u
ild

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

ro
je

c
t:

 O
n
g

o
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 m

a
rk

e
t 

e
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

e
x
e
rc

is
e
s
. 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 I

n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

L
a
n
d
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 (

H
IL

S
):

 W
o
rk

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

R
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 
a
n
d
 
A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

T
e
a
m

s
 
to

 
p
ro

d
u
c
e
 
a
 
lis

t 
o
f 

s
it
e
s
 
to

 
e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

H
o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 A

c
c
o

u
n
t 

(H
R

A
) 

N
e
w

 B
u

ild
P

ro
je

c
t:

A
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d

 t
h
a
t 

P
h
a
s
e
 

1
w

ill
 s

ta
rt

 o
n
 s

it
e
 J

a
n
 2

0
1
4
. 

S
it
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 

A
s
s
is

ti
n
g

 w
it
h

H
o
m

e
 O

w
n
e
rs

h
ip

:
C

it
y
-w

id
e
 E

q
u
it
y
 L

o
a
n
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 (

N
H

B
a
n
d

c
o
m

m
u
te

d
 s

u
m

s
):

 L
A

 M
o
rt

g
a
g

e
 S

c
h
e
m

e
re

s
u
lt
e
d
 i

n
 1

2
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

e
n
d
 o

f 
F

e
b
 1

3
. 

E
m

p
ty

 P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

B
ri
n
g

in
g

 E
m

p
ty

 P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 B

a
c
k
 i

n
to

u
s
e
 a

s
 A

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 H

o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 A

g
e
n
c
y
 (

H
C

A
)

F
u
n
d
in

g
 B

id
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
.

C
re

a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

a
 

d
e
d
ic

a
te

d
p
ro

a
c
ti
v
e
 

e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

te
a
m

 
to

 
ta

c
k
le

 
e
m

p
ty

 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
. 

 T
h
e

E
m

p
ty

 H
o
m

e
s
 D

o
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

ilo
te

d
 f

ro
m

 J
a
n

w
it
h
 a

 v
ie

w
 t

o
 r

o
lli

n
g

 i
t 

o
u
t 

o
n
c
e

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

re
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

.

N
e
w

 A
c
ti

o
n

s
(2

0
1
3
/1

4
 Q

tr
 1

)
N

e
w

 H
o

m
e
s
 B

u
il
t

(P
ri

v
a
te

 &
 A

ff
o

rd
a
b

le
)

E
L
E

:
A

n
 E

x
p
re

s
s
io

n
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 f

o
r 

H
C

A
 f

u
n
d
s
 t

o
 s

e
c
u
re

 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 t
o
 c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
t 
th

e
 E

a
s
t 

L
e
e
d
s
 O

rb
it
a
l 
R

o
a
d
. 

B
L
P

:
M

a
rk

e
ti
n
g

 o
f 

fi
rs

t
s
it
e
s
 t

o
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
. 

D
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

is
 l

ik
e
ly

 t
o
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

o
 2

0
2
5
.

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

s
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 C

a
re

:
M

a
rk

e
t 

E
n
g

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

E
x
e
rc

is
e
 t

o
 b

e
 h

e
ld

 t
o
 

la
u
n
c
h
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

o
w

n
e
d
 s

it
e
s
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

a
lly

 f
o
r 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

E
x
tr

a
 C

a
re

 H
o
u
s
in

g
.

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 

o
f 

H
e
a
lt
h
 b

id
 f

o
r 

E
x
tr

a
 C

a
re

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 w

it
h
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 3

1
s
t
M

a
y
 2

0
1
3
. 

S
e
lf
b
u
ild

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

ro
je

c
t:

 F
ir
s
t 

s
e
lf
 b

u
ild

 e
v
e
n
t 

to
 b

e
 h

e
ld

 o
n
 1

1
th

M
a

y
 t

o
: 

id
e
n
ti
fy

 
d
e
m

a
n
d
 
fo

r 
s
e
lf
 
b
u
ild

;
p
ro

v
id

e
 
a
d

v
ic

e
 
a
n
d
 
s
u
p
p

o
rt

; 
a
n
d
 
p
ro

v
id

e
 
a
 

n
e
tw

o
rk

in
g

 o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 t

o
 p

u
t 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 

s
e
lf
 b

u
ild

e
rs

 i
n
 t

o
u
c
h
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
rs

 (
to

 
p
o
te

n
ti
a
lly

 f
o
rm

 a
 g

ro
u
p
) 

a
n
d
 w

it
h
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
ls

.

B
u
ild

 
to

 
R

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

: 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
n
 
th

e
 
b
a
s
is

 
o
f 

th
e
 
L
e
e
d
s
 
C

it
y
 
R

e
g

io
n
 

(L
C

R
) 

P
ri
v
a
te

 R
e
n
te

d
 S

e
c
to

r
(P

R
S

I)
M

o
d
e
l.
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 

A
c
c
o
u
n
t 

(H
R

A
) 

N
e
w

 
B

u
ild

 
P

ro
je

c
t:

W
o
rk

 
u
p
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

s
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
 J

u
ly

 2
0
1
3
. 

E
m

p
ty

 P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
  

B
ri
n
g

in
g

 
E

m
p
ty

 
P

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 

B
a
c
k
 

in
to

 
u
s
e
 

a
s
 

A
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 
H

o
u
s
in

g
:

H
C

A
 

F
u
n
d
in

g
 B

id
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 3

1
s
t
M

a
y
 2

0
1
3
. 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
E

m
p
ty

 H
o
m

e
 L

o
a
n
 S

c
h
e
m

e
:

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 E

m
p
ty

 H
o
m

e
s
 A

g
e
n
c
y
 t

o
 

la
u
n
c
h
 t

h
e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
lo

a
n

s
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 i
n
 M

a
y
 2

0
1
3
.

L
C

C
 t

o
 b

e
 t

h
e
 p

ilo
t 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

.
W

o
rk

 o
n
g

o
in

g
 t

o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 E

m
p
ty

 P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
,

i.
e
. 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 
o
f 

th
e
 
E

m
p
ty

 
H

o
m

e
s
 
D

o
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 
o
f 

a
n
 
E

m
p
ty

 
L
e
e
d
s
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 b

o
th

 i
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 T

h
ir
d
 S

e
c
to

r,
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

L
C

C
’s

 o
w

n
 e

m
p
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 l

o
a
n
. 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 u

s
e
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
u
te

d
 s

u
m

s
 t

o
 i

n
c
re

a
s
e
 

th
e
 s

u
p
p
ly

 o
f 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
, 

i.
e
. 

w
o
rk

in
g

 w
it
h
 C

a
n
o
p
y
 t

o
 b

ri
n
g

 i
n
to

 u
s
e
 8

e
m

p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
. 

D
a
ta

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t

A
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 o

f 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 M

a
rk

e
t

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 t

o
 g

u
id

e
 

n
e
w

 
b
u
ild

 
a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
. 

T
h
e
 
d
a
ta

 
h
ig

h
lig

h
ts

 
k
e
y
 
a
re

a
s
 
o
f 

n
e
e
d
 
a
n
d
 

d
e
m

a
n
d
 i
n
 l
ig

h
t 
o
f 

th
e
 r

e
c
e
n
t 
W

e
lf
a
re

 C
h
a
n
g

e
. 
 

R
is

k
s
 a

n
d

 C
h

a
ll

e
n

g
e
s
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 A

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n

u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 a

ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 a

b
ili

ty
 t

o
 b

o
rr

o
w

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
n
e
g

a
ti
v
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
W

e
lf
a
re

 C
h
a

n
g

e
 m

a
y
 h

a
v
e
 o

n
th

e
ir
 r

e
n
ta

l 
s
tr

e
a
m

. 
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 m

o
rt

g
a
g

e
 f

in
a
n
c
e
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 a

 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
b
a
rr

ie
r 

id
e
n

ti
fi
e
d
 b

y
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

 t
o
 t

h
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

n
e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
. 

S
c
h
e
m

e
s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 ‘
A

 H
e
lp

in
g

 H
a
n
d
’ 
ru

n
 b

y
 L

e
e
d
s
 

B
u
ild

in
g

 S
o
c
ie

ty
 i
n
 c

o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 L

e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 a
s
s
is

t 
h
o
m

e
 b

u
y
e
rs

 i
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 f

in
a
n
c
e
. 

R
is

k
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 m

a
rk

e
ts

’ 
v
ie

w
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

s
it
e
s
 i
n
 B

ro
w

n
fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
d
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 i
s
 n

e
g

a
ti
v
e
/p

e
s
s
im

is
ti
c
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 l
im

it
e
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

c
o
m

in
g

 f
o
rw

a
rd

.

 A
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 c

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
h
o
u
s
e
 b

u
ild

in
g

, 
fa

ilu
re

 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 A

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 H
o
m

e
s
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

o
r 

fe
w

e
r 

n
e
t 

e
m

p
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 b

e
in

g
 b

ro
u
g

h
t 

b
a
c
k
 i
n
to

 u
s
e
 (

fo
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

if
 m

o
re

 h
o
m

e
s
 b

e
c
o
m

e
 e

m
p
ty

) 
w

o
u
ld

 l
e

a
d
 t

o
 l
e
s
s
 N

H
B

 b
e
in

g
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
d
 t

h
a
n
 f

o
re

c
a
s
t

Page 36



M
e
e
ti

n
g

:
H

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 R

e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 B

o
a
rd

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

:
A

ll 
p
e
o
p
le

 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s

O
u

tc
o

m
e
:

T
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 g

ro
w

th
 o

f 
th

e
 c

it
y
 i
s
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

P
ri

o
ri

ty
:

E
n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 o
f 

th
e
 c

it
y
 w

h
ils

t 
m

in
im

is
in

g
 t

h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
n
 t

h
e
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 p

ro
te

c
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 d

is
ti
n
c
ti
v
e
 g

re
e
n
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

r 
o
f 
th

e
 c

it
y
.

W
h

y
a
n

d
 w

h
e
re

 i
s
 t

h
is

 a
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 
th

e
 
p
u
b
lic

 
re

a
lm

, 
lin

k
in

g
 
lo

c
a
l 

p
e
o
p
le

 
to

 
th

e
 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 
c
re

a
te

d
 
b
y
 
n
e
w

 
in

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t,

 
a
n
d
 

im
p
ro

v
in

g
 t

h
e
 v

it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d

 v
ib

ra
n
c
y
 o

f 
th

e
 C

it
y
’s

 t
o
w

n
 a

n
d
 d

is
tr

ic
t 

c
e
n
tr

e
s
 i
s
 c

ri
ti
c
a
l 
to

 e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 l
o
n
g

 t
e
rm

 s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
 

o
f 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 C

it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
. 

S
to

ry
 b

e
h

in
d

 t
h

e
 b

a
s
e
li
n

e

T
h
e
 

e
m

e
rg

in
g

C
o
re

 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

p
la

n
s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 

lo
n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 
re

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 

g
ro

w
th

 o
f 

th
e
 d

is
tr

ic
t 

o
v
e
r 

a
 1

5
 y

e
a
r 

p
e
ri
o
d

fr
o
m

 2
0
1
2
 (

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 a

d
o
p
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

2
0
1
4
).

 T
h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 d

e
s
ir
e
 t

o
 r

e
s
p
o
n
d
 t

o
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

e
m

e
rg

in
g

 
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 

p
re

s
s
u
re

s
 

a
n
d
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 

n
e
e
d
s
 

a
c
ro

s
s
 

th
e

 
d
is

tr
ic

t,
 

e
s
p
e
c
ia

lly
 w

it
h
in

 i
n
n
e
r 

u
rb

a
n
 a

re
a
s
. 

K
e
y
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
: 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 

fo
r 

th
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
h
o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 j

o
b
s
 i

n
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

re
s
p
e
c
ti
n
g

 l
o
c
a
l 

c
h
a
ra

c
te

r 
a
n
d
 

d
is

ti
n
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

in
 

th
e
 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 
o

f 
th

e
 

P
la

n
’s

 
o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 

m
a
x
im

is
in

g
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 t

o
 r

e
c
y
c
le

 b
ro

w
n
fi
e
ld

 i
.e

. 
p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
e
d

la
n
d
 

(P
D

L
),

 w
h
ils

t 
m

in
im

is
in

g
 g

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

 a
n
d
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
 r

e
le

a
s
e
.

T
h
e
 t

o
ta

l 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

n
e
w

 h
o
m

e
s
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 o

n
 b

ro
w

n
fi
e

ld
 l
a
n
d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 2

0
1
2
/1

3
 

w
a
s
 

8
7
.2

%
 

(1
4
3
9
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
) 

a
g

a
in

s
t 

1
2
.8

%
 

o
n
 

g
re

e
n
fi
e

ld
 

la
n
d
 

(2
1
1
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
).

 I
n
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

4
 t

h
e
 s

p
lit

 w
a
s

3
9
1
 h

o
m

e
s
 o

n
 b

ro
w

n
fi
e
ld

 a
n
d

5
1
 h

o
m

e
s
 

o
n

g
re

e
n
fi
e
ld

, 
a
 r

a
ti
o
 o

f 
8
8
.5

%
 t

o
 1

1
.5

%
. 

B
o
th

 o
f 

th
e
s
e
 c

o
m

p
a
re

 w
e
ll 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 

9
3
%

 o
f 

h
o
m

e
s
 o

n
 P

D
L
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 l
a
s
t 

5
 y

e
a
rs

. 

T
h
e
 m

in
im

u
m

 6
5
:3

5
 r

a
ti
o
 o

f 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 o
n
 b

ro
w

n
fi
e
ld

 t
o
 g

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

 l
a
n
d
 i

s
 

c
o
n
ta

in
e
d
 i

n
 t

h
e
 e

m
e
rg

in
g

C
o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
.

T
h
e
 a

c
tu

a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

ra
ti
o

o
n

b
ro

w
n
fi
e
ld

to
 g

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

 i
s

s
ti
ll 

w
e

ll 
a
b
o

v
e
 t

h
is

m
in

im
u
m

 r
a
ti
o
. 

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
g

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

is
 i

n
c
re

a
s
in

g
, 

a
n

d
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 d

o
 s

o
a
s
 b

ro
w

n
fi
e
ld

 s
it
e
s
 a

re
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 o

u
t.

G
re

e
n
fi
e
ld

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

is
 l

ik
e
ly

 t
o
 i

n
c
re

a
s
e
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 n

e
x
t 

5
 y

e
a
rs

 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 

m
e
e
t 

th
e
 i

d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 d

is
tr

ic
t,

 a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 i

t 
is

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 

re
m

a
in

b
e
lo

w
 t

h
e
 m

in
im

u
m

 r
a
ti
o
. 

T
h
e
 S

it
e
 A

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 P

la
n
 w

ill
 i

d
e
n
ti
fy

 s
it
e
s

(s
o
m

e
 o

f 
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 b

e
 g

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

)
a
n
d

w
ill

 g
ra

d
e

th
e
ir
 s

u
it
a
b
ili

ty
, 

th
u
s
 e

n
a
b
lin

g
e
x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 m

a
in

 u
rb

a
n
 a

re
a
 a

n
d
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
ts

to
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 n

e
e
d
s

a
re

 m
e
t.

 T
h
e
s
e
 s

it
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

a
re

fu
lly

 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 u

s
in

g
 

a
 r

a
n
g

e
 o

f 
c
ri
te

ri
a
 w

it
h
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 S

p
a
ti
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 (

in
 t

h
e
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
) 

w
h
ic

h
 s

e
e
k
s
 t
o
 p

ro
te

c
t 

a
n
d
 e

n
h
a
n
c
e

th
e
 C

it
y
’s

 g
re

e
n
 i
n
te

g
ri
ty

.

W
h

a
t 

d
o

 k
e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

th
in

k
  
  

N
o
th

in
g
 t

o
 a

d
d
 a

t 
q

u
a
rt

e
r 

4
.

C
IT

Y
 P

R
IO

R
IT

Y
 P

L
A

N
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 R
E

P
O

R
T

L
IV

 2
2

0
1
2

/1
3
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

 4

0
%

1
0
%

2
0
%

3
0
%

4
0
%

5
0
%

6
0
%

7
0
%

8
0
%

9
0
%

1
0
0
%

T
h

e
 %

 o
f 

n
e

w
 h

o
m

e
s

 b
u

ilt
 o

n
 p

re
v

io
u

s
ly

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

 

la
n

d
:g

re
e

n
fi

e
ld

 L
a

n
d

 (
m

in
im

u
m

 r
a

ti
o

 o
f 

6
5

:3
5

)

%
 G

re
e
n
fie

ld

%
 B

ro
w

n
fie

ld

%
 G

re
e
n
fie

ld
9

1
4

1
6

1
2

1
3

%
 B

ro
w

n
fie

ld
9
1

8
6

8
4

8
8

8
7

E
n
d
 Q

tr
 1

E
n
d
 Q

tr
 2

E
n
d
 Q

tr
 3

E
n
d
 Q

tr
 4

Y
e
a
r 

T
o
ta

l

H
e
a
d

li
n

e
 I
n

d
ic

a
to

r:
 

M
in

im
u
m

 r
a
ti
o
 o

f 
6
5
:3

5
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

n
e
w

 h
o
m

e
s
 o

n
 

B
ro

w
n
fi
e
ld

: 
G

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

 l
a
n
d
 (

in
 t
h
e
 e

m
e
rg

in
g
 D

ra
ft
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
)

Page 37



W
h

a
t 

w
e
 d

id
 (

Q
tr

 4
2
0
1
2
/1

3
)

C
o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 (

C
S

)
–

T
h
e
 P

re
-S

u
b
m

is
s
io

n
 C

h
a
n
g

e
s
 w

e
re

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 B
o
a
rd

 
(E

B
) 

&
 F

u
ll 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

in
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
, 

w
it
h
 a

p
p
ro

v
a
l 
to

 s
u
b
m

it
 t

h
e
 P

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t,
 

P
re

-S
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
 C

h
a
n
g

e
s
 a

n
d
 a

n
y
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 f

o
r 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

e
x
a
m

in
a
ti
o
n
. 

S
it
e
 A

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s

(S
A

)
-

M
e
m

b
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g

s
 a

c
ro

s
s

a
ll 

1
1
 a

re
a
s
 c

o
v
e
ri
n
g

 L
e
e
d
s

a
re

 r
e
p
o
rt

in
g

 
b
a
c
k
 t

o
 a

 s
e
ri
e
s
 o

f 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
 P

a
n
e
l 

(D
P

P
) 

w
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 d

ra
ft

 I
s
s
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 

O
p
ti
o
n
s
. 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 I

n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 L

e
v
y
 (

C
IL

)
-

P
re

lim
in

a
ry

 D
ra

ft
 C

h
a
rg

in
g

 S
c
h
e

d
u
le

 a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 a

t 
E

B
o
n
 1

5
th

 F
e
b
, 

w
it
h
 p

u
b
lic

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 2

7
th

 M
a

rc
h
 t

o
 1

5
th

 M
a

y
. 

 A
im

in
g

 f
o
r 

lo
n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 
ti
m

e
ta

b
le

 o
f 

A
p
ri

l 
2
0
1
4
 f

o
r 

o
v
e
ra

ll 
C

IL
 t

o
 b

e
 a

d
o
p
te

d
. 
W

o
rk

s
tr

e
a
m

s
 t

o
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
 s

p
e
n
d
in

g
, 

g
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
, 

a
n
d
 a

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 m

a
tt
e
rs

 c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

, 
w

it
h
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 

P
la

n
n
in

g
 A

d
v
is

o
ry

 S
e
rv

ic
e
 f

o
r 

in
it
ia

l 
p
ro

je
c
t 

p
la

n
n
in

g
.

L
o
c
a
l 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 (
L
D

F
)

–
T

h
e
 L

e
e
d
s
 L

D
F

 A
n
n
u
a

l 
M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 R

e
p
o
rt

 w
a
s
 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 E

B
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
. 

T
h
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ri
n
g

 t
h
e
 5

 y
e
a
r 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
ly

 w
it
h
in

 
L
e
e
d
s
.

D
e
re

lic
t 

P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

(D
P

) 
–

1
6

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e
e
n
 i

m
p
ro

v
e
d

in
 t

o
ta

l.
F

u
n
d
in

g
 a

p
p
ro

v
a
l 

h
a
s
 
b
e
e
n
 
g
ra

n
te

d
 
to

 
d
e
liv

e
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 
to

 
a
 
fo

rm
e
r

S
c
h
o
o
l 

s
it
e
. 

 
In

te
re

s
t 

is
 
b
e
in

g
 

s
o
u
g

h
t 
to

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
r 

re
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
.

L
e
e
d
s
 T

o
w

n
 &

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

P
h
a
s
e
 1

 (
T

&
D

P
1
)

-
A

 n
e
w

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 (

T
&

D
P

2
)

h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 o

u
tl
in

e
d
 a

n
d
 d

is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 a

t 
C

it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 m
e
e
ti
n
g

a
n
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 E

x
e
c
 

M
e
m

b
e
r

fo
r 

R
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
. 

T
h
is

 s
m

a
lle

r 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 w

ill
 f

o
c
u
s
 o

n
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
t 

y
e
t 

b
e
n
e
fi
tt
e
d
 f
ro

m
fu

n
d
in

g
.

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
s
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

T
h
e
 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 
L
o
tt

e
ry

 
F

u
n
d
 
h
a
s
 
g

iv
e
n
 
p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 
to

 
s
ta

rt
 
a
 
n
e
w

 
T

o
w

n
s
c
a
p
e
 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

In
it
ia

ti
v
e

s
c
h
e
m

e
 i

n
 K

ir
k
g

a
te

 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
. 

T
h
e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 w

ill
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

re
ta

ile
rs

 p
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 b
u
t 

n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
ri
n
g

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 i

n
 R

ic
h
m

o
n
d
 H

ill
 a

n
d
 H

o
lb

e
c
k
 w

ill
 a

ls
o
 

b
e
n
e
fi
t 

fo
r 

tr
a
in

in
g

 a
n
d
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 r

a
is

in
g

 c
o
u
rs

e
s
. 

G
ra

n
t 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n
s
 w

e
re

 m
a
d
e
 t

o
 7

 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 o

n
 T

o
w

n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

a
n
d
 B

ra
n
c
h
 R

o
a
d
 i

n
 A

rm
le

y
 a

n
d
 1

0
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 o

n
 C

h
a
p
e
lt
o
w

n
 

R
o
a
d
 a

n
d
 H

a
re

h
ill

s
 A

v
e
n
u
e
.

W
y
k
e
 B

e
c
k
 V

a
lle

y
 P

ri
d
e

P
ra

c
ti
c
a
l 

v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n
g

 a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 l

o
c
a
l 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o
u
t 

th
e
 W

y
k
e
 

B
e
c
k
 

V
a
lle

y
 

w
it
h
 

G
ro

u
n
d
w

o
rk

, 
T

h
e
 

T
ru

s
t 

fo
r 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 

V
o
lu

n
te

e
rs

 
a
n
d
 

P
a
rk

s
 

&
 

C
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
. 

D
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 q

u
a
rt

e
r,

 f
u
n
d
in

g
 f

o
r 

9
 n

e
w

 e
n
tr

a
n
c
e
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

g
re

e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 N

a
tu

re
 W

y
k
e
 B

e
c
k
 V

a
lle

y
 P

ri
d
e
 P

ro
je

c
t.

N
e
w

 A
c
ti

o
n

s
(2

0
1
3
/1

4
Q

tr
 1

)

C
S

–
P

ro
je

c
t 

o
n
 t

ra
c
k
 f

o
r 

s
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
 i

n
 A

p
ri
l 

2
0
1
3
, 

s
u
b
je

c
t 

to
 

th
e
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
o
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 t
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
m

a
te

ri
a
l.

S
A

–
S

A
 

Is
s
u
e
s
 

a
n
d
 

O
p
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 

D
P

P
 

o
n
 

3
0
th

 
A

p
ri
l 

a
n
d
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 B
o
a
rd

 o
n
 8

th
 M

a
y
, 

w
it
h
 a

 p
e
ri
o
d
 o

f 
s
u
b
s
e
q

u
e
n
t 

p
u
b
lic

 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 (

6
 w

e
e
k
s
 m

in
im

u
m

) 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
in

g
 i
n
 J

u
n
e
.

L
e
e
d
s
 T

o
w

n
 &

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

–
E

n
d
 o

f 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 r

e
p
o
rt

 
o
n
 T

&
D

C
1
 i

s
 d

u
e
 t

o
 b

e
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 b

o
a
rd

 i
n
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
1
3
.

C
a
p
it
a
l 

w
o
rk

s
 o

n
 F

a
rs

le
y
 s

c
h
e
m

e
w

ill
b
e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 e

n
d
 

o
f 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
.

W
y
k
e
 B

e
c
k
 V

a
lle

y
 P

ri
d
e

C
o
n
fi
rm

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

s
1
0
6
 f

u
n
d
s
.

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 d

ra
ft
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
p
la

n
to

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

n

C
e
le

b
ra

to
ry

 e
v
e
n
t 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 t

o
 t

a
k
e
 p

la
c
e
 i
n
 J

u
n
e
.

2
 

L
o
c
a
l 

N
a
tu

re
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
lly

 
to

 
b
e
 

d
e
c
la

re
d
 

–
K

ill
in

g
b
e
c
k
 F

ie
ld

s
 &

 W
h
it
e
b
e
c
k
 W

o
o
d
s

D
a
ta

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
–

N
o

n
e

A
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i

n
d
ic

a
to

rs
 u

s
e
d
 f

o
r 

th
is

 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

is
 b

e
in

g
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 c

o
m

in
g
 m

o
n
th

s
.

W
h

a
t 

w
o

rk
e
d

 l
o

c
a
ll
y
 /

C
a
s
e
 s

tu
d

y
 o

f 
im

p
a
c
t

N
o
th

in
g

to
 a

d
d
 a

t 
q

u
a
rt

e
r 

4
.

R
is

k
s
 a

n
d

 C
h

a
ll

e
n

g
e

N
o
th

in
g
 t

o
 a

d
d
 a

t 
q

u
a
rt

e
r 

4
.

Page 38



M
e
e
ti

n
g

:
H

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 R

e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 B

o
a
rd

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

:
A

ll 
p
e
o
p
le

 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s

O
u

tc
o

m
e
:

H
o
u
s
e
s

o
f 

a
ll 

te
n
a
n
c
ie

s
 a

re
 a

b
le

 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
c
it
iz

e
n
s
 o

f 
L
e
e
d
s
 a

t 
d
if
fe

re
n
t 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
:

Im
p
ro

v
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 e

n
e
rg

y
s
ta

g
e
s
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 l
iv

e
s

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
.

W
h

y
a
n

d
 w

h
e
re

 i
s
 t

h
is

 a
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
a
 r

a
n
g

e
 o

f 
g
o
o
d
 q

u
a
lit

y
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 a
n
d
 e

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
t 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 c

h
a
n
g

in
g
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 

o
f 

L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 a

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
c
h
a
lle

n
g

e
a
n
d
 i
s
 a

 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
fa

c
to

r 
im

p
a
c
ti
n
g
 o

n
a
 r

a
n
g

e
 o

f 
im

p
o
rt

a
n
t 
q

u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
lif

e
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

rs
, 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 h

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 w

e
ll 

b
e
in

g
. 
 I
t 
a
ls

o
 h

a
s
 w

id
e

r 
e
ff

e
c
ts

 o
n
 t
h
e
 p

ro
s
p
e
ri
ty

 o
f 

th
e
 c

it
y
, 

a
s
 i
t 

a
ff

e
c
ts

 t
h
e
 a

b
ili

ty
 o

f
L
e
e
d
s
 t

o
 

re
m

a
in

 c
o
m

p
e
ti
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 a

tt
ra

c
t 
p
e
o
p
le

 t
o
 l
iv

e
 a

n
d
 w

o
rk

 h
e
re

, 
a
n
d
 a

ls
o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

s
 t

o
 e

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
.

O
v
e

ra
ll

 P
ro

g
re

s
s
:

G
R

E
E

N

S
to

ry
 b

e
h

in
d

 t
h

e
 b

a
s
e
li
n

e
  

W
h

a
t 

d
o

 k
e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

th
in

k

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 w

it
h
in

 W
ra

p
 U

p
 L

e
e
d
s
 a

re
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
in

g
 t

o
 b

e
 E

x
c
e

lle
n
t,
 w

it
h
 a

 s
c
o
re

 o
f 

5
.5

9
/6

. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 l
im

it
e
d

 v
a
ri
a
ti
o

n
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 w
a
rd

s
, 

w
it
h
 n

o
 w

a
rd

 s
h

o
w

in
g
 l
e

s
s
 t
h
a
n
 

5
.3

2
/6

, 
s
h
o

w
in

g
 t
h

e
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
e
d
 c

it
y
 w

id
e

 r
e
le

v
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
. 
 T

h
e
 L

C
R

 G
re

e
n

 D
e
a

l 
B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 C

a
s
e
 h

a
s
 n

o
w

 b
e

e
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d

d
is

c
u
s
s
e
d
 w

it
h

 L
C

R
 L

e
a

d
e
rs

 w
h
o
 h

a
v
e
 

re
q
u
e
s
te

d
 t
h

a
t 

it
 i
s
 a

ls
o
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n
 E

c
o
n

o
m

y
 P

a
n
e

l 
a

n
d
 b

ro
u
g

h
t 
b

a
c
k
 f
o
r 

a
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 o

n
 F

e
b

ru
a
ry

 7
th
. 
 T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 E

x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

 a
p
p
ro

v
e

d
 t
h

e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
L
e
e
d
s
 a

s
 t
h
e
 a

n
c
h
o
r 

a
u
th

o
ri

ty
 o

n
 t

h
e
 1

2
th

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r

2
0

1
2
. 

S
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t 
in

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 s

to
c
k
 h

a
s
 t
a

k
e
n
 p

la
c
e
 s

in
c
e

 A
L
M

O
s
 w

e
re

 
e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 t
o
 b

ri
n

g
 h

o
m

e
s
 u

p
 t
o

 a
 d

e
c
e
n
t 

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

to
 9

6
%

 b
y
 2

0
1

0
.
W

h
ile

 i
t 
c
a

n
 b

e
 s

e
e

n
 

fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 g

ra
p
h

th
a
t 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d
 a

t 
o
r 

a
b
o

v
e
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

le
v
e

l 
o
f 

9
6
%

 
o
v
e
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r,

th
e

 a
c
tu

a
l 
re

p
o
rt

e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

3
 i
s
 9

3
.4

5
%

.
T

h
is

 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n

d
u
e
 t

o
 a

 d
a
ta

 i
n
p

u
tt
in

g
 b

a
c
k
lo

g
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
 t
o

 t
h
e
 i
n
s
ta

lla
ti
o

n
 o

f 
g
a
s
 c

e
n
tr

a
l 

h
e
a
ti
n
g

 b
o

ile
rs

w
h
ic

h
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
.

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 a
ls

o
 t
a
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e
 p

ri
v
a

te
 s

e
c
to

r 
th

ro
u
g

h
 v

a
ri

o
u
s
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
s
 

o
f 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 w

it
h
 l
a
n

d
lo

rd
s
 a

n
d
 e

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
w

o
rk

. 
It
 i
s
 

e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

th
e

 a
n

n
u
a

l 
5

0
0
 d

e
c
e
n
t 

h
o
m

e
s
 t
a
rg

e
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
w

ill
 b

e
 m

e
t 
th

is
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r.

  
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h

e
 p

re
v
a
le

n
c
e
 o

f 
b
a
c
k
 t
o
 b

a
c
k
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

fe
a
tu

re
s
 o

f 
s
o
m

e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
s
to

c
k
 m

a
k
e
s
 b

ri
n
g
in

g
 t

h
e
s
e
 u

p
 t

o
 a

 d
e
c
e

n
t 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 a
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 

c
h
a
lle

n
g

e
. 

E
.g

. 
th

e
 m

o
s
t 
re

c
e
n
t 
P

ri
v
a
te

 S
to

c
k
 C

o
n
d

it
io

n
 S

u
rv

e
y
 (

2
0

0
7
) 

fo
u
n

d
 t
h

a
t 

a
 t
h

ir
d
 o

f 
p
ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 (

o
r 

8
1
,8

0
0

 u
n

it
s
) 

w
a
s
 n

o
n
-d

e
c
e

n
t,
 w

it
h

th
e
 m

a
in

 i
s
s
u
e
 

b
e
in

g
 t

h
e
rm

a
l 
c
o
m

fo
rt

. 

N
e

w
e
r 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 i
n
c
o
rp

o
ra

ti
n

g
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 b
u
ild

in
g
 r

e
g
u

la
ti
o
n
s
 s

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
, 

a
lt
h

o
u
g

h
 t
h

is
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 a

 c
h
a

lle
n
g
e

. 
 W

o
rk

 i
s
 a

ls
o
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
in

g
 t
o
 b

ri
n

g
 e

m
p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

a
c
k
 

in
to

 u
s
e
 a

n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h

e
ir
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
. 
 

L
e
e
d
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n

 w
o
rk

in
g
 c

lo
s
e
ly

 w
it
h

 t
h
e

 C
it
y
 R

e
g

io
n

 t
o
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
 a

 G
re

e
n
 D

e
a
l 
b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

c
a
s
e
, 
u
s
in

g
 L

e
e
d
s
 a

s
 t

h
e
 a

n
c
h
o
r 

a
u
th

o
ri

ty
, 

w
h

ic
h
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n
d
s
 w

o
rk

in
g
 c

o
lle

c
ti
v
e
ly

 o
v
e
r 

a
 

3
 y

e
a
r 

p
e
ri

o
d

 t
o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

a
n
 £

8
0
m

 p
ro

je
c
t 
to

 1
2

0
0
0
 h

o
m

e
s
. 
 

C
IT

Y
 P

R
IO

R
IT

Y
 P

L
A

N
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 R
E

P
O

R
T

H
e
a
d

li
n

e
 I
n

d
ic

a
to

r:
In

c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d

 w
it
h
 e

n
e

rg
y
 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
.

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

w
h
ic

h
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 t

h
e

 d
e
c
e
n
c
y
 s

ta
n
d

a
rd

L
IV

E
3

2
0

1
2

/1
3
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

 4

W
it
h
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
a
l 
ri
s
e
 i
n
 e

n
e
rg

y
 p

ri
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 s

q
u
e
e

z
e
 o

n
 h

o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 (

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 t
h

o
s
e
 o

n
 l
o

w
 a

n
d

 f
ix

e
d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
s
) 

fu
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt

y
 r

a
te

s
 i
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 h

a
v
e
 r

is
e
n
 f

ro
m

 a
 l
o
w

 o
f 

2
2
%

 i
n
 2

0
0
5

 t
o
 2

7
%

 i
n
 2

0
1

0
.

C
o

u
p

le
d
 t

o
 t

h
is

, 
b

u
d
g

e
ts

 f
o
r 

e
n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 g

ra
n
ts

 s
u
c
h
 a

s
 W

a
rm

fr
o
n
t 
h
a

v
e
 b

e
e
n

 s
la

s
h
e

d
 a

n
d
 m

a
n

y
 l
o
c
a
l 
th

ir
d
 s

e
c
to

r 
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 (

s
u
c
h
 a

s
 

G
ro

u
n
d

w
o
rk

 a
n
d
 C

a
re

 a
n
d
 R

e
p
a

ir
) 

h
a

v
e
 s

e
e
n
 f

u
n
d

in
g
 s

tr
e
a
m

s
 d

ry
 u

p
.

S
o
 j
u
s
t 
a
t 

a
 t
im

e
 w

h
e
n
 f

u
e

l 
p

o
v
e
rt

y
 i
s
 a

t 
it
s
 w

o
rs

t,
 t
h
e

 h
e

lp
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 i
s
 a

t 
it
s
 l
o

w
e
s
t.
 

T
h
e
re

 h
a
s
 s

ti
ll 

th
o
u
g

h
 

b
e
e
n

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 w

it
h
 o

v
e
r 

£
7

m
 b

e
in

g
 s

p
e
n

t 
th

is
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e

a
r 

to
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 e

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y

in
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 o

v
e
r 

7
,0

0
0
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o

ld
s
 b

e
n
e
fi
ti
n
g
 f

ro
m

 i
n
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
s
 v

ia
 W

ra
p
 U

p
.

L
e
e
d
s
. 

  

Page 39



W
h

a
t 

w
e
 d

id
 (

2
0
1
2
/1

3
 Q

tr
 4

)

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

D
e
li

v
e
r 

w
e
ll

-d
e
s
ig

n
e
d

, 
v

is
u

a
ll

y
-a

p
p

e
a
li
n

g
 a

n
d

 e
n

e
rg

y
-e

ff
ic

ie
n

t 
h

o
u

s
in

g
 (

n
e
w

 a
n

d
 

e
x
is

ti
n

g
 s

to
c

k
) 

in
 t

a
rg

e
t 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s

N
e

w
 h

o
m

e
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 u

n
d
e
rw

a
y
 i
n
 E

a
s
t 

L
e
e

d
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 b

u
ilt

 t
o
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

b
u
ild

in
g
 r

e
g
u

la
ti
o
n
s
 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 (

e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
to

 C
S

H
 3

).
  

E
q

u
it
y
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 i
n
-p

ri
n
c
ip

le
 f

o
r 

E
A

S
E

L
 s

it
e
 

7
-

to
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 s

a
le

 o
f 

1
1
 u

n
it
s
.

£
7
.6

m
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 s

p
e

n
t 
u

p
 t

o
 t
h
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
F

e
b
 2

0
1

3
 o

n
 d

e
liv

e
ri

n
g

 i
n

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 

e
n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 i
n

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

H
o
u
s
in

g
. 
 T

h
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
e

s
 £

2
.1

m
 t
o
 c

a
rr

y
 o

u
t 
s
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l 
re

p
a

ir
s
 a

n
d

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
w

a
ll 

in
s
u

la
ti
o
n

 t
o
 n

o
n
 t
ra

d
it
io

n
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

to
c
k
 i
n
 W

H
W

H
L
.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

M
a
in

ta
in

 d
e
c
e
n

t 
h

o
m

e
s
 s

ta
n

d
a

rd
 i
n

 C
o

u
n

c
il
 h

o
u

s
in

g

A
t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
rc

h
2
0

1
3

9
3
.4

5
%

o
f 

C
o
u

n
c
il 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 w

e
re

 r
e
p

o
rt

e
d

 t
o
 b

e
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
th

e
 

d
e
c
e
n
t 

h
o
m

e
s
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

b
u
t 

n
o
t 

a
ll 

w
o
rk

 d
o
n
e
 h

a
d

 b
e

e
n

 i
n

p
u
t 

to
 t

h
e
 s

y
s
te

m
 t
h
is

 q
u
a
rt

e
r.

  
O

v
e
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r 

w
e
 h

a
v
e

 m
a
in

ta
in

e
d

 d
e
c
e

n
c
y
 a

t 
ta

rg
e
t 

le
v
e

ls
..

U
p
 t

o
 t
h

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
F

e
b
 2

0
1
3
 

L
e
e
d
s
 A

L
M

O
s
 h

a
d
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 e

x
p
e
n

d
it
u
re

 o
f 

£
3
0
.7

m
 i
n
 d

e
liv

e
ri

n
g
 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

H
o
u
s
in

g
.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

S
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
 t

o
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

s
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e
 p

ri
v

a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
(p

re
-

1
9
1
9

 s
to

c
k
 (

b
a

c
k
-t

o
-b

a
c
k
’s

 a
n

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

e
rr

a
c

e
s
) 

in
 t

a
rg

e
t 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s

1
1
7
9

p
ri

v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n

 m
a
d
e
 d

e
c
e
n
t 

b
y
 t

h
e
 e

n
d

 o
f 

Q
4

T
h
is

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
 t
h

o
u
g

h
 t
h

e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 

a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

S
e
rv

ic
e
  
b
u
t 
m

a
in

ly
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 

a
n
d
 W

ra
p
 U

p
 L

e
e

d
s
.

1
3
5
5

4
b

e
d

s
p
a
c
e
s
 c

o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 L

a
n

d
lo

rd
 A

c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o

n
 S

c
h
e
m

e
w

it
h
 3

0
1

m
e
m

b
e
rs

  
T

h
e
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 R

L
A

is
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
a

lly
 m

o
n
it
o
re

d
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 d
e
liv

e
ry

 a
g

a
in

s
t 
ta

rg
e

ts
 a

n
d
 a

n
 

a
c
ti
o
n

 p
la

n
 i
s
 n

o
w

 b
e

in
g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

e
d
 t

o
 t
a
rg

e
t 
a
re

a
s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

it
y
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 u

n
d
e
r-

re
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
a
s
 

w
e
ll 

a
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

 i
n
 g

e
n
e
ra

l.
.

4
1
6
4

in
d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
n
e

fi
te

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 r

e
m

o
v
a
l 
o
f 

a
 h

a
z
a
rd

 t
o

 t
h
e

ir
 h

o
m

e
s
 b

y
 t

h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
Q

4
a
g
a

in
s
t 

a
n
 a

n
n
u

a
l 
ta

rg
e

t 
o
f 

4
,0

0
0
.

4
3
4

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 h

a
v
e
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o

 e
n
s
u
re

 c
o

m
p
lia

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 b

o
th

 H
M

O
 a

n
d
 

s
e
le

c
ti
v
e
 l
ic

e
n
s
in

g
 l
ic

e
n
c
e
 c

o
n
d

it
io

n
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
a
n

 a
n

n
u
a

l 
ta

rg
e
t 

o
f 

6
0
0
. 

 T
h
is

 f
ig

u
re

 i
s
 d

o
w

n
 o

n
 

ta
rg

e
t 

d
u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 t

a
s
k
 o

f 
H

M
O

 r
e
-l

ic
e

n
c
in

g
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 l
e
a
d
 t

o
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 b

e
in

g
 d

iv
e
rt

e
d
 t

o
 t
h

is
 

ta
s
k
. 
A

n
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 i
s
 n

o
w

 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
is

 m
e
e
t 
in

 2
0
1

3
/4

.

W
e
 h

a
v
e
 b

ro
u
g

h
t 
 3

2
6
5

e
m

p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

a
c
k
 i
n
to

 u
s
e

 i
n
 2

0
1

2
/3

 a
g
a

in
s
t 
a

 t
a
rg

e
t 

o
f 

3
2
0
0

. 
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

is
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 a

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
th

ir
d
 s

e
c
to

r 
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o

n
s
 t

o
 

h
e
lp

 t
o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

th
e
ir
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
H

C
A

 b
id

s
 a

n
d
 t

o
 w

o
rk

 u
p
 n

e
w

 w
a

y
s
 o

f 
e
n

g
a
g

in
g
 w

it
h
 

p
ri
v
a
te

 o
w

n
e
rs

 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 o

n
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 C

a
ll 

to
 A

c
ti
o
n

 D
a

y
 i
n
 M

a
y

2
0

1
2
.

P
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
 a

re
 a

ls
o
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
e
d

to
 u

s
e

 N
e

w
 H

o
m

e
s
 B

o
n

u
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 e
m

p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

w
o
rk

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 c

re
a
ti
o
n

 o
f 

a
n
 e

m
p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 l
o
a
n
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
ir
d
 s

e
c
to

r 
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o

n
s
 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

d
 s

ta
ff

in
g
 r

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 t
o
 t
a
rg

e
t 
th

o
s
e
 e

m
p
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 o

n
 a

 l
o
c
a
lit

y
 b

y
 l
o
c
a
lit

y
 b

a
s
is

 
th

a
t 

a
re

 b
lig

h
ti
n
g
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 a

re
a
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h

e
 c

it
y
.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
L

e
e
d

s
 H

o
m

e
 I
n

s
u

la
ti

o
n

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
, 
(I

m
p

le
m

e
n

t 
S

o
la

r 
P

V
 S

c
h

e
m

e
s
 

(p
u

b
li
c
 &

 p
ri

v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r)
 &

 G
re

e
n

 D
e
a
l

1
0
,0

0
7

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 i
n
s
ta

lle
d
 i
n
 8

,0
9
8

h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

s
 u

n
d
e
r 

th
e
 W

ra
p
 U

p
 L

e
e
d
s
 

S
c
h
e
m

e
 w

it
h
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

1
0
,7

6
0
 l
o
ft

s
 a

n
d
 c

a
v
it
y
 w

a
lls

in
s
ta

lle
d
 b

y
 5

 o
f 

th
e

 b
ig

 6
 e

n
e
rg

y
 

c
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
, 
m

a
k
in

g
 a

 t
o
ta

l 
o
f 

o
v
e
r 

2
0
,7

6
7
 i
n
s
u
la

ti
o
n

 j
o

b
s
.

N
e
w

 A
c
ti

o
n

s
 (

2
0
1
2

/1
3
 Q

tr
 4

)

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

D
e
li

v
e
r 

w
e
ll

-d
e
s
ig

n
e
d

, 
v

is
u

a
ll

y
-a

p
p

e
a
li
n

g
 a

n
d

 e
n

e
rg

y
-e

ff
ic

ie
n

t 
h

o
u

s
in

g
 (

n
e
w

 a
n

d
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 s

to
c
k
)

in
 t

a
rg

e
t 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 

e
q
u
it
y
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 m
o
d
e
l 

a
t 

S
it
e
 7

 i
n
 E

a
s
t 

L
e
e
d
s
 i

n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 m

a
in

ta
in

 
d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
n
-s

it
e

.

B
e
g

in
 
to

 
d

e
v
e
lo

p
 
a
 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 
A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a

g
e

m
e
n
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 
w

h
ic

h
 
w

ill
 

o
u
tl
in

e
 

p
ri
o
ri

ti
e
s
 

fo
r 

in
c
re

a
s
in

g
 

th
e
 

e
n
e
rg

y
 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 

o
f 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 

s
to

c
k
,

p
a
rt

ic
u

la
rl

y
 t

o
 s

to
c
k
 t

y
p
e
s
 w

h
e
re

 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 a

 h
ig

h
e
r 

in
c
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
fu

e
l 
p

o
v
e
rt

y
.

T
o
 

c
lo

s
e
ly

 
m

o
n
it
o
r 

th
e

 
d

e
liv

e
ry

 
o
f

p
la

n
n
e
d

 
in

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

to
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 

e
n
e
rg

y
 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 o

f 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 d

u
ri
n

g
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
,.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

M
a
in

ta
in

 d
e
c
e
n

t 
h

o
m

e
s
 s

ta
n

d
a

rd
 i
n

 C
o

u
n

c
il
 h

o
u

s
in

g

A
L
M

O
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

2
0
1
3
/1

4
h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 w

it
h
 a

 v
ie

w
 t

o
 

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g

d
e
c
e
n
c
y
 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
t 
9
5
%

.

C
o
n
ti
n
u

e
 t
o
 c

lo
s
e
ly

 m
o
n
it
o
r 

m
o
n
th

ly
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 i
n

 d
e

liv
e
ry

 o
f 

c
a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

S
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
 t

o
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

s
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e
 p

ri
v

a
te

 
s
e
c
to

r 
(p

re
-1

9
1
9
 s

to
c

k
 (

b
a
c
k
-t

o
-b

a
c
k
’s

 a
n

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

e
rr

a
c
e
s
) 

in
 t

a
rg

e
t 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
 t
h
a
t 
d
e

liv
e
r 

d
e
c
e
n
c
y
 a

n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 
s
e
c
to

r 
w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
in

g
 i
n

2
0
1
3

/4
. 

In
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o

d
 I
n
te

rv
e

n
ti
o
n
 

m
o
d
e
l 
to

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 w

o
rs

t 
fi
rs

t 
in

 t
h
e
 P

R
S

 w
ill

 c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e

in
 Q

1
 2

0
1

3
/4

A
 b

id
 t

o
 t
h

e
 H

C
A

 f
o
r 

fu
n
d
s
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 e

m
p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 w

a
s
 m

a
d
e
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
 .
 

W
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 m

a
d
e
 a

w
a
re

 o
f 

it
s
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
y
.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
: 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
L

e
e
d

s
 H

o
m

e
 I
n

s
u

la
ti

o
n

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
, 
(I

m
p

le
m

e
n

t 
S

o
la

r 
P

V
 

S
c
h

e
m

e
s
 (

p
u

b
li
c
 &

 p
ri

v
a
te

 s
e

c
to

r)
 &

 G
re

e
n

 D
e

a
l

L
e
a
d

e
rs

 h
a

v
e
 n

o
w

 a
p
p
ro

v
e

d
 t
h
e

L
C

R
 G

re
e
n
 D

e
a

l 
p
ro

je
c
t 

a
n
d

 a
g
re

e
d
 t

o
 j
o
in

tl
y
 

fu
n
d
 t
h
e
 £

6
0

0
k
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
c
o
s
ts

.
In

d
iv

id
u
a
l 
lo

c
a

l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

re
 n

o
w

 s
ig

n
n
ig

 
th

is
 o

ff
 a

t 
E

x
e
c
 B

o
a
rd

 l
e

v
e

l.
  
P

re
-p

ro
c
u
rm

e
n
t 

w
o
rk

 h
a
s
 n

o
w

 c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 (

s
o
ft

 
m

a
rk

e
t 
te

s
ti
n
g
, 
s
u
p
p

ly
 c

h
a

in
 e

n
g
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p

re
p
a
ra

ti
o
n

 o
f 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
d
o
c
s
) 

w
it
h
 t

a
rg

e
t 

to
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 b

y
 A

p
ri

l 
2

0
1
4
.

A
 t
e

n
d
e
r 

to
 s

e
c
u
re

 a
n
 i
n
te

ri
m

 G
re

e
n
 D

e
a

l 
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

 o
f 

3
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

la
u

n
c
h
e
d
 a

n
d

 e
v
a

lu
a
te

d
 w

it
h
 a

p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
ts

 d
u
e
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
d
e
 i
n
 e

a
rl

y
 M

a
y
 f

o
r 

a
 

J
u
n
e
 s

ta
rt

. 
 T

h
is

 w
ill

 e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

L
e
e

d
s
 b

ri
n
g
s
 i
n
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
E

C
O

 f
u
n

d
in

g
 p

ri
o
r 

to
 

th
e
 L

C
R

 s
c
h
e
m

e
 s

ta
rt

in
g
.

D
a
ta

 D
e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t:

E
n
e
rg

y
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 C

e
rt

if
ic

a
te

 d
a

ta
 h

a
s
 n

o
w

 b
e

e
n
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
d
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

b
in

e
d
 

w
it
h
 d

e
ta

ils
 o

f 
e
lig

ib
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

th
e
 C

a
rb

o
n
 S

a
v
in

g
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 E

C
O

 g
ra

n
t,
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 

ta
rg

e
t 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
a

l 
w

o
rk

.
T

h
is

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

a
n

a
ly

s
e
d
 t
o

 i
d

e
n
ti
fy

 c
lu

s
te

rs
 o

f 
s
y
s
te

m
 b

u
ilt

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 i
n
 A

L
M

O
/P

ri
v
a
te

 o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

 t
h
a

t 
a
re

 m
o
s
t 
lik

e
ly

to
 

a
tt
ra

c
t 
g
o

o
d
 l
e

v
e

ls
 o

f 
E

C
O

 f
u
n
d

in
g
. 

 F
u
n

d
in

g
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
c
u
re

d
 f

ro
m

 D
E

C
C

 i
n
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 L

e
e
d
s
 M

e
t 

U
n
iv

e
rs

it
y
 t

o
 c

o
n

d
u
c
t 
in

te
n

s
iv

e
 t

e
s
ti
n
g
 o

f 
th

e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 

in
te

rv
e

n
ti
o
n
s
 o

n
 t

ra
d
it
io

n
a
l 
b
u

ild
in

g
s
 a

n
d
 e

x
te

n
s
iv

e
 m

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g
 a

c
ro

s
s
 

a
 r

a
n
g

e
 o

f 
a
rc

h
e
ty

p
e
s
.

Page 40



T
h
e

£
1
.2

8
m

 G
re

e
n
 D

e
a
l 
D

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
to

r 
p
ro

je
c
t 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
tr

e
m

e
ly

 c
h

a
lle

n
g
in

g
 a

s
 m

a
n

y
 

o
f 

th
e
 e

s
s
e
n
ti
a

l 
G

D
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
t 
b
e

e
n
 f

u
lly

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
e
d
 b

y
 g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
o
r 

in
d
u
s
tr

y
. 
 

H
o

w
e

v
e
r,

 a
ll 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s
 h

a
v
e
 m

a
d
e
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
. 

 4
 e

m
p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

in
s
u
la

te
d
 t
o
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n

a
l 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
. 
 T

h
e
 l
o
a

n
s
 p

ro
je

c
t 

h
a
s
 a

s
s
ig

n
e
d
 1

2
3
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o

ld
s
 a

n
 

in
s
ta

lle
r.

  
O

f 
th

e
s
e
, 
4

2
 i
rr

e
v
o
c
a
b
le

 l
o
a
n
 l
e
tt

e
rs

 h
a

v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 

2
0
 E

W
I 
jo

b
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

th
e
rm

a
lly

 c
o
m

p
le

te
 a

n
d
 7

 b
o
ile

rs
 i
n
s
ta

lle
d
. 

 T
h
e
re

 a
re

 o
v
e
r 

7
0
0
 c

u
s
to

m
e
rs

 o
n
 t
h
e
 w

a
it
in

g
 

lis
t.

T
h
e
 A

L
M

O
 p

ro
je

c
t 
h
a
s
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 E

P
C

s
 t
o
 1

7
2
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
; 
1

0
4
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 h

a
v
e
 

s
c
a
ff

o
ld

in
g

; 
9
4

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 i
n

s
u
la

te
d
; 
2

3
 d

a
s
h
e
d
 a

n
d

 2
1

 f
u
lly

 c
o
m

p
le

te
.

A
n
 e

x
te

n
s
io

n
 t
o
 

th
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 g
ra

n
te

d
, 

w
it
h
 a

 b
u

d
g
e

t 
o
f 

c
£
4

5
0
k
. 
 T

h
e
 t
o
ta

l 
p
ro

je
c
t 
b
u

d
g

e
t 
h
a
s
 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 t

o
 £

1
.0

5
m

T
h
e
 W

a
rm

 H
o
m

e
s
 H

e
a
lt
h

y
 P

e
o

p
le

(D
o
H

 a
n
d
 N

H
S

) 
a
n

d
 F

u
e

l 
P

o
v
e
rt

y
 F

u
n
d

 (
D

E
C

C
) 

h
a
v
e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
v
e
ly

 s
p
e

n
t 
£

5
1

9
k
 o

n
 f

ro
n
tl
in

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 p

re
v
e
n

t 
th

e
 m

o
s
t 
v
y
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 
p
e
o
p

e
 s

u
ff

e
ri
n
g
 c

o
ld

 r
e
la

te
d
 i
ll 

h
e
a

lt
h
. 

 T
h
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
e

d
 a

 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 o

f
e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
 h

e
a
ti
n

g
 

re
p
a
ir
s

a
n
d
 i
n
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
s
. 
 S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 g

a
th

e
re

d
 a

n
d
 a

 f
in

a
l 
re

p
o
rt

 w
ill

 b
e

 
a
v
a

ila
b

le
 i
n
 M

a
y
.

T
h
e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
v
e
 e

n
e
rg

y
 s

w
it
c
h
 (

C
h
e
a

p
e
r 

E
n
e
rg

y
 T

o
g
e
th

e
r 

-
c
£
4
0
k
 f

ro
m

 D
E

C
C

) 
la

u
n
c
h
e
d
 

in
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 a
n

d
 o

v
e
r 

5
,5

0
0

 p
e
o

p
le

 h
a

v
e
 r

e
g
is

te
re

d
 i
n
te

re
s
t.
  
T

h
e
 c

lo
s
in

g
 d

a
te

 h
a

s
 b

e
e
n
 

e
x
te

n
d

e
d
 t

o
 1

s
t
M

a
y
.

E
q

u
a
li
ty

 
E

q
u

a
li
ty

 F
o

c
u

s
:

Im
p
ro

v
e
 e

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y

E
q

u
a
li
ty

 A
n

a
ly

s
is

: 
M

a
n

y
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o

ld
s
 c

o
n

ta
in

in
g
 p

e
o

p
le

 r
e
c
o
v
e
ri
n

g
 f

ro
m

 l
o
n
g
 

te
rm

 i
lln

e
s
s
, 
d

is
a
b
le

d
 p

e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 p

e
n
s
io

n
e
rs

 c
a
n
 n

o
t 
a

ff
o
rd

 t
o
 h

e
a
t 
th

e
ir
 

h
o
m

e
s
.

E
q

u
a
li
ty

 A
c

ti
o

n
:

In
 e

a
rl

y
 2

0
1
2
 w

e
 s

e
c
u
re

d
 a

n
d
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 a

 g
ra

n
t 

o
f 

£
2
3

2
k
 

fr
o
m

 D
e
p
t 
o
f 

H
e
a
lt
h
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

a
lly

 t
o

 s
u
p
p

o
rt

 v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 p
e
o
p

le
 d

u
ri

n
g
 t

h
e
 w

in
te

r 
m

o
n
th

s
. 
 T

h
e
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 2

6
5
 h

o
u
s
e

h
o

ld
s
 w

it
h
 b

o
ile

r 
re

p
a
ir
s
/r

e
p

la
c
e
m

e
n
ts

; 
p
ro

v
id

e
d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t

o
 9

0
 h

o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e
 G

re
e

n
 D

o
c
to

r 
in

it
ia

ti
v
e

 a
n
d
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 w

in
te

r 
w

a
rm

th
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 v

ia
 3

3
 

fr
o
n
tl
in

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o

n
s
 (

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 f

u
e

l 
b

ill
 a

d
v
ic

e
, 

e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
 b

o
x
e
s
, 

h
o
t 
m

e
a
l 
d
e

liv
e
ry

, 
g
ra

n
t 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

).
  
T

h
is

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 w
a
s
 d

e
s
ig

n
e
d
 t

o
 p

re
v
e

n
t 
th

e
 

m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 f
ro

m
 s

u
ff

e
ri
n
g
 c

o
ld

 r
e
la

te
d
 i
ll-

h
e

a
lt
h
.

W
h

a
t 

w
o

rk
e
d

 l
o

c
a
ll

y
 /

C
a
s

e
 s

tu
d

y
 o

f 
im

p
a

c
t

T
h
e
 t
w

o
 e

m
p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
e
d

 a
s
 s

h
o

w
-h

o
m

e
s
 b

y
 L

a
tc

h
 a

n
d
 C

a
n
o

p
y
 a

re
 b

o
th

 m
a
k
in

g
 g

o
o
d
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
.

R
is

k
s

 a
n

d
 C

h
a
ll

e
n

g
e
s

  
T

h
e
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 f

u
tu

re
 u

n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 o

v
e
r 

fe
e
d
 i
n
 t

a
ri
ff

 p
a

y
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

s
o
la

r 
P

V
 h

a
s
 m

e
a
n
t 
th

a
t 
th

is
 p

ro
je

c
t 

is
 n

o
t 
p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
. 

 

T
h
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u

in
g
 d

e
la

y
 t

o
 g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
c
o
n
fi
rm

in
g
 d

e
ta

ils
 o

f 
th

e
 G

re
e
n
 D

e
a

l 
a

n
d
 E

C
O

 m
e
a
n
 t
h
a

t 
it
’s

 v
e
ry

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 l
e

a
d
 t

o
 a

 p
e
ri

o
d
 o

f 
lo

w
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 i
n
 2

0
1
3
. 

 

T
h
e
 s

h
o
rt

 t
im

e
s
c
a
le

s
 i
n

v
o
lv

e
d
 i
n
 a

ll 
o
f 

th
e
 g

ra
n
ts

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 (

c
£
1
.7

m
 a

w
a
rd

e
d
 s

in
c
e

 t
h
e
 s

ta
rt

 o
f 

O
c
to

b
e
r,

 a
ll 

o
f 

w
h
ic

h
 m

u
s
t 
b
e
 s

p
e
n

t 
b

y
 t
h

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

3
) 

p
re

s
e
n
t 

a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

is
s
u
e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 m

a
y
 l
e
a

d
 t
o

 f
e
w

e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
s
 b

e
in

g
 h

e
lp

e
d
 t

h
a
n
 p

la
n

n
e
d

. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r 

n
o
 p

e
n
a

lt
ie

s
 a

re
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 o

th
e
r 

th
a
n
 t

h
a
t 

u
n
s
p
e

n
t 
fu

n
d
s
 w

ill
 n

e
e
d

 t
o
 b

e
 r

e
tu

rn
e
d

 t
o
 D

E
C

C
. 

T
h
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u

e
d
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 e

m
p
ty

 h
o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 n

e
w

 h
o

m
e
s
 b

o
n
u
s
 c

o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 n

e
w

 C
o

u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 c

h
a
n
g

e
s

in
tr

o
d
u
c
e

d
 i
n
 A

p
ri

l 
2
0
1
3

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



2012/13 Directorate Scorecard Reporting Period :

Directorate Priorities Progress Summary Overall Progress Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Executive Portfolio

Deliver the Housing and Regeneration Board City 

Priority Plan 

The Housing & Regeneration Board Partnership Plan review is underway 

and is intended to reach agreement on either a method for identifying an 

annual adjusted housing target or a set figure applicable to each year of 

the plan.

↔

Improve energy efficiency in public and private sector 

homes

10,007 measures have been installed in 8,098 households under the 

Wrap Up Leeds Scheme with another 10,760 lofts and cavity walls 

installed by 5 of the big 6 energy companies, making a total of over 20,767 

insulation jobs. 

Green

15000 (all 

energy 

efficiency 

measures)

3029 5624 (cum)
9,518 (wrap 

up Leeds)

20,767 city-

wide all 

sectors 

(10,007 wrap 

up Leeds)

Environment

Neighbourhoods, 

Planning and 

Support Services / 

Development and 

the Economy

500

(TBC)
114

30

(144 

Cumulative)

138

(282 

Cumulative)

Quarter 4 2012-13

Not Applicable

Supporting Measures

Identify targets for new housing and strategies to 

support their delivery ↔ Increase the number of affordable homes built per year

78

(360 

Cumulative)

Increase number of improved energy efficiency installations in 

houses (both public and privately owned)

The Housing Investment Team continue to work on wider strategies linked 

to housing growth in the city, including the use of commuted sums, Right to 

Buy receipts and the New Homes Bonus as well as work with developers 

and housing associations. 

Proactive work is progressing with Planning to drive housing growth using 

the Core Strategy and Interim Affordable Housing Policy however, the 

number of affordable homes delivered in 2012/13 did not meet the target 

of 500, this is due to following;  fewer Firstbuy completions that initially 

expected;  Leeds was unable to count any Newbuy completions within 

these figures as these are not counted locally or by the HCA so 

unavailable, and completion dates for two S106 schemes and one RP 

lead scheme falling into 2013/14.

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\8\4\AI00043483\$wuezyihr.xls

P
age 43



P
age 44

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board 

Date: 25th June 2013 

Subject: Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 
strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond 
to issues of high public interest. 

 
2. This report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work and areas 

of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.  In consultation with the relevant 
Director(s), Executive Board Member(s) and Partnership Chair, the Scrutiny Board is 
requested to consider and confirm the areas of Scrutiny for the forthcoming municipal 
year. 

 
Recommendation 
 
3. Members are requested to use the attached information and the discussion with 

those present at the meeting to:  
 

(i) confirm the areas of Scrutiny for the forthcoming municipal year 
(ii) authorise the Chair, in conjunction with officers, to draw up inquiry terms of 

reference for subsequent approval by the Scrutiny Board. 
 
 

 

 

 Report author:  Richard Mills 

Tel:  2474557 

Agenda Item 10

Page 45



 

1.0 Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To assist the Scrutiny Board in effectively managing its workload for the forthcoming 

municipal year, this report provides information and guidance on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.   

 
2.0 Background information 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 

strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond 
to issues of high public interest. 

 
2.2 The alignment of the Scrutiny Boards to the Strategic Partnership Boards continues 

to promote a more strategic and outward looking scrutiny function that focuses on 
the City Priorities, as set out within the City Priority Plan 2011 to 2015. 

 
2.3 The City Priority Plan was established to replace the Leeds Strategic Plan.  This city-

wide partnership plan summarises the key outcomes and priorities to be delivered by 
the Council, and its partners, over the next 4 years.  As such they are the “must-do” 
priorities or “obsessions” for each partnership and may be supported by more 
detailed action plans as the partnerships sees fit. 

 
3.0  Main issues 
 
 Alignment with the Strategic Partnership Boards 
 
3.1 As set out within its terms of reference, this Scrutiny Board is authorised to review or 

scrutinise the performance of the Housing and Regeneration Board.  In doing so, the 
Scrutiny Board will review outcomes, targets and priorities within the Business Plan 
and “Best City….to live” priorities, as set out within the City Priority Plan.  These 
priorities are as follows: 

 

• Maximise regeneration investment to increase housing choice and affordability 
within sustainable neighbourhoods 

• Enable growth of the city whilst protecting the distinctive green character of the 
city 

• Improve housing conditions and energy efficiency 
 
3.2 The current Council Business Plan 2011 to 2015 was refreshed in 2012 to update 

targets but it was agreed that it would be more formally reviewed after two years. 
This review has now been undertaken, including consultation with the Resources 
and Councils Services Scrutiny Board in April 2013.  The new Best Council Business 
Plan 2013-17 is to be considered by the Executive Board on 19th June 2013 prior to 
its approval at Full Council.  A copy of the draft new Best Council Business Plan is 
attached as Appendix 1for the Board’s attention .  

 
3.3 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, the Scrutiny Board will also continue 

to act as ‘critical friend’ to the Housing and Regeneration Strategic Partnership 
Board.  In line with this approach, the Scrutiny Board will assess how well the 
Partnership is working in practice.  However, in determining items of scrutiny work 

Page 46



 

this year, the Scrutiny Board is also encouraged to explore how it can add value to 
the work of the Partnership in delivering on the city priorities. 

 
 Other sources of Scrutiny work 
 
3.4 As well as the focus on partnership scrutiny, Scrutiny Boards have and will continue 

to challenge service directorates. The Scrutiny Boards’ terms of reference are 
determined by reference to Directors’ delegations. 

 
3.5 The Scrutiny Board may therefore undertake pieces of scrutiny work in line with its 

terms of reference, as considered appropriate.  Such pieces of work may arise from 
the Scrutiny Board’s performance monitoring role.  However, other common sources 
include requests for scrutiny and other corporate referrals. 

 
 Areas of Scrutiny work brought forward from the previous year 
 
3.6 Last year, the Scrutiny Board considered the development of the brownfield land 

programme and agreed to continue to monitor progress of its implementation in 
2013/14. 

 
3.7   The Scrutiny Board considered a report in April 2013 on the potential devolution of 

funding to the Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership by Government in 
response to the Lord Heseltine review. The Board agreed to consider this matter 
further following the Government’s announcement in its spending review on 26th June 
2013 as to its proposals for devolution and the Local Enterprise bidding process for 
funding.   

 
3.8 The Scrutiny Board agreed that in 2013/14 it should undertake an inquiry on student 

accommodation in the city. 
 
 Utilising the Leeds Census as a valuable data source 
 
3.9 The Census is a vital planning tool for both the public and private sectors and the 

data that is derived from it is an essential element in intelligence led decision making.  
Such data also helps to build a comprehensive picture of conditions in localities and 
helps identify the critical issues facing neighbourhoods. 

 
3.10 The last Census took place on 27th March 2011.  It was conducted on a resident 

basis and the statistics relate to where people usually live, rather than where they 
were on Census night.  Students who were studying away from home during the 
terms were enumerated at their term-time address. 

 
3.11 The “Leeds: The Big Picture” report was considered by the Scrutiny Board in 

February 2013 which provides a factual analysis of the data produced from the 2011 
Census.  It compares the data for Leeds to the averages for England and Wales and, 
where possible, includes comparisons to information from the 2011 Census.  This 
report is available on the Leeds Observatory under the “Resources and Documents” 
section (http:/www.westyorkshireobservatory.org/Leeds). 

 
3.12 To complement the “Leeds: The Big Picture” report, an additional document has also 

been produced based on Census data published by the Office for National Statistics 

Page 47



 

on 30th January 2013.  The “2011 Census: Comparing the results across Leeds” 
document focusses on the comparisons between the ten Area Committees in Leeds, 
but also makes reference to the results by electoral ward and Lower Super Output 
Area to further demonstrate the extent of the differences across the city at the small 
area level.  A copy of this report was also considered by the Scrutiny Board in 
February but is attached again to this report as a valuable data source (Appendix 2). 

 
4.0 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 It is recognised that in order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, 
each Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Director(s) and 
Executive Board Member(s) holding the relevant portfolios and also the Partnership 
Chair. 

4.1.2 The Executive Board Members for Neighbourhoods, Planning and Support Services 
and Development and Economy have been invited to attend today’s meeting. The 
Directors of Environment and Neighbourhoods and City Development will be 
attending today’s meeting.   

 
4.1.3 Also attached for Members consideration are the latest Executive Board minutes 

(Appendix 3). 
 
4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration. 

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules now state that, where appropriate, all terms of 
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to 
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all 
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.  

4.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a more strategic and outward 
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the City Priorities.  This particular Scrutiny 
Board is authorised to review or scrutinise the performance of the Housing and 
Regeneration Partnership Board.  In doing so, the Scrutiny Board will review 
outcomes, targets and priorities within the Business Plan and “Best City….for living” 
priorities, as set out within the City Priority Plan.   

 

4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 Over the last few years of Scrutiny Board work, experience has shown that the  
process is more effective and adds greater value if the Board seeks to minimise the 
number of substantial inquiries running at one time and focus its resources on one 
key issue at a time.    

 
4.4.2 Before deciding to undertake an inquiry, the Scrutiny Board is advised to consider 

the current workload of the Scrutiny Board and the available resources to carry out 
the work.    

 
 
 

Page 48



 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 
 
4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications. 
 
4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 

5.0 Conclusions 

5.1 Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 
strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond 
to issues of high public interest.  This report provides information and guidance on 
potential sources of work and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.  
In consultation with the relevant Director(s), Executive Board Member(s) and 
Partnership Chair, the Scrutiny Board is requested to consider and confirm the areas 
of Scrutiny for the forthcoming municipal year. 

 
6.0 Recommendations 
 
6.1 Members are requested to use the attached information and the discussion with 

those present at the meeting to:  
 

(i) confirm the areas of Scrutiny for the forthcoming municipal year 
(ii) authorise the Chair, in conjunction with officers, to draw up inquiry terms of 

reference for subsequent approval by the Scrutiny Board. 
 

7.0 Background papers1 

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th June 2013 

Subject: Best Council Plan 2013-17 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

The current Council Business Plan 2011 to 2015 sets out our strategic priorities and 
targets.  This was refreshed in 2012 to update targets but it was agreed that it would be 
more formally reviewed after two years.  This review has been undertaken and changes 
are brought forward to Executive Board for their approval prior to going to Full Council.  
This recognises that the context we operate in has changed significantly over the past 2 
years and as a result, therefore, the Council Business Plan also needs to change.  The 
findings of the commission have also been used to further develop and shape our best 
council ambition in line with becoming a more enterprising council.  The key changes for 
the Board to note are: 
 
• Adoption of a “less is more” approach which has reduced the number of priorities and 

indicators to provide a clearer focus for the organisation on what is important.  Service 
plans across the organisation will continue to be used to capture and monitor the wider 
actions and activities. 

• In line with this a small set of Best Council Objectives form the central part to the new 
plan to provide some real clarity and focus for the whole council over the next 4 years.  
These effectively bring together key elements of the medium term financial plan and 
annual budget, the people plan, service priorities, our contribution to the outcomes in 
the city priority plan and organisational development activities in a more coherent and 
joined up way.   

• The plan more clearly sets out what we want to achieve over the medium term ie by 
Mar 2017 as well as setting out for the first time what we will do over the coming year 
(2013/14) to enable clearer monitoring of our progress.  

APPENDIX 1 

Report author:  Heather Pinches 

Tel:  274638 

Page 51



 

 

• Implementation of a more rolling approach to strategic planning with an annual review 
of activities for the year ahead.  This will mean that the plan is more flexible and 
responsive. 

• Changing the name to the Best Council Plan to better reflect our ambition in this area. 

Recommendations 

Executive Board are recommended to: 
 
• Approve the Best Council Plan 2013-17 and recommend that Members of Full Council 

approve the plan at their meeting on 1st July 2013; 
• recommend to Members of Full Council that Executive Board be authorised to make 

“in-year” amendments to these plans as may be required;  
• approve the revisions to the Equality Improvement Priorities; and 
• authorise the Deputy Chief Executive to complete the plans with any outstanding 

information prior to their submission for approval to Full Council on 1st July 2013. 
 

Page 52



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report brings to Executive Board a new Best Council Plan 2013-17, to 
replace the current Council Business Plan 2011- 15, for approval prior to going to 
Full Council.  It is important that the Council’s strategic plans remain up-to-date, 
continue to reflect the main challenges, are relevant to the changing financial 
context and in light of this also include the right level of ambition for the people of 
Leeds.. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The Best Council Plan 2013-17 aims to set out the strategic priorities for the 
council.  It replaces the Council Business Plan 2011-15 following a mid-term 
review which recognised the significant change in the context for local 
government such that a new planning approach was needed.  The financial 
challenge is key with the need for a clearer focus on what we do as well a change 
in the culture of how we work.   

2.2 The 2012-13 performance report for the current City Priority and Council Business 
Plans is on the same agenda and this performance position also provides further 
context for the new plan. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Since agreeing the Council Business Plan the context for local government has 
changed dramatically with significant budget cuts and rising demand for public 
services.  Alongside a central Government agenda of devolving power to 
individuals and communities, increasing choice and providing opportunities for 
local people to run their own services.   

3.2 As a response to these challenges Leeds initiated and led a Commission on the 
Future of Local Government 2012 which sought to examine the role of local 
government in the 21st century.  Central to the work of the commission was the 
concept of ‘civic enterprise’.  This is a new leadership style for local government 
where councils become more innovative and enterprising, business and other 
partners becomes more civic and communities become more engaged.  The 
findings of the commission have been used to further develop and shape our best 
council ambition in line with becoming a more enterprising council.  For examples 
the propositions from the commission have been used these to shape the plan in 
the following ways: 

• Becoming civic entrepreneurs - eg shared leadership and values, strong 
democratic role, outcomes focus and working with communities  

• Stimulating jobs, homes and good growth - eg using the core strategy to 
good effect, and the Apprenticeship Training Academy to generate jobs 

• Establishing 21st Century infrastructure - eg physical, social or digital 
infrastructure, such as super-fast broadband, wrap up Leeds, neighbourhood 
networks 

Page 53



 

 

• Devising a new social contract - eg locality working and area committees, 
community engagement, mitigating impact of Welfare Reform, family group 
conferencing and other restorative approaches 

• Making the most of devolution - eg City Deals and Local Enterprise 
Partnership  

3.3 A new medium term financial plan (2013-17) has been developed alongside the 
budget for 2013-14 which will enable us to invest in our priorities as well as 
securing significant savings.  As part of this the council has identified a number of 
programmes of work that are essential to ensuring our financial security in the 
medium to long term.  Some of these programme also deliver our contribution to 
improving outcomes more directly for the public as well as embedding a civic 
enterprise approach.  Others focus more on future proofing the council through a 
mixture of “enablers” that change culture and ways of working to create a fit for 
purpose structure and asset base or are more simply about spending less or 
generating more income. 

3.4 In light of all these changes it is important that the plan continues to be fit for 
purpose and enables our leaders to focus on what is most important in order to 
drive the radical change that is needed.  The draft Best Council Plan is set out in 
appendix 1 with the key changes set out below: 

• Adoption of a “less is more” approach which has substantially reduced the 
number of priorities and indicators to provide a clearer focus for the 
organisation on what is important.  Service plans across the organisation will 
continue to be used to capture and monitor the wider actions and activities.   

• In line with this a small set of Best Council Objectives form the central part to 
the new plan to provide some real clarity and focus for the whole council over 
the next 4 years.  These effectively bring together key elements of the 
medium term financial plan and annual budget, the people plan, service 
priorities, business improvement programmes, our contribution to the 
outcomes in the city priority plan and organisational development activities in 
a more coherent and joined up way.   

• The plan more clearly sets out what we want to achieve over the medium 
term ie by Mar 2017 as well as setting out for the first time what we will do 
over the coming year (2013/14) to enable clearer monitoring of our progress.  

• Implementation of a more rolling approach to strategic planning with an 
annual review of activities for the year ahead.  This will mean that the plan is 
more flexible and responsive. 

• Changing the name to the Best Council Plan to better reflect our ambition in 
this area.   

3.5 By having a more focused Business Plan more reliance is placed on Service 
Plans within Directorates.  These have been reviewed to cover the period 2013-15 
to ensure that they include all the key priorities and performance measures, these 
will be monitored by within directorates throughout the year and used to directly 
inform appraisals.  These will continue to be published on Insite and updated with 
progress throughout the year.  

Page 54



 

 

3.6 The Best Council Plan remains an important element of the overall planning 
framework and these linkages are set out within the draft plan itself.  In particular 
the link to the City Priority Plan is important.  The CPP sets out our Best City 
ambitions, ie those shared with our partners, in terms of outcomes and priorities 
along with the indicators we use to measure our success.  These are delivered 
and performance managed by the 5 city partnerships many of whom have also 
developed a broader strategy/plan that sets out the wider range of 
outcomes/priorities.  The role of the Best Council Plan is, therefore, to set out the 
council’s main contribution to these shared outcomes. 

3.7 One of the key element of the new plan is the Enabling Corporate Centre project  
with a central aim of supporting our political and officer leadership in promoting 
the strategic direction for the council and the city.   

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The development of this plan has been subject to consultation with a range of 
stakeholders including the Best Council Leadership Team, Corporate Leadership 
Team, key officers and Portfolio holders.  Furthermore, and perhaps more 
significantly the budget for 2013/14 and the medium term financial plan was 
informed by an extensive consultation process with the public and other key 
stakeholders.  This identified spending priorities as well as endorsing the 
proposals put forward by the council for delivering the budget reductions eg 
reducing our asset base and charging for services.   

4.1.2 The Best Council Plan forms part of the budget and policy framework and in line 
with the procedure rules the initial proposals for the plan were also subject to 
further member consultation through the Resources and Council Services 
Scrutiny Board.  Key feedback received from this Board is set out in appendix 2 
alongside the response and changes made. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 A screening process has been undertaken on the new plan to look at how 
equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is relevant to, and addressed within, 
the new plan and is provided as a background document.  Overall good 
assurance is provided that due regard for equality has been given, or is planned, 
for the objectives and priorities within the Best Council Plan 2013-17.  In a small 
number of areas (listed below) due regard has not yet been given as these are 
new priorities which are currently being scoped and developed and are, therefore, 
not yet at the stage where impacts can be assessed.  However, it should be noted 
that in all cases officers are aware of the requirement to do this and have plans in 
place to give due regard at an appropriate time: 

• Developing a coherent approach to tackling poverty - this is likely to 
encompass a wide range of work and it is also likely that in many cases  
arrangements for due regard will already be in place eg recent welfare 
changes.  Also by its very nature this is about addressing inequalities but 
when developed a screening process needs to ensure that there are not 
outstanding gaps.  

Page 55



 

 

• Asset Rationalisation Plan - whilst due regard has been given for relevant 
policies like the Community Asset Transfer policy further due regard will 
need to be given as more specific proposals are developed. 

• Public Health - as this has only just transferred to the council public health 
is continuing to use existing process for giving due regard but will transfer to 
using the council’s policies and procedures over time. 

• Income, charging and trading - due regard will need to be given once 
specific proposals have been developed in this area to ensure decision 
makers are clear about the potential impacts on different groups. 

• Organisational change programmes (inc Enabling Corporate Centre, 
Business Management and implementation of organisational design 
principles) - again many of these are still being developed and due regard 
will need to be given as more specific proposals are identified.  Staff 
Equality Networks will need to be consulted as appropriate with impacts 
continuing to be monitored through the People Plan Equality Scorecard. 
 

4.2.2 Related to this we have an agreed set of Equality Improvement Priorities 2011-15 
which set out a number of specific equality objectives building upon priorities in 
the existing City Priority Plan and Council Business Plan.  As a result of the 
changes to the Best Council Plan the related Equality Improvement Priorities have 
been reviewed and a number of changes proposed.  The revised Equality 
Improvement Priorities are set out in appendix 3 and are brought to the Board for 
approval.  Key changes are: 

• Adult Social Care equality improvement priorities have been re-aligned to 
the Better Lives programme 

• Revised wording for cultural and sporting priority to “Increase participation 
in Leeds’ cultural and sporting opportunities” 

4.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 This report bring to Executive Board an update on the council’s priorities which 
ensures that these remain up-to-date and continue to reflect the most important 
issues.   

4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 One of the main aims of the Best Council Plan is to enable the council to deliver 
the medium term financial plan and as such the resource implications are 
reflected there.  The adoptions of a more rolling approach to business plan will 
enable better linkage between the annual budget setting and the business 
planning process. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no specific legal implications, all information within this report is 
available to the public and it is exempt from call in as it is a decision made within 
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.    

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 The corporate and directorate risk registers are subject to regular review to 
ensure that they reflect the priorities within the current strategic plans as well as 

Page 56



 

 

risk arising from other sources.  The Risk Management Policy and processes 
ensure that the key risks associated with the priorities in these plans are 
appropriately risk assessed.  Once the new plan is agreed a cross check will be 
done to ensure that key risks are included as appropriate.  Supporting 
performance and risk reporting arrangements will also be reviewed in light of the 
new plan. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 The past few years have seen significant changes to the context in which we are 
working including the general economic climate, government spending cuts, 
significant policy changes and increasing demands on our services.  In light of 
these changes it is recognised that our strategic plans also need to change and a 
review of the Council Business Plan 2011-15 has been undertaken.  This report 
brings the revised plan to Executive Board for approval and also proposes that it 
is renamed the Best Council Plan 2013-17 to better reflect our ambition to be the 
best council in the UK.   

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board are recommended to: 

• approve the Best Council Plan 2013-17 and recommend that Members of 
Full Council approve the plan at their meeting on 1st July 2013; 

• recommend to Members of Full Council that Executive Board be authorised 
to make “in-year” amendments to these plans as may be required;  

• approve the revisions to the Equality Improvement Priorities set out in 
appendix 3; and 

• authorise the Deputy Chief Executive to complete the plans with any 
outstanding information prior to their submission for approval to Full Council 
on 1st July 2013. 

7 Background documents1  

None 

 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 57



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

Appendix 1 - Draft Plan  

 

 

Best Council Plan 

2013 – 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leeds City Council 

June 2013 

 

Page 58



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

Foreword  

The wider context for local government remains challenging with the toughest financial 
settlement for decades; the continuing economic downturn; major policy reforms in 
welfare, education and health; a growing city and increasing demands for services.  It 
would be very easy to become distracted but here in Leeds we have forged a different 
path.  Instead, we have looked forward and led a national Commission on the Future of 
Local Government.  This proposed an ambitious and positive vision of the future of local 
democracy, with ward councillors at its heart as community champions.  It set out three 
key roles for councils: a new social contract between councils and citizens around 
service provision, an economic role to help stimulate jobs and an environmental one to 
build new 21st Century infrastructure - from superfast broadband to public green 
spaces.  The commission also recognised the need to continue to seek more powers 
from Whitehall to enable us to shape our own destiny. 
This adds up to a very exciting blueprint to bring to life what we mean by becoming the 
best council in the best city in the UK.  This plan - the Best Council Plan - is another 
important step to make this vision a reality.  It sets out what we will do over the next few 
years to improve the quality of life for our citizens, especially those that are poor or 
vulnerable, make it easier for people to do business with us and achieve the savings 
needed to meet the financial challenges.  In developing this plan we can also reflect on 
some of the successes we have achieved over the past year like completing the 
construction of a world leading new Arena; the opening of the Trinity shopping centre - 
the largest of its kind to open in Europe in 2013 - bringing over 4,000 jobs; securing the 
Tour the France and Rugby League World Cup; increasing the number of young people 
who have jobs or are in education or training; enabling more children to remain safely at 
home with their families; supporting more people with social care needs to live 
independently and have control over their care; increasing recycling; and reducing 
burglary to unprecedented low levels.  All this at the same time as we delivered 
significant savings in our budget - with local government continuing to be by far the 
most efficient area of the public sector. 
The message from our commission is that all of this is possible despite the cuts, but 
only if we all pull together and make sure that this council is run to enable front line 
services to achieve the outcomes the people of Leeds need.  We are all going to need 
to work differently and consider new ideas that ensure quality services can be offered to 
people.  We need to make the people of Leeds proud of their council and I know with 
your continued help and commitment we can do it. 

 
Cllr Keith Wakefield (Leader of the Council) 
 
Tom Riordan (Chief Executive) 

Page 59



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

Best Council Plan 2013-17 - towards being an enterprising council 

Our ambition and approach 

Our Ambition is for Leeds to be the best city and Leeds City Council to be the best council in the UK 
– fair, open and welcoming with an economy that is both prosperous and sustainable so all our 
communities are successful.   

Our Approach is to adopt a new leadership style of civic enterprise, where the council becomes 
more enterprising, businesses and partners become more civic, and citizens become more actively 
engaged in the work of the city.  

Our best council outcomes 

• Improve the quality of life for our residents, particularly for those who are vulnerable or in poverty; 

• Make it easier for people to do business with us; and 
• Achieve the savings and efficiencies required to continue to deliver frontline services.  
Our best council objectives 

Building a child 
friendly city – 
improving outcomes for 
children and families.  
With a focus on: 

• our 3 partnership 
'obsessions' (looked 
after children, 
NEET's2 and 
attendance) 

• raising educational 
standards and 
narrowing the gap 
for vulnerable 
groups  

• ensuring enough 
school places as the 
city grows   

Dealing effectively 
with the city’s waste – 
minimising waste in a 
growing city.  With a 
focus on: 

• ensuring a safe, 
efficient and reliable 
waste collection 
service 

• providing a long 
term solution for 
disposing of our 
waste 

• increasing recycling 
• reducing landfill tax 

costs 
 

Promoting 
sustainable and 
inclusive economic 
growth - improving the 
economic wellbeing of 
local people and 
businesses.  With a 
focus on: 

• helping people into 
jobs, 

• boosting the local 
economy, 

• providing housing as 
the city grows  

• getting people active 
• generating income 

for the council 
 

Delivery of Better 
Lives programme – 
helping local people 
with care and support 
needs to enjoy better 
lives.  With a focus on: 

• giving choice  
• helping people to 

stay living at home 

• joining up health and 
social care services 

• creating the right 
housing, care and 
support 

 

Ensuring high quality public services – improving quality, efficiency and involving people in 
shaping their city.  With a focus on: 

• tackling poverty 
• getting services right first time 

• improving customer satisfaction 

• improving roads 

• tackling domestic violence 

• improving public health 

• improving housing 
 

Becoming an efficient and enterprising council - streamlining ways of working and developing our 
people.  With a focus on: 

• encouraging an enterprising culture and 
behaviours 

• developing a flexible workforce 
• maximising income and trading 

• reducing costs and improving value for money 

• improving commissioning and procurement 

• introducing flatter simpler staffing structures 

• reducing office space 
• rolling out flexible, mobile working, simpler 

processes and using technology better 

• encouraging volunteering and social enterprise 

Our values: underpinning all that we do 

Working as a 
team for Leeds 

Being open, 
honest and 
trusted 

Working with 
communities 

Treating people 
fairly 

Spending money 
wisely 

                                            
2
 Young people who are not in education, employment or training 

Page 60



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

Introduction 

Leeds has an ambition to become the best city in the UK – fair, open and welcoming 
with an economy that is both prosperous and sustainable so all our communities are 
successful.   
 
This is a challenge that requires a clear focus on what we do as well a change in the 
culture of how we work. The Commission on the Future of Local Government set out a 
new leadership style of civic enterprise. This is where the council becomes more 
enterprising, businesses and partners become more civic, and citizens become more 
actively engaged in the work of the city. The council will become smaller in size but 
bigger in influence, with the democratic mandate of members extended.  
 
This ambition is set against an increasingly challenging environment.  We, like many 
other cities, are still dealing with the impact of the global financial crisis, alongside 
changes to policy like the reform of the welfare system and reductions in public sector 
spending.  The challenging economic conditions combine with a growing and aging 
population to increase demand for our services.  Add to this the tough funding 
reductions from Government, and we need a new approach that is innovative, 
engaging, responsive and outcome-focused. 

 

Current position  

We have achieved a great deal in difficult circumstances since we published our last 
Council Business Plan in 2011. We have made progress with our partners, in improving 
the lives of the people of Leeds against city–wide priorities (see annex A); realised 
significant financial savings; reduced our workforce, without a day lost to industrial 
action; continued to bring investment into the city and improve infrastructure (with more 
planned); built strong partner relationships and a diverse third sector; and most 
important we have a committed workforce increasingly being driven by the council 
values.  Add to this our leading role in the collaborative work across the wider city 
region and North, we are well placed to seize the opportunities offered through 
increased devolution.  
 
Some highlights of achievement from our last Council Business Plan are:   

• The economic infrastructure of the city has seen significant investment – the 
Arena, the Trinity shopping centre, HS2, the Apprenticeship Training Agency, 
City Deal; 

• The profile and reputation of the city continues to develop positively, with a 
successful programme of events around Olympics and Paralympics. More 
recently the city secured the Grand Depart of the Tour de France in 2014 which 
is the biggest annual sporting event in the world; 

• Leeds remains on target to continue to reduce time older people spend in 
residential and nursing care homes supported by the local authority – thus 
lengthening the time people stay in their own homes in the community; 

• Outcomes for children and families are improving with educational standards, 
including school attendance, the highest ever recorded in the city.  More young 
people are engaged in learning and training post-16 and there are on-going 
reductions in the need for children to enter local authority care with children 
remaining safely with their families; 

Page 61



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

• Recycling rates continue to improve and are the highest ever for the city and the 
delivery of a sustainable waste solution took a step forward with funding secured 
and planning permission granted; 

• The council is increasingly values driven in its culture and ways of working with 
the continued robust financial planning and management. Since 2010/11 the 
grant from Government has reduced by £94m and we have continued to balance 
the budget at the end of each year.   
 

City and council context  

Leeds is the second largest metropolitan local authority in England covering an area of 
552 square kilometres.  It is an area of great contrasts. It includes a densely populated, 
inner city area with associated challenges of poverty and deprivation, as well as a more 
affluent suburban and rural hinterland with villages and market towns.  The most recent 
census (2011) indicates that Leeds has a population of 751,500 people living in 
320,600 households, representing a 5% growth since the last census of 2001.  Leeds 
has a relatively young and dynamic population and is an increasingly diverse city with 
over 140 ethnic groups including black, Asian and other minority ethnic populations 
representing almost 19% of the total population compared to 11% in 2001. 
  
In terms of the economy, Leeds has over 24,000 VAT registered businesses, with an 
estimated 445,000 people working in the city, a workforce projected to grow by over 
10% in the next decade.  Leeds is by far the largest centre of economic activity in the 
region, the total value of the economy is estimated to be £18bn per annum (GVA).  We 
have a renewed focus on our inward investment and work to raise the profile of the city, 
through Leeds and Partners, and the recently published One Voice: One Ambition, a 
city proposition which offers great potential.  
 
Leeds City Council has 99 councillors, three for each of 33 designated areas of Leeds 
known as electoral wards. The city is represented in government by eight MPs.  The 
council employs approximately 12,500 people and spends almost £2 billion (2013/14) 
each year to deliver hundreds of different services both directly and with our partners.  
 
The size of the city means that the scale of service delivery by the council is also 
considerable with 3000 km of roads to clean and maintain; over two million bin 
collections per month; 4000 hectares of parks/green space to look after; around 22,100 
of over 65s in need of formal social care services; just under 70,000 tenants in 58,000 
council houses, more than 260 schools and approximately 180,000 children and young 
people, of which we look after almost 1,400 as corporate parents.   

 

Realising our best council ambition: towards being an enterprising council 

We have a clear vision based on civic enterprise developed through our leading role in 
the work of the Commission on the Future of Local Government. This vision, despite the 
unprecedented challenges facing us, provides a positive outlook and a route to respond 
to the financial cuts without compromising our ambitions. The vision places significant 
value on public service, employee engagement and trades union relations; broadens 
the mandate for locally elected members, because they are valued for being the voice 
of the community and improving the lives of local people; and develops a different kind 
of council, that is smaller in size but bigger in influence. Taken together, the following 

Page 62



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

five propositions about the future role of local government is a powerful combination to 
enable us to become more enterprising.  
 
We are encouraging civic entrepreneurs within the council and the city. These are 
people, from any walk of life, who see a challenge and work with others to tackle it in a 
sustainable way. For example: identifying opportunities rather than problems; 
developing innovative solutions to financial constraints; and, using social and digital 
media for dynamic results rather than more traditional approaches. We want to enable 
civic entrepreneurs to flourish because we need everyone to fulfil their potential and 
play a role to help achieve the shared ambitions. Community leaders, interest groups, 
councillors and colleagues are seizing the opportunity and making a difference. Within 
the council, our focus on values and behaviour - team-work, transparency, fairness, 
community focus and value for money - will continue as a way to release the potential 
talent we have and empower it to contribute in a civic enterprise way. It will require 
flatter and simpler structures, so that decision-making and action is closer to the 
customer and communities. It will demand a more outcome than service focus on 
problems, in order that people can work better together towards solutions. For 
members, the area lead member role, with more influence, is important. For officers, 
this will mean, a continued focus on our calls to action - quality communications, quality 
appraisals, keeping within budget, and being innovative.  

 
We are using our democratic leadership and key delivery partner role, in the city and 
beyond, to stimulate jobs, homes and economic growth. This is crucial because of 
the challenges we face, the changing structure of local government finance and the 
policy direction around economic growth. We will encourage socially responsible 
growth, as an antidote to the welfare changes and put it at the heart of our anti-poverty 
drive. We already have significant infrastructure developments underway that are being 
very actively promoted and supported by the council. These aim to provide employment 
for local people and are engaged with local communities.  More widely we are working 
with local employers to maximise employment opportunities for young people, the 
establishment of the Apprenticeship Training Agency is key to this. We are taking a 
different approach with our Core Strategy to ensure that there is wider ownership of the 
approach to site allocation and that we have the capacity to enable the number of new 
homes that are needed in the city.  We are working with Leeds and Partners to raise the 
profile of the city as a place to invest and visit. 

 
We are working with others to stimulate innovation to help establish 21st century 
infrastructure – for example, physical, social, digital infrastructure – that will be valued 
by future generations. We need to think differently about what the new utilities of the 
future will be, for example viewing individuals, families and communities as a central 
part of the solution. We already have ultrafast broadband through Interconnected Cities, 
jointly with Bradford. We have work underway on New Generation Transport – being 
the first UK city to get a modern trolleybus system; HS2, including a brand new station; 
a more strategic approach to transport investment as part of the new City Deal; the 
advanced manufacturing health hub; our approach to improving household energy 
efficiency and district heating; and the development of a new residual waste treatment 
facility which will recycle over half of all household waste by 2016. 

 
We are working with individuals, families and communities to co-create a different 
relationship and devise a new social contract to work with people rather than simply 

Page 63



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

deliver services to them, so that families and individuals can access co-ordinated, 
effective, care and support. This will help reduce reliance on services where it is not 
needed and ensure quality responsive provision to the most vulnerable. We are 
empowering communities, families and individuals to plan and prepare for their future, 
to reach out to those around them who may need support that best enables them to 
meet their goals and aspirations. In children’s services, we are using family group 
conferencing and restorative practice more generally to change our approach. 
Developing the way area committees and local members fulfil their role in relation to 
outcomes and services is another example of where this proposition can help us shape 
the future.   
 
We are working collaboratively with others to make the most of devolution and 
demonstrate that we are deserving of more powers to make a difference locally. Leeds 
has very close links with its neighbours, the wider city-region is a functioning economic 
area, defined by the way our businesses operate and our residents live their lives.  
Covering all of West Yorkshire and stretching into York, North and South Yorkshire, it 
has a common labour market, patterns of commuting, economic activity and housing.  
The city-region is the largest in the UK outside London. It is home to three million 
people, 100,000 businesses and generates 5% of national economic output. The City 
Deal Combined Authority, regional and devolved transport and infrastructure funding 
are all components of this work as would any future city deal arrangements be. 
 
These propositions are interlinked and overlapping. They do not provide detailed 
answers but do provide a stimulus to think and act differently. Through the life of the 
Best Council Plan, we will expect language, behaviours and actions to be different as 
we lift our horizons to focus on outcomes. We will challenge ourselves more to be 
innovative and take risks in order to achieve our ambitions.  We will also expect 
businesses, partners, the third sector and the public to make their contribution.   
 

Our best council outcomes and objectives 2013-2017 

 

Drawing our intended direction together we have agreed three best council outcomes 
that will drive our priorities over the next four years: 

1. Improve the quality of life for our residents, particularly for those who are 
vulnerable or in poverty; 

2. Make it easier for people to do business with us; and 
3. Achieve the savings and efficiencies required to continue to deliver 

frontline services.  

 
These will be delivered through six best council objectives for the period 2013-17 which 
give more detail on how we will achieve our outcomes.   
 

1. Ensuring high quality public services 
2. Dealing effectively with the city’s waste 
3. Building a child friendly city 
4. Delivery of Better Lives programme 
5. Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth 
6. Becoming an efficient and enterprising council 

Page 64



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

 
We developed these as part of our approach to financial planning during 2012, through 
leadership events, public engagement, scrutiny and political engagement.  These 
outcomes and objectives are essential to ensuring our financial security in the medium 
to long term, crucial for our contribution to becoming the best city and will be supported 
by a range of cross-cutting activity which will promote an enterprising organisational 
culture that has the needs of our community and anti-poverty as its heart.  
 
For each objective we have set out the broad intention, together with performance 
measures and targets for achievement by 2017. Also identified are operational and 
strategic priorities for 2013/14 against which we will assess progress over the first year 
of delivery.  Whilst this plan sets out the overall strategic direction for the council and 
identifies our key objectives, it will be implemented through directorate and service 
plans, budget action plans, major projects and programmes as well as through 
individual appraisal objectives.  These links are set out in annex A.  We recognise that 
these priorities do not stand alone and are inter-dependent.  They will require a broad 
range of contributions from right across the organisation for their successful delivery.   
 
We will review and publish our progress regularly in order to assess whether the pace 
of change is adequate.  This will look at qualitative as well as quantitative information 
and draw upon as wide range of data and intelligence as required. Our performance 
management arrangements also include independent and robust challenge by our 
elected members through Executive Board, scrutiny and area committees to ensure the 
public are getting the best out of their public services.  We will engage with our 
customers, workforce, members, partners and trade unions about progress and further 
challenges. 
 
We know that things change, so this plan will be subject to an annual review directly 
linked to the budget setting process, which will ensure that the plan remains live and 
dynamic to meet the needs of the people of Leeds.  The views of elected members and 
scrutiny boards, the views of our citizens and feedback from our customers will be an 
important element of this review process.    
 
The Best Council Plan is an important element of the city’s planning framework and 
Annex A sets out how this plan sits alongside and contributes towards the city-wide 
strategic context. 
 
In conclusion, we have an opportunity to embrace a more positive outlook for local 
government so that we can still achieve our ambitions, but it means that things will not 
be the same. These objectives could make a significant difference to the council and 
the city, but can only be delivered if everyone who can contribute is able to do so. 

Page 65



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

 

Best council objective: ensuring high quality public services 

The council directly provides or commissions a wide range of services like housing, 
libraries; highways, benefits, parks, education, sports centres, community safety, street 
cleaning, social care, improving skills and supporting people into employment.  It is 
important that these are of a high quality, meet the needs of our customers and deliver 
value for money.  Within the current financial context budgets are shrinking and difficult 
decisions will need to be made in terms of what services we provide and how we deliver 
them.  We recognise that our services need to be more locally responsive and integrated. 
We need to support councillors, staff, partners, customers and communities to also 
enable them make their best contribution to improving outcomes.  Broadly this will mean 
strengthening democratic leadership, both city-wide and locally; better engaging and 
involving the public in shaping their neighbourhoods and services and making best use of 
our assets to improve outcomes and the customer experience.   
 
Alongside this broader improvement we also recognise that there are some services that 
need a step change, a new approach or more radical improvement these will also be 
captured within this section of the plan.  In this way we will ensure they receive the right 
level of political and officer focus.  All other service delivery and improvement priorities 
will continue to be captured in service plans.   
 

Performance measures and targets 2017 

• Improved customer satisfaction across range of services 

• Reduced avoidable contact from customers 
• Increase the number of service requests fulfilled at the first point of contact 
• Significant reduction in the running costs of the asset base.   
• Increase the number of buildings in good or excellent condition 
• Reduce carbon footprint of our buildings 
• Increased budget devolved for local determination 

• Public feel they have more influence on local decision making 
 

2013/14 Priorities What will success look like in March 2014 

Cross cutting improvement 

Customer Access 

• Delivery of transactional web and 
on-line services to facilitate 
channel shift and self-service. 

• Ensure maximum value is 
obtained from existing telephony 
and face to face Infrastructure 

• Integration of face to face services 

- Self-serve infrastructure for environmental 
and waste service in place with roadmap 
for future roll out agreed 

- Demonstrable channel shift away from 
telephone and face to face contact through 
early win activity 

- Integrated customer services with single 
management structure within the city centre 
one-stop 

Develop a coherent approach to tackling 
poverty. 

- Mitigate negative impacts of welfare 
changes eg homelessness etc 

- Strategy in place by Mar 2014 
- Remodelled advice services in place 
- Other success measures to be confirmed 
as programme develops 

Page 66



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

Development and implementation of 
asset rationalisation plan. 

- Asset Management Plan developed and 
approved 

- Ward members engaged and involved 
throughout process 

Implementation of Area Review Delivery 
Plan. 

- Local youth activity programme 
successfully commissioned by area 
committees 

- Area lead members in place, trained and 
influencing decisions within council and 
with partners 

- Review how area committees operate and 
implement recommendations 

- Further delegations ready for 
implementation 2014/15 

Service improvement 

Public Health is embedded and 
effectively delivering health protection, 
health improvement and population 
health care. 

- Increase in successful completions of drug 
and alcohol treatment designed to support 
recovery 

- Increase in number of people accessing 
stop smoking services 

- Increase in HIV testing in MSM (men who 
have sex with men) 

- Increase uptake of NHS health check in 
areas of greatest health inequalities  

- Each council directorate and Clinical 
Commissioning Group business plan 
includes actions that contributes to the 
health and wellbeing strategy priorities 

Reducing the prevalence and impact of 
domestic violence. 

- Increased customer satisfaction with, and 
confidence in, domestic violence services 

- Improved range of responses in relation to 
perpetrators 

- Improved information sharing across 
agencies 

Quality highways assets including 
carriageways and structures (e.g. tunnels 
and bridges) 

- Reduce the numbers of people Killed or 
Seriously Injured (KSI) on the city’s roads 

- Maintain the percentage of roads assessed 
as in need of structural repair 

- Reduce the percentage of highways’ 
structures in need of essential repair 

Housing management review. - Complete housing management review and 
implement recommendations 

- Improved tenant satisfaction and value for 
money 

 

Page 67



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

 

Best council objective: dealing effectively with the city’s waste 

This is a high profile and important service for our community with significant implications 
where we fail to deliver a good service.  There are significant challenges regarding the 
financial sustainability of our current approach with costs continuing to increase including 
most significantly the expense of disposing waste to landfill.  We also require a new social 
contract with Leeds’ residents on recycling to enable them to more fully contribute to 
minimising waste in a growing 21st century city.  This priority aims to deliver significant 
changes to ensure a safe, efficient and reliable waste and recycling collection service that 
meets the needs of residents, increases recycling and minimises waste to landfill (thus 
minimising future costs of landfill tax to the city).  This includes implementing a long-term 
solution to dealing with waste, introducing alternate weekly collections and increasing 
recycling to help reduce the level of landfill tax.  This is supported by a renewed focus on 
health and safety; and, improving the systems and data, to ensure more focus on 
feedback from our customers to drive service improvement. 
 

Performance measures and targets 2017 

• Increased percentage of waste is recycled 
• Reduced numbers of missed bins  

• Reduced amount of waste going to landfill 
 

2013/14 Priorities What will success look like in March 2014 

Improved reliability of refuse service. - Reduced number of missed bins 
- Improved response to customer complaints 

Increased recycling and less waste to 
landfill. 

- 46.4% recycling by end of 2013/14 
- Waste sent to landfill is less than 142,000 
tonnes 

- Progress in delivery of the waste solution is 
on time and to budget 

 

 

Page 68



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

 

Best council objective: building a child friendly city 

One of our wider ambitions to be the best city for children.  We want to do this by building 
a child friendly city through the development of increasingly effective cluster and 
partnership working.  As part of this long term ambition we have identified a number of 
priorities: 

• Leeds has historically had higher numbers of children looked after than similar cities 
with the significant social and financial cost implications that are associated with this.   
Therefore, we are aiming to safely reduce the numbers of children looked after by 
implementing a comprehensive programme of actions.  This includes improving 
placement commissioning; investing in early intervention and prevention in clusters 
across the city; and encouraging more individuals and families in Leeds to become 
foster carers.  By safely reducing the numbers of children looked after we can further 
invest in prevention and other priorities. 

• A key challenge for schools, academies, early years settings and colleges in Leeds is 
to raise standards and tackle under performance at all key stages with increased pace 
with a special focus on narrowing the gap in outcomes for the most vulnerable groups 
of learners. There are now many more good and outstanding schools and early years 
settings in the city, but there are still some that fall below the floor standards or have 
inconsistent results.  Where this is the case the council needs to take strong action to 
provide the appropriate support and challenge. 

• The city is growing and this include the number of school age children and it is a 
statutory duty for the council to ensure enough school places across the city.  This 
increasing demand is starting to impact in primary schools now and will be an issue for 
secondary schools predicted from 2015-16.  Key challenges are the limitations on 
national funding; effective cluster and partnership working to identify and meet local 
demand in communities across the city; as well as the increasingly diverse range of 
education provider including academies, trusts and free schools. 

Performance measures and targets 2017 

• Reduced numbers of children looked after  
• Reduced external placement costs 

• Good progress across all aspects of the Children and Young People’s Plan and 
especially the obsessions 

2013/14 Priorities What will success look like in March 2014 

Children’s partnership obsessions – 
including reducing number children 
looked after. 

- More children and young people will be 
supported to remain within their own family 
network in a safe and appropriate way 

- School aged children are engaged in a 
learning setting 

- More young people are engaged in 
education, employment or training 

Leeds Education Challenge. - Higher percentage of schools achieving 
good or outstanding Ofsted3 judgments 

- Reduction in the number of schools in 
Ofsted categories 

- Evidence for a “narrowing of the gap” in 
educational achievement 

                                            
3
 Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills 

Page 69



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

School places – meeting basic need. - Ensure provision of sufficient local school 
places for all Leeds children 

Page 70



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

 
Best council objective: delivery of Better Lives programme 

The Better Lives programme introduces new arrangements that will help local people with 
care and support needs enjoy better lives. The council is working with a broad range of 
organisations to ensure that there are wider care and support choices available and 
better ways for people to gain access to them. Our focus remains on ensuring that people 
with care and support needs can access services earlier; and that care and support help 
reconnect people at risk of isolation back with their communities and delay the need for 
institutional care. There are therefore opportunities for a new social contract with our 
communities with local people driving local solutions that better meet their needs in a 
sustainable and cost effective way. People with social care needs will receive co-
ordinated, effective, personalised support from a range of agencies in the health, social 
care, independent and third sectors, all working together. 
 

Performance measures and targets 2017 

• A greater proportion of people will be helped to recover from illness or to manage a 
long term condition through the use of a range of joined up health and social care 
services  

• Users of health and social care services will report increased level of satisfaction 
• There will be increased numbers of volunteers in commissioned services 

• There will be a greater variety of localised community based and user led organisations 
meeting personalised needs 

2013/14 Priorities What will success look like in March 2014 

Better lives through integration. - A further 800 people will be supported at 
home through a package of reablement4   

- Hospital admissions and long term care 
placements will be reduced in South Leeds 
as a result of the opening of the South 
Leeds Independence Centre 

- Holt Park Active will open in December 
2013 

Better lives through housing, care and 
support. 

- 70% of people surveyed will report that they 
are satisfied with their care and support 

- The unit costs of long term care placements 
will be lower 

- 40 more people will receive support from 
their local communities purchased with 
direct payments 

Better lives through enterprise.  - 50 more volunteers will be trained through 
the ‘volunteering in the community 
programme’ 

- 4 more community based and user led 
organisations will support people to meet 
their personalised needs 

- Business cases for alternative service 
delivery models for 2 existing services will 
have been developed 

                                            
4
 Learning or re-learning the skills for everyday living 

Page 71



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

 

Best council objective: promote sustainable and inclusive economic growth 

Through stimulating sustainable economic growth (including housing growth and 
regeneration) we can not only improve the economic wellbeing of local people and 
businesses, but we can also generate income for the council through new homes bonus, 
council tax and business rates, and the community infrastructure levy.  Improving the 
economic fortunes of the city should also reduce demand on services (e.g. reductions in 
unemployment benefits, business closures, improving prospects for young people, 
greater health and well-being).  We will do this through working in partnership with the 
city’s business community.  At the Leeds City Region level, there is further potential to 
unlock funding for transport, infrastructure, skills, and economic development.  It will be 
vital to demonstrate a strong track record to make a powerful case to Government for 
further devolution of funding and other powers.  

 

Performance measures and targets 2017 

• Optimise the current amount of the business rates base level 

• Number of new homes delivered and empty properties brought back into use.  

• Optimise amount of New Homes Bonus secured 

• Increased number of jobs in Leeds 
• Increased percentage of working age population that is economically active 

• Maximise income from capital receipts 
 

2013/14 Priorities What will success look like in March 2014 

Maximise employment opportunities for 
local residents 

- 250 apprenticeship starts 
- 2700 residents supported into jobs 
- 6000 people with improved skills 

Progressing key infrastructure projects 
including: 

• Arena  

• NGT 

• Victoria Gate /John Lewis  

• Leeds Station 

• Flood Alleviation 

• East Leeds Extension / Thorpe 
Park 

• Aire Valley (including South bank) 

• Kirkgate Market  

• West Yorkshire Transport Fund 

 
- All projects on track to agreed timetables 
with milestone met 

Deliver Local Development Framework 

• Core Strategy 

• Site Allocations 
 
 

• Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 

- Core Strategy submitted April 2013; 
examination Autumn 2013 

- Site Allocations issues and options to 
Development Plan Panel April 2013 and 
Executive Board May 2013 

- CIL examination Winter 2013 

Page 72



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

Develop a coherent approach to meeting 
housing need. 

- 3200 empty properties brought back into 
use 

- There will be a 300 net reduction in long 
term empty homes 

- 407 affordable houses provided  
- 2200 new housing units delivered  

Enjoy an active and creative city where:  

• all cultural organisations feel they 
have a voice and influence over 
cultural direction; and 

 
 
 

• inactive people have become 
active 

 
- establish an elected Cultural Executive by 
October 2013 

- produce delivery plans for major events in 
2013/15 including Tour de France, Rugby 
League World Cup & British Art Show 8 
 

- contribute to reduced health inequalities 
through the Leeds Let’s Get Active project 

- development of a cycling legacy by March 
2014 

- submit application for Cycle City Ambition; 
Grant by April 2013 

City Growth Deal - develop a City Growth Deal proposal by 
March 2014 

Attract large-scale external investment in 
low-carbon technologies to Leeds 

- successful bid for technical assistance 
funding 

- establish Leeds City Region Green Deal 
partnership 

- joint delivery of 5,000 energy efficiency 
measures in Leeds properties per year 

 

Page 73



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

 

Best council objective: becoming an efficient and enterprising council 

Going forward the council will be smaller but more entrepreneurial and influential.  We will 
need to work differently, change our approach and culture and reshape our structures.  
We have recognised that a clear approach to organisational design and alternative 
delivery models is central to service development and improvement and to the 
achievement of our ambitions.  We will have some design principles to help us achieve 
this, that will mean we have flatter, simpler structures and a much more flexible approach 
with our workforce.  We need an agile and resilient workforce with the right skills and 
ability to work flexibly.  We have a number transformational change projects which aim to 
improve customer service, streamline internal ways of working, further develop an 
enterprising culture and make efficiencies.  There is also a range of work which focuses 
on culture, developing people and leadership.  This work aims to engage individuals 
across the council and the partnership to ensure all aspects are included eg officer 
development; member development; community engagement; a key delivery partner 
approach; partnership development; communication; and managing change.  In the 
current financial environment we also need to maximise our income generation, with the 
council becoming more entrepreneurial by developing services in new markets.  At the 
same time we do need to be careful of any unintended consequences such as impact on 
vulnerable groups, multiple impacts on the same individuals from separate decisions or a 
low return on investment.  Where we do subsidise services we must also make sure that 
these are transparent, justified and support our priorities.   

Performance measures and targets 2017 

• 100% of staff successfully taken through new ways of working in city centre and priority 
locality projects  

• 35% reduction in city centre office space requirement  

• Reduction in headcount and agency staff in line with medium term financial plan 

• 30% savings in support services by 2017 

• Above inflation increase in total income 
• 100% staff have had a quality performance appraisal 

• Improved staff engagement 

• 100% decisions include equality and consultation 

• Improved attendance 
 

2013/14 Priorities What will success look like in March 
2014 

Continuing the focus on the values and 
calls to action of: 

• Quality Appraisals 

• Effective communication and 
engagement 

• Delivery 13/14 budget 

• Innovation 
 

- 100% staff have had a quality 
performance appraisal 

- Increase employee engagement levels 
equal to or greater than 75% 

- 100% important decisions include due 
regard for equality and evidence of 
consultation as appropriate 

- Improved attendance with a target of 8.5 
days absence per full time equivalent 
delivered 

- The 2013-14 budget is on track with no 
significant over or underspends 

Page 74



FINAL DRAFT VERSION – For Executive Board 19th June 2013 

 

 

Develop leaders at all levels that drive an 
enterprising culture 
 

- Our listening and engagement 
programme has expanded 

- Leaders and managers are equipped to 
deliver in an enterprising organisation 

- Our workforce is more diverse through 
increased employment opportunities  

Develop a flexible workforce - Staffing resources optimised in line with 
workforce plans 

- New solutions in place to enable staff to 
change jobs effectively 

- Early Leavers Scheme delivered 

Changing the workplace - for a supported, 
agile workforce exploiting mobile 
technologies and reducing the number of 
buildings we occupy: 

• Phase 1 city centre  

• Phase 2 localities 
 

- Phase 1: 1300 staff taken through new 
ways of working  

- Phase 2: early win project(s) being 
implemented with delivery partners  - 
linked to ‘using our assets effectively’ 

Business management - for streamlined 
and improved business support services at 
a lower overall cost. 
 

- Business management early wins being 
delivered. 

- All baseline work completed with a 4 year 
road map established for future roll out 

Enabling corporate centre project. 
 

- Establish Strategy and Resources and 
Customer Services and Communities 
directorates  

- Streamlined and consistent management 
structures within the new directorates  

- Improving corporate and professional 
support to all council services 

Scoping opportunities and developing a 
programme of to maximise income and 
trading 

- Establish Civic Enterprise Leeds to 
further develop traded services, and to 
consider new models of operation 

- Review our internal recharging 
arrangements to reduce unnecessary 
bureaucracy 

- Identify opportunities for income 
generation for 14/15 budget setting 
process, whilst ensuring that there are no 
unintended consequences 

 
 

Page 75



 

 

Annex A: City-wide strategic planning context 
 
The Best Council Plan sits alongside and contributes to a number of other plans. Here is 
how they fit together: 

 

 
 

Service plans 2013-15, team plans and appraisals objectives: sets out what each 
service is seeking to achieve over the next two years including contributions to the delivery 
the Best Council Plan or City Priority Plans, business as usual activity and any service 
improvement or development objectives. They provide a vital link from the strategic level 
plans through to team plans and individual appraisal objectives which are developed from 
service plans.  
 
Area/locality planning: at both area committee, ward and neighbourhood level a range of 
plans exist which bring together priorities which are based on the specific local needs of an 
area.  Whilst these are informed by, and build upon, the city wide priorities they also 
recognise that for a large and diverse city like Leeds plans need to be tailored to reflect 
local circumstances. 
 
Financial strategy 2013-17 and annual budget: the annual financial plan is our 

approved budget for revenue spend for the year.  This is developed and agreed on an 
annual basis within the context of our longer term financial plan for the council, setting out 
how resources will be aligned to the council’s “Best Council” ambitions for the 4 year 
period up to 2016/17 
 
Best Council Plan 2013-17: the council also has an ambition to be the best council and 
this plan sets out how will adopt a new leadership style of civic enterprise to achieve this 
ambition. It includes a range of actions to improve services, change culture, work 
differently, become more enterprising and respond to financial environment.   

Page 76



 

 

 
Equality Improvement Priorities: sets out what we are going to do to continue to remove 
and reduce barriers that may prevent some people from fully participating in the social, 
cultural, political and economic life of the city.  These priorities are produced to ensure that 
the council meets its legal duties under the Equality Act 2010 and sets out the council’s 
continued commitment to equality.  These are closely aligned to the Vision for Leeds, the 
City Priority Plan and the Best Council Plan in order to ensure a more integrated approach 
to equality in the council’s strategic planning framework. 
 
People Plan 2013-17: sets out the council’s priorities for its people across five themes – 
flexible, healthy, enables, engaged and performing – with the aim of enabling the council 
to achieve its ambition through its people.  It is underpinned by the council values, our 
commitment to joint working with the Trade Unions and our commitment to civic enterprise 
through working with the public, private and voluntary sectors.  
 
City Priority Plan 2011-15: identifies the outcomes/priorities to be delivered by the council 
and its partners over the next four years on our journey to be the best city in the UK.  
Including a set of indicators we will use to measure our progress.  This does not include 
everything but is a small set of challenges that each partnership has identified as its 
primary focus for the next few years.  Some partnerships also have a wider plan or 
strategy which sets out their broader aims. 
 
Vision for Leeds 2011-2030:  sets out the long term vision and aspirations for the city. 
 
 
 

 

Page 77



 

 

Appendix 2 – Resources and Council Services Scrutiny Board Feedback and 
Response 

The Resources and Council Services Scrutiny Board reviewed the draft Best Council Plan 
at their meeting on 22nd April with the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council.  The 
Board raised a number of issues and these are set out below along with the response in 
terms of changes to the plan or other actions.  Overall the Board felt that the new plan 
helped to give some more focus and to prioritise the most important things we need to do.  
The addition of more clarity on the specific progress we are expect in in 2013/14 was also 
welcomed and the Board felt this would help them fulfil their critical friend role.  There was 
considerable discussion about the importance of changing culture for the successful 
delivery of the plan with the Board acknowledging the difficulties of this.  They endorsed 
the approach within the plan ie for staff to be more flexible and adaptable to changing 
needs; working better across the council and with partners; and the need for the council to 
be more enterprising and to find innovative solutions to the problems we face not least of 
which being the financial context.  The Board recognised the progress in this area but also 
agreed that there was work still to be done. 
 
A number of more specific points were raised: 
 
1. The Board asked for clarification about the audience for the plan was this internal or 

external?  It was agreed that this was primarily internal (both officers and members) as 
it aims to provide a clear set of priorities for the council.  But as we are a public facing 
organisation with links to the City Priority Plan and the Best City outcomes then it also 
had an external audience. 

2. Linked to this it was raised that the language used was not as clear or accessible as it 
could be.  Action: in finalising the plan the text has been reviewed and amended with 
this in mind.  Also a single page summary has been produced that will be used to 
communicate the plan more widely and work is underway to develop a 
communications plan that will look at the needs of, and tailor communications to, the 
key audiences. 

3. The Board were concerned that some of the targets/success measures were not 
measurable and also felt that there was not always a balance between the 2013/14 
compared to the March 2017.  Action: in finalising the plan this has been specific 
discussed with each Directorate and changes have been made in a number of areas. 

4. Members felt that they would need more detail on the accountability arrangements, the 
starting point and the interim delivery milestones to enable them to better fulfil their 
role as a critical friend.  Action: further work is underway to develop the wrap around 
performance management and accountability arrangements which will be consulted on 
with Scrutiny before they are finalised.   

5. There was a specific discussion around the objective on maximising income and 
trading and how well prepared we are for this change in approach.  However, it was 
agreed that there are already some examples where we already do this successfully.  
Members were also keen that thought is given to potential un-intended consequences 
of trading where the council might be competing with local businesses which could be 
counter-productive to .  Action: this is area of work is still being developed a shaped 
and this feedback has been shared with the lead officer for consideration in developing 
plans in this area. 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

 

6. Specific gaps were raised in the following areas: 

a. Mental health and in particular the employment issues related to this.  Response: 
this is in the process of being agreed as a “must do” within the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and Best City Plan.  Therefore, this issue is already identified as 
a partnership priority.    

b. Should community asset transfer to community or voluntary organisations be 
included with the objective on using our assets effectively objective.  Response: 
this is an option that will be considered are part of this work on a case by case basis 
in line with the agreed Community Asset Transfer framework.  Therefore, it is 
considered too detailed an issue for this high level plan and is covered by service 
plans and other specific plans being developed around this objective.   

c. Housing need - there was some discussion about whether the targets within the 
plan go far enough to meet the needs of the city, in particular for social housing.  
There was some discussion of the work already underway to develop the core 
strategy that is progressing this issue particularly around site allocations.  
Response: this is a longer term issue and one which is influenced by many wider 
factors including access to funding and the broader economic conditions.  However, 
the housing targets will be reviewed annually so that they can reflect work that 
continues through the Core Strategy and the Housing and Regeneration Board.   

Page 79



 

 

Appendix 3 – Revised Equality Improvement Priorities 2013-15 

The Best Council Plan draws together the council’s contribution to the City Priority Plan 
with those areas and priorities specific to the council itself.  There are a number of cross 
cutting equality objectives included in the Best Council Plan which provide the building 
blocks for ensuring that equality is embedded in all our service delivery and as an 
employer. 
 
They are outlined here: 
 

Council Value 

Working with communities 
 

Leeds communities are changing and it is vital that we have a clear understanding of 
who our citizens are in order to provide appropriate services in the most appropriate 
way. 
 
Equality focus (objective) 
There is good evidence of the equalities profile of Leeds, based on national and local 
data, which is regularly reviewed. 
 
Equality Performance Area - Understanding our communities 

 

Council Value 

Being open, honest and trusted  
Treating people fairly 
 

We will give due consideration to equality and diversity when we develop policies 
and make decisions. We will ensure that we fully understand the impacts of changed 
funding on different communities, and take this into account when making decisions 
 
Equality focus (objective) 
Councillors and Officers have a reputation for championing equality issues and 
ensure that the equality issues relevant to Leeds are taken into account when 
making major decisions 
 
Equality Performance Area – Showing leadership and working in partnership 
 

Council Value 

Working with communities 
 

We will ensure communities are effectively able to influence what we do 
 
Equality focus (objective) 
Equality groups are integrally involved in consultation and engagement activities 
 
Equality Performance Area - Involving our communities 
 

Page 80



 

 

 

Council Value 

Treating people fairly 
 

We will understand the make-up of our workforce and work to ensure it is 
representative of the population of Leeds 
 
Equality focus (objective) 

• To make the council an ‘employer of choice’ for people from groups in our 
communities whose diverse backgrounds are not yet fully represented in our 
workforce 

• To demonstrate increased engagement, year on year, for staff from groups 
whose diversity is not yet fully represented in our workforce. 

• To improve opportunities for progression to senior levels in the organisation 
particularly for black, and minority ethnic and disabled staff 

 
Equality Performance Area - A modern and diverse workforce 
 

City Priority Plan - Best city...for communities 
 
Priority - Reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds 
 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Address the impact of burglary 
on Vulnerable Communities 
 
 
Tackle domestic violence and 
protect and support the most 
vulnerable young people 
 
Improve citywide approaches 
to dealing with hate crime 

There is an identified need to better 
assess the impact of burglary on 
emerging communities. 
 
The overwhelming majority of domestic 
violence is perpetrated by men against 
women and children. 
 
Disability, race, homophobic and 
transphobic hate crime is experienced by 
many people. 

 

Priority - Increase a sense of belonging that builds cohesive and harmonious communities 
 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

There is a sense of belonging that 
builds cohesive and harmonious 
communities 

In 2010/11 a small but concerning 
trend in youth related anti-social 
behaviour and damage which suggest 
deliberate targeting of vulnerable victims 
(adults with learning disabilities, BME 
residents in predominantly White British 
neighbourhoods, gay or lesbian couples) 
was recognised. 

 

Page 81



 

 

City Priority Plan - Best city...for children and young 
people 
 
Priority - Do well at all levels of learning and have the skills for life 
(taken from the Children and Young People’s Plan) 
 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Support children from all equality 
communities to be ready for learning 

There are lower levels of attainment 
for some BME communities, people 
with special educational needs and 
those from poorer areas. 

 

City Priority Plan - Best city...to live 
 
Priority - Maximise regeneration investment to increase housing choice and affordability 
within sustainable neighbourhoods 

 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Ensure that housing and regeneration 
investment meets the changing needs 
of individuals and communities 

Households headed by women with 
children, BME groups and those living in 
the social rented sector are more likely to 
live in overcrowded or substandard 
housing. There are also 
significantly higher numbers of BME 
people and people with disabilities who 
are unemployed. 

 

Priority - Improve housing conditions and energy efficiency 
 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Improve energy efficiency Many households containing people 
recovering from long term illness, 
disabled people, and pensioners 
cannot afford to heat their homes. 

 

City Priority Plan - Best city...for health and wellbeing 
 
Priority - Increase the number of people supported to live safely in their own home  
 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Better Lives through integration 
All citizens of Leeds will have 
access to, and benefit from, joined 
up services provided by integrated 
health and social care teams. 
 

‘Making it Real’ markers are being used to 
understand how well Leeds is doing in making 
personalisation real for all citizens: 
 
Flexible integrated care and support – my 
support, my own way 

Page 82



 

 

Equality analysis 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Better Lives through Housing 
Care and Support 
We will promote achievement of 
agreed personal outcomes 
(including increasing access and 
the equity of access to services) 
across all equality characteristics 
to encompass all communities and 
citizens of Leeds. 
 

The following ‘Making it Real’ markers are 
being used: 
 
Active and supportive communities – 
keeping friends family and place 
Risk enablement – feeling in control and safe 
Personal budgets and self-funding – my  
money 

 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Better Lives through Enterprise 
All citizens will have access to 
appropriate services and or 
support, with assistance to 
develop appropriate services from 
within the community. 
 

The following ‘Making it Real’ markers are 
being used: 
 
Information and Advice – having the 
information I need, when I need it 
Active and supportive communities – 
keeping friends family and place 
Risk enablement – feeling in control and safe 
Personal budgets and self-funding – my  
money 

T 

City Priority Plan - Best city...for business 
 
Priority - Create more jobs and improve skills 
 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Increase access to employment 
opportunities and up-skill the 
workforce 

There are lower levels of skills and employment 
amongst some communities in particular some 
BME groups, and disabled people. 

 

Priority - Support the sustainable growth of the Leeds’ economy 

 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Improve financial inclusion Lack of access to financial services 
disproportionately affects lone parents (typically 
female) disabled people, people with mental 
health illness, and those living in poorer areas. 

 

Page 83



 

 

Priority - Improve journey times and the reliability of public transport 

 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Enable access for all to local 
services, education and 
employment centres by public 
transport 

Disabled and elderly people have specific 
concerns in accessing transport. 

 
Priority - Get more people involved in the city’s cultural opportunities 
 

Equality focus (objective) Equality analysis 

Increase participation in Leeds’ 
cultural and sporting opportunities 

People from poorer areas, BME people and 
disabled people do not access sport services 
as much as others. Low numbers of disabled 
people access libraries. 
 

Enhance the quality of Leeds’ 
Parks 

Disabled people, those from a BME 
background, and men tend to visit parks less 
than other groups. 

 

Page 84



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 1

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 

Directorate: Corporate Headquarters Service area: Strategy and Improvement

Lead person: Heather Pinches Contact number: 07891 274638

1. Title: Best Council Plan 2013-17 

Is this a: 

Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function Other

If other, please specify:

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 

The screening looks at how equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is relevant 
to, and addressed within, the new Best Council Plan 2013-17.  This replaces the 
current Council Business Plan 2011-15 as the strategic plan for the council setting 
out the outcomes and objectives for the next 4 years.  It includes a range of actions 
and activities to improve services, change culture, work differently, become more 
enterprising and deliver the medium term financial strategy 

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x

Page 85



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees 
or the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a 
greater/lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, 
unemployment, residential location or family background and education or skills 
levels).

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices?

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment

 Advancing equality of opportunity 

 Fostering good relations 

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

Page 86



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).

How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 

This plan largely brings together a mixture of existing projects, programmes, service 
improvement and development activities into a single high level framework to identify the 
corporate “must dos”.  This enables officers and members to focus their efforts on a small 
number of high priority issues.  It also identifies a small number of new areas of work (eg 
income, trading and charging) that again are seen as important for the council going 
forwards.  Many of these areas of work stand alone and, as such, are subject to separate 
policy development, consultation, impact assessment and decision making processes in 
order to understand the impacts on individuals and communities and ensure due regard 
is given.  As this plan simply brings these together into one place the focus of this 
screening has been checking and challenging what is already in place/planned or 
underway in terms of due regard for each objective and priority.  Through this process 
assurance is gathered and any gaps are identified.  The detailed findings of this high 
level check and challenge process are held in a separate supporting document which 
sets out how due regard has been given for each objective and priority. 

Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 

The check and challenge review of the objectives and priorities within the new Best 
Council Plan has shown that for the majority of the areas work detailed within the plan 
due regard has been given or is already underway through existing Equality Impact 
Assessment and Screening processes.  For a small number of areas that are new, and in 
some case are still being scoped, due regard will need to be given as the work area 
develops - these are set out below.  Many of these new policy areas will be subject to the 
council decision-making processes that require due regard to be clearly set out within the 
cover report with any screening or impact assessments published as routine.  A quality 
assurance process is also in place which ensures that the information provided in reports 
for Executive Board and Key decisions is clear and of good quality.  As part of the refresh 
of this plan the Equality Improvement Priorities have also been reviewed to ensure that 
they continue to identify the key equality focus as relevant to the strategic priorities for 
the council and city. 

Overall good assurance is provided that due regard for equality has been given, or is 
planned, for the Best Council Plan 2013-17.  However a related issue that was 
highlighted in the 2013 Equality Annual Report is the issue of supporting data.  Whilst we 
can show activity is happening across all our strategic plans to address the identified 
equality improvement priorities there is a lack of supporting data and analysis making it 

Page 87



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 4

difficult to demonstrate impact and improvement in many areas. Work is also underway 
to address this issue by embedding it within the annual State of the City report in the 
future which should provide more robust data to enable impacts to be monitored going 
forward.

Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 

Areas of work within the plan where due regard has not yet been given are set out below.
However, it should be noted that in all cases relevant staff are aware of the requirement 
to do this but are currently scoping and defining the programmes: 

 Poverty Strategy - although this is likely to encompass a wide range of work that is 
likely to already have arrangements for due regard eg recent welfare changes 

 Asset Rationalisation Plan - whilst due regard has been given for relevant policies 
like the Community Asset Transfer policy further due regard will need to be given 
as more specific proposals are developed. 

 Public Health - as this has only just transferred to the Council public health is 
continuing to use existing process for giving due regard but will transfer to using 
the council’s policies and procedures over time. 

 Income, charging and trading - due regard will need to be given once specific 
proposals have been developed in this area to ensure decision makers are clear 
about the potential impacts of different groups.  Feedback from Members in the 
scrutiny of the draft plan also highlighted to need to ensure that any proposals are 
rigorously examined for any un-intended consequences. This has been accepted 
and acknowledged as important by the service. 

 Organisational change programmes (inc Enabling Corporate Centre, Business 
Management, developing a flexible workforce) - again many of these are still being 
developed and due regard will need to be given as more specific proposals are 
identified.  Staff Equality Networks will need to be consulted as appropriate with 
impacts continuing to be monitored through the People Plan Equality Scorecard. 

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 

Date to complete your impact assessment 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Simon Foy  Head of Policy, 
Performance and 
Intelligence 

10th June 2013 

Page 88



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 5

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 

If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.

A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 

Date screening completed 10th June 2013 

If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

10th June 2013 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk)

Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank



Source : The Office of National Statistics 

2011 Census 

Comparing the results across Leeds 

 

APPENDIX 2

Page 91



Page 92



2011 Census of Population 

Area Comparisons 

The Census is completed every ten years and is the largest piece of social 

research undertaken in the country.  It has always been considered a rich 

and valuable source of information and represents a “gold standard” in 

terms of population statistics.   

The Census tells us how many people live where and provides valuable 

information on the make-up of local communities, covering issues such as 

health, housing, employment, skills levels and transport.   

It provides the basis for central and local government, health authorities 

and many other organisations to target their resources and to plan 

housing, education, employment, health, transport and other services for 

years to come.  

The Census took place on 27 March 2011. It was conducted on a resident 

basis, and the statistics relate to where people usually live, rather than 

where they were on Census night. Students who were studying away from 

home during the term were enumerated at their term-time address.   

The information contained in this pack is based on the data which was 

published by the Office for National Statistics on 30 January 2013.

It focusses on the comparisons between the ten Area Committees in 

Leeds (see map at appendix A), but throughout reference is also made to 

the results by electoral ward and Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) to 

further demonstrate the extent of the differences across the city at the 

small area level. 

The pack provides a selection of information arranged by the following 

themes (other comparisons can be produced if required): 

Demography

Housing

Household Composition 

Economy

Lifelong Learning

Health and Wellbeing

The Office for National Statistics has published all the data from the 2011 

Census through a number of channels which can be accessed through its 

dedicated Census website www.census.gov.uk

Data relating to areas in Leeds is also available through the Leeds 

Observatory together with the city summary “Leeds: The Big Picture” and 

the individual Area Committee and Electoral Ward profiles. 

www.westyorkshireobservatory/leeds

Page 93



A series of thematic profiles (based on the data for Leeds) are being 

developed and will be published on the Leeds Observatory as they are 

completed.  A Leeds based Atlas of the 2011 Census results is also being 

developed.  This will include a series of maps at the Lower Super Output 

Area level to help highlight some of the differences and inequalities that 

exist across the city.  The Atlas will be available through the Leeds 

Observatory as interactive maps as well as a in a composite document. 

During 2013 the Office for National Statistics will release more detailed 

cross-tabulated data, such as by age or ethnicity. This will provide an 

even richer and more valuable data source and all the data will be made 

available on the Leeds Observatory. 

Source: All data has been supplied by the Office for National Statistics 

(ONS). While every care has been taken to ensure the accuracy of the 

data, it is provided only on condition that Leeds City Council cannot be 

held responsible for any error, omission or misrepresentation whether 

negligent or otherwise. 

Page 94



Demography 

Age Structure 

The 2011 Census shows that there are 751,485 people living in Leeds. At 

the Area Committee level, the following graph illustrates the proportions 

of the resident populations that are; children (aged 0-15 years); working 

age people (16-64 years); and older people (aged 65+ years). 

The data shows how Inner North West in particular is impacted by the 

high number of students living in the area. 

Structure by broad age bands (%) 

Children and young people 

There are 137,493 children and young people living in the city. 

Inner East has the highest proportion of children and young people 

(24.9%) and Inner North West has the lowest (10.7%)  

In the remaining 8 Area Committee areas the proportions of 

children range from 17.3% to 19.5% compared to the city average 

of 18.3% 

At a ward level Gipton & Harehills (in Inner East) has the highest 

proportion of children and young people (29.4%) and Headingley 

(in Inner North West) the lowest (3.6%) 

At the LSOA level rates range from 37.9% to just 1% 

There are 12 LSOAs where children and young people account for 

30% or more of the resident population and 23 LSOAs where they 

account for 5% or less 

Working age people 

There are 504,394 people of working age living in Leeds. 

Inner North West has the highest proportion of working age people 

(81.1%) and Outer North East has the lowest (61.4%)  

Page 95



At a ward level Headingley (in Inner North West) has the highest 

proportion of working age people (92.1%) and Harewood (in Outer 

North East) the lowest (59.4%) 

At the LSOA level rates range from 98.8% to 50.3% 

There are 25 LSOAs where working age people account for 90% or 

more of the resident population (generally areas with a high student 

population) 

Older people 

There are 109,598 older people living in Leeds.

Outer North East has the highest proportion of older people 

(21.3%) and Inner North West has the lowest (8.2%)  

At a ward level Harewood and Wetherby (both in Outer North East) 

have the highest proportions of older people (23% each) and Hyde 

Park & Woodhouse and Headingley (both in Inner North West) the 

lowest (4.2%) 

At the LSOA level rates range from 36.9% to just 0.1% 

There are 9 LSOAs where older people account for 30% or more of 

the resident population and 36 LSOAs where they account for 5% or 

less (generally areas with a high student population) 

Page 96



Ethnicity and Nationality 

Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Population 

The 2011 Census shows that there are 141,771 people from BME 

communities living in Leeds.

Area Committee comparison 

There are much higher proportions of people from BME communities 

living in the inner areas 

Inner East has the highest BME population, closely followed by 

Inner North East

Outer East has the lowest proportion, closely followed by Outer 

South

Black and Minority Ethnic Population 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

At a ward level Gipton & Harehills (in Inner East) has the highest 

proportion of people from BME communities (64.2%) and Kippax & 

Methley (in Outer East) the lowest (2.9%) 

LSOA rates range from 92.5% to just 1.5% 

There are 33 LSOAs where 50% or more of the resident population 

are from BME communities and 93 LSOAs where the BME population 

accounts 5% or less 

Country of Birth 

88.6% of the population in Leeds were born in the UK. The number of 

residents born outside of the UK has increased from 47,636 (6.7% of the 

population) in 2001 to 86,144 (11.5%) in 2011, with just over 25,000 

people being born in the EU (12,026 born in EU accession countries) and 

just over 61,000 born elsewhere. Of the 86,144 people born outside the 

UK, more than half (49,340 people) arrived in the last 10 years, an 

indication of the extent of international immigration over the decade.  

Page 97



Area Committee comparison 

The following two graphs show where the 49,340 people who arrived in 

the last 10 years have settled, and then what proportion of the resident 

population of each Area Committee has arrived in the last 10 years. 

Three-quarters of the new migrants (people who arrived in the last 

10 years) have settled in the inner areas (most notably in Inner 

East, Inner North West and Inner South) 

In each of these three areas new migrants account for more than 

10% of the resident population 

People born outside of the UK and arriving in this country between 2001 and 2011

% of residents born outside the UK and arriving in this country between 2001 and 2011 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

At a ward level the distribution is even more concentrated with over 

1/3rd of all new migrants settling in just three wards; City & Hunslet 

(in Inner South); Hyde Park & Woodhouse (in Inner North West) 

and Gipton & Harehills (in Inner East) 

Page 98



In each of these three wards new migrants account for more than 

20% of the resident population 

There are 9 LSOAs across the city where new migrants account for 

more than 30% of the resident population 

Household Language 

There are at least 85 different “main” languages spoken in Leeds (there 

will be more given the numbers in the “other” categories). Across the city 

there are 14,468 households (4.5% of all households) where no-one in 

the household has English as a main language.   

Area Committee comparison 

The proportion of households where no-one has English as a main 

language ranges from 0.9% in Outer East to 10.8% in Inner East 

Rates are higher in all the inner areas, but particularly so in Inner 

East, Inner South and Inner North West

Proportion of households where no one in the household has English as a main language

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

Ward rates ranges from 18.6% in Hyde Park & Woodhouse (in Inner 

North West) to 0.3% in Garforth & Swillington (in Outer East) 

At the LSOA level the picture is even more dramatic with rates 

ranging from 0% to 51.3%, and there are 18 LSOAs where 20% or 

more of households have no-one who has English as a main 

language 

Page 99



Religion

The question on religion was first introduced in the 2001 Census.  It is the 

only voluntary question included in the Census.  

The 2011 Census shows that despite falling numbers, Christianity remains 

the largest religion both nationally and locally. A detailed breakdown of 

the data shows that there are at least 45 different religious groups 

represented in the city. 

In Leeds, 212,229 people (28.2% of the resident population) said that 

they has no religion, and a further 50,717 people (6.7%) did not state a 

religion.

The following sets of graphs show the proportions of the population in 

each of the major faith groups within Area Committees. 

Geographic analysis of the 2011 data has again shown how faith 

communities are concentrated in particular geographic areas of the city: 

A quarter of the city’s Buddhist population is concentrated three 

wards; Hyde Park & Woodhouse; City & Hunslet and Chapel Allerton

Just over 40% of the city’s Hindu population lives in four wards; 

City & Hunslet; Alwoodley; Moortown and Hyde Park & Woodhouse 

The Jewish community is heavily concentrated to the north of the 

city with 75% of the community settled in four wards; Alwoodley; 

Moortown; Roundhay; and Harewood 

Over 1/5th of the city’s Muslim community (22.1%) is resident in 

Gipton & Harehills, with a further 35% of the community settled in 

City & Hunslet, Hyde Park & Woodhouse, Chapel Allerton, and 

Roundhay  

Just over 50% of the city’s Sikh community lives in five wards; 

Moortown; Alwoodley; Calverley & Farsley; Chapel Allerton; and 

Roundhay 

The three wards with the highest numbers of people with no religion 

are Headingley; Hyde Park & Woodhouse and Kirkstall 

Buddhist

Page 100



Christian

Hindu 

Jewish 

Page 101



Muslim 

Sikh

Page 102



Housing

Housing Type 

Area Committee Comparison 

There is a much higher proportion of detached housing in the outer 

areas, most notably in Outer North East 

The proportions of semi-detached properties range from 23.2% in 

Inner South to 51.2% in Outer East 

There is much less terraced housing in the north east of the city, 

with this type of property accounting for just 10.7% of the stock in 

Outer North East and 17% in Inner North East

There is a much higher proportion of flats in the inner areas, 

particularly in Inner North West and Inner South 

Housing Stock 

Housing Tenure 

Area Committee comparison 

The following graph provides a breakdown of housing tenure (it does not 

include households that are living rent-free, of which there are just over 

4,800 across the city).  The analysis shows: 

There are much higher levels of owner occupation in the outer 

areas, although the rate for Inner North East is also above city 

average

Inner East has the highest levels of social rented housing (more 

than double the city average), with 35.5% of households renting 

from the Council (through an ALMO) and 9.1% renting from a 

Housing Association / Registered Social Landlord 

Households renting from the private sector account for more than 

1/3rd of all households in Inner North West

Page 103



Housing Tenure 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

Households renting from the Council (through an ALMO)

Ward rates range from 3.5% in Headingley (in Inner North West) to 

41.2% in Killingbeck & Seacroft (in Inner East) 

LSOA rates range from 0% to 78%, with 32 LSOAs having 50% or 

more of households in this category 

Households renting from other social providers 

Ward rates range from 0.9% in Calverley & Farsley (in Outer West) 

to 14.2% in Hyde Park & Woodhouse (in Inner North West) 

LSOA rates range from 0% to 42.4%, with 21 LSOAs having 20% or 

more of households in this category 

Households renting from a private landlord or letting agency 

Ward rates range from 6.1% in Killingbeck & Seacroft (in Inner 

East) to 65.3% in Headingley (in Inner North West)  

LSOA rates range from 2.1% to 89.6%, with 47 LSOAs having 40% 

or more of households in this category 

Occupancy ratings 

This provides a measure of whether a household's accommodation is 

overcrowded or under occupied. There are two measures of occupancy 

rating, one based on the number of rooms in a household's 

accommodation, and one based on the number of bedrooms. The ages of 

the household members and their relationships to each other are used to 

derive the number of rooms/bedrooms they require. This is subtracted 

from the number of rooms/bedrooms in the household's accommodation 

to obtain the occupancy rating. An occupancy rating of -1 implies that a 

household has one fewer room/bedroom than required, whereas +1 

implies that they have one more room/bedroom than the standard 

requirement.

Page 104



Overcrowded households 

Area Committee comparison 

The following two graphs show the two measures of overcrowding  

Across the city 9.1% of households are deemed to be overcrowded 

based on the number of rooms and 3.8% are deemed to be 

overcrowded based on the number of bedrooms 

Inner South, Inner North West and Inner East have the highest 

levels of overcrowding on both measures 

Overcrowded households (rooms) 

Overcrowded households (bedrooms) 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

Overcrowding based on the number of rooms

Ward rates range from 1.5% in Harewood (in Outer North East) to 

38.2% in City & Hunslet (in Inner South), with three wards having 

rates in excess of 20% 

LSOA rates range from 0.3% to 65.2%, with 18 LSOAs having rates 

in excess of 30%  

Overcrowding based on the number of bedrooms

Ward rates range from 1% in Harewood (in Outer North East) to 

9.5% in Gipton & Harehills (in Inner East) 

LSOA rates range from 0.2% to 14.3%, with 20 LSOAs having rates 

of 10% or more 

Page 105



Under-occupied households 

Area Committee comparison 

The following two graphs show the two measures of under-occupancy 

(again based on the number of rooms and on the number of bedrooms). 

Across the city 70.3% of households are deemed to be under-

occupied based on the number of rooms and 68.9% are deemed to 

be under-occupied based on the number of bedrooms 

Under-occupancy rates are generally higher across the outer areas, 

with Inner North East also showing similarly high rates  

Under-occupied households (rooms) 

Under-occupied households (bedrooms) 

Ward comparisons 

Under-occupancy based on the number of rooms

Ward rates range from 91.9% in Harewood (in Outer North East) to 

30.3% in City & Hunslet (in Inner South) 

Under-occupancy based on the number of bedrooms

Ward rates range from 88.5% in Harewood (in Outer North East) to 

40.9% in City & Hunslet (in Inner South) 

Page 106



Household Compositions 

The following three graphs show the compositions of one person and one 

family only households grouped by single person households, couples 

(with no children or where all children are non-dependents), and families.  

There are just over 27,300 households (8.5%) which are classified as 

other household types and these are not included in the graphs. 

Single person households 

Area Committee comparison 

A third of all households in Leeds are occupied by people living on 

their own with rates ranging from 28.3% in Outer East to 40.6% in 

Inner South 

12% of households across the city are occupied by older people 

(aged 65+) living on their own, with rates ranging from 9.1% in 

Inner South to 15.1% in Outer North East 

Single person households 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

All single person households 

Ward rates range from 24.9% in Ardsley & Robin Hood (in Outer 

South) to 48.2% in City & Hunslet (in Inner South)  

LSOA rates range from 10% to 62.8%, and there are 21 LSOAs 

where more than half the households are single people living alone 

Lone pensioner households 

Ward rates range from 5.7% in Hyde Park & Woodhouse (in Inner 

North West) to 17.4% in Wetherby (in Outer North East)  

LSOA rates range from 0.1% to 29%, and there are 30 LSOAs 

where lone pensioners account for 20% or more of all households 

Page 107



Couples (with no children or where all children are non-

dependents) and pensioner couples 

Area Committee comparison 

Across the city 29.7% of households are couples living as one family 

only and who do not have children or where all children are non-

dependents, with rates ranging from 18.7% in Inner East to 38.4% 

in Outer North East 

7% of all households in the city are occupied by pensioner couples, 

with rates ranging from 3.5% in Inner North West to 12.2% in 

Outer North East 

One family households: Couples (with no children or where all children are non-

dependents) and pensioner couples 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

At the ward level the proportion of households that are pensioner 

couples ranges from 1.2% in Hyde Park & Woodhouse (in Inner 

North West) to 14.5% in Harewood (in Outer North East) 

Couples with dependent children and lone parent households 

Across the city 27.6% of households have dependent children (including 

2.3% living in households other than one family only and therefore not 

shown in the graph below). 

Area Committee comparison 

The proportion of households with dependent children ranges from 

16.3% in Inner North West to 30.1% in Inner East 

Across the city 10.9% of households are headed by a lone parent 

and 7.6% of households are lone parents with dependent children, 

with rates ranging from 5.9% in Inner North West to 13.4% in 

Inner East (for lone parent households with dependent children) 

Page 108



One family households: Couples with dependent children and lone parent households

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

Households with dependent children 

Ward rates range from 7.4% in Headingley (in Inner North West) to 

41.5% in Gipton & Harehills (in Inner East) 

LSOA rates range from 1.8% to 59.5% 

Lone parent households (with dependent children) 

Ward rates range from 1.6% in Headingley (in Inner North West) to 

14.5% in Gipton & Harehills (in Inner East) 

LSOA rates range from 0% to 31.9%, and there are 7 LSOAs where 

lone parent households account for over 1/5th of all households 

Page 109



Economy 

Economically active population 

Economic activity relates to whether or not a person who was aged 16 to 

74 was working or looking for work in the week before census. Rather 

than a simple indicator of whether or not someone was currently in 

employment, it provides a measure of whether or not a person was an 

active participant in the labour market.

Area Committee comparison 

Across the city 69.5% of the population aged 16-74 are deemed to 

be economically active, with rates ranging from 58.8% in Inner 

North West to 74.6% in Outer South 

At 45.9%, Outer South has the highest proportion of people who 

are working as full-time employees and Inner North West the lowest 

at 25.4% 

The proportion of people working as part-time employees ranges 

from 8.1% in Inner North West to 15.2% in Outer East 

The proportion of people who are self-employed ranges from 4.5% 

in Inner North West to 12% in Outer North East 

Inner North West has, by far, the highest proportion of people who 

are full-time students 

The proportion of people who are unemployed ranges from 2.8% in 

both Outer North East and Outer North West to 9.3% in Inner East 

Economically Active 

Economically inactive population 

A person aged 16 to 74 is described as economically inactive if, in the 

week before the census, they were not in employment but did not meet 

the criteria to be classified as ‘Unemployed'.  This includes a person 

looking for work but not available to start work within two weeks, as well 

as anyone not looking for work, or unable to work - for example retired, 

Page 110



looking after home/family, long-term sick or disabled. Students who fulfil 

any of these criteria are also classified as economically inactive. This does 

not necessarily mean in full-time education and excludes students who 

were working or in some other way were economically active.  

Area Committee comparison 

Across the city 30.5% of the population aged 16-74 are deemed to 

be economically inactive, with rates ranging from 41.3% in Inner 

North West to 25.5% in Outer South 

At 18%, Outer North East has the highest proportion of people who 

are economically inactive due to being retired and Inner North West 

the lowest at 5.4% 

Inner North West has, by far, the highest proportion of people who 

are economically inactive due to being full-time students 

The proportion of people who are economically inactive due to 

looking after home / family ranges from 2.2% in Inner North West 

to 7.1% in Inner East 

The proportion of people who are economically inactive due to being 

long-term sick / disabled ranges from 2.4% in Outer North West to 

7.2% in Inner East 

Economically Inactive 

National Statistics Socio-Economic classification (NSSeC) 

Area Committee Comparison 

With its high proportion of full-time students, Inner North West has 

far fewer people counted in this classification 

With 44% Outer North East has the highest proportion of people 

classified as being in “managerial / professional occupations”, while 

Inner East has the lowest at 15.4% 

The proportions of people classified as being in “intermediate 

occupations” ranges from 7.6% in Inner North West to 16.5% in 

Outer South 

Page 111



The proportions of people classified as being “small employers / 

own account workers” ranges from 3.8% in Inner North West to 

10.6% in Outer North East 

The proportions of people classified as being in “lower supervisory 

and technical occupations” ranges from 3.6% in Inner North West to 

8.6% in Outer East 

At 35.9% Inner East has the highest proportion of people classified 

as being in “routine occupations” while Inner North West has the 

lowest at 13.7% 

National Statistics Socio-Economic classification (NSSeC) 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

Managerial / professional occupations

At the ward level, Hyde Park & Woodhouse (in Inner North West) 

has the lowest proportion of people in this category (10.6%) while 

Harewood (in Outer North East) has the highest at 48.3% 

LSOA rates range from 5.2% to 62.6% 

Routine occupations 

At the ward level, Middleton Park (in Inner South) has the highest 

proportion of people in this category (19.6%) while Headingley (in 

Inner North West) has the lowest at 2.7% 

LSOA rates range from 0.7% to 25.6%, and there are 46 LSOAs 

where 20% or more of people in this category 

Page 112



Hours worked 

Area Committee comparison 

The following graph shows the average number of hours worked per week 

(as a rate of all people aged 16-74 who were in employment the week 

before the Census). 

Inner North West has the highest proportion of people working part-

time and conversely the lowest proportion of people working full-

time 

It also has the highest proportion of people working less than 16 

hours per week, with Inner East having the highest rate of people 

working between 16 and 30 hours per week 

Outer South has the highest proportion of people working full-time 

(31 or more hours per week) but Outer North East has the highest 

proportion of people working more than 49 hours per week 

Hours worked per week 

Households without access to a car or van 

Area Committee comparison 

Across the city 32.1% of households do not have access to a car or 

van with rates ranging from 14.8% in Outer North East to over 50% 

in Inner East and Inner South 

All the outer areas have rates below the city average, as does Inner 

North East 

Page 113



Households without access to a car or van 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

Ward rates range from 9% in Harewood (in Outer North East) to 

61.8% in Hyde Park & Woodhouse (in Inner North West), with 4 

wards having rates in excess of 50% 

LSOA rates range from 2.5% to 71.6% and there are 100 LSOAs 

with rates in excess of 50% 

Travel to work 

The following table shows the method of travel used for the longest part, by distance, of 

the usual journey to work. This topic is only applicable to people who were in 
employment in the week before the census. There were 10 response options to this 

question (plus “not in employment”, “working mainly at or from home” and “other”). For 

the purpose of this analysis the “travel to work” options have been grouped as follows: 
Private Transport: driving a car or van; passenger in a car or van; motorcycle, scooter or 

moped
Public Transport: bus, minibus or coach; train; underground, metro, light rail, tram; taxi 

Bicycle 
On foot 

Area Committee Comparison 

Travelling to work by car, van or motorcycle (either driving or as a 

passenger) is still the most popular method of travelling to work, with 

40% of people in Leeds choosing this method (35.9% by driving a car or 

van, 3.8% travelling as a passenger in a car or van and 0.3% travelling 

by motorcycle, scooter or moped). 

Across the Area Committees the proportions of people choosing 

“private transport” ranges from 22.7% in Inner North West to 

52.8% in Outer South 

Across the city 11.8% of people travel to work using public 

transport, with rates ranging from 5.7% in Outer North East to 

15.4% in Inner East 

Cycling to work is the least preferred option across all Area 

Committees with rates ranging from just 0.8% to 1.8% 

Page 114



Across the city 7.5% of people travel to work on foot, with rates 

ranging from 4.3% in Outer North East to 14% in Inner South 

Method of travel to work 

Page 115



Lifelong Learning 

There were 12 response options to this question (plus ‘no qualifications’) covering 

professional and vocational qualifications, and a range of academic qualifications. These 
are combined into five categories for the highest level of qualification, plus a category for 

no qualifications and one for other qualifications (which includes vocational or work 
related qualifications, and for foreign qualifications where an equivalent qualification was 

not indicated):  
No Qualifications: No academic or professional qualifications  

Level 1 qualification: 1-4 O Levels/CSE/GCSEs (any grades), Entry Level, Foundation 
Diploma, NVQ level 1, Foundation GNVQ, Basic/Essential Skills 

Level 2 qualifications: 5+ O Level (Passes)/CSEs (Grade 1)/GCSEs (Grades A*-C), School 

Certificate, 1 A Level/ 2-3 AS Levels/VCEs, Intermediate/Higher Diploma, Welsh 
Baccalaureate Intermediate Diploma, NVQ level 2, Intermediate GNVQ, City and Guilds 

Craft, BTEC First/General Diploma, RSA Diploma 
Apprenticeship 

Level 3 qualifications: 2+ A Levels/VCEs, 4+ AS Levels, Higher School Certificate, 
Progression/Advanced Diploma, Welsh Baccalaureate Advanced Diploma, NVQ Level 3; 

Advanced GNVQ, City and Guilds Advanced Craft, ONC, OND, BTEC National, RSA 
Advanced Diploma 

Level 4+ qualifications: Degree (e.g. BA, BSc), Higher Degree (e.g. MA, PhD, PGCE), 

NVQ Level 4-5, HNC, HND, RSA Higher Diploma, BTEC Higher level, Foundation degree 
(NI), Professional Qualifications (e.g. teaching, nursing, accountancy) 

Other qualifications: Vocational/Work-related Qualifications, Foreign Qualifications (Not 
stated/ level unknown)  

Area Committee comparison 

The following graph provides information that classifies usual residents 

aged 16 and over by their highest level of qualification.  

Across the city 23.2% of residents have no formal qualifications, 

with rates ranging from 12.6% in Inner North West to 37.1% in  

Inner East 

41.6% of residents have qualifications equivalent to Level 3 and 

above, with rates ranging from 23.5% in Inner East to 65.7% in 

Inner North West 

Highest level of qualification

Page 116



Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

At a ward level the rates for people with no formal qualifications 

ranges from 38.1% in Killingbeck & Seacroft (in Inner East) to just 

5% in Headingley (in Inner North West) 

There are five wards where people with no formal qualifications 

account for 30% or more of adults aged 16+ 

At the LSOA level the differences are even more stark, with rates 

ranging from 51.9% to just 0.5% 

There are 43 LSOAs where people with no formal qualifications 

account for 40% or more of adults aged 16+ 

Page 117



Health and Well-being 

General Health 

Area Committee comparison 

The majority of people in Leeds feel that their general health is 

good or very good and this is reflected across all 10 Area 

Committees 

12.7% of people across the city feel that their general health is fair, 

with rates ranging from 9.9% in Inner North West to 14.7% in 

Inner East 

Across the city 5.4% of people feel that their health is bad or very 

bad, with rates ranging from 4% in Inner North West to 7.6% in 

Inner East 

General Health 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons

At the ward level the proportion of people who feel their general 

health to be “bad or very bad” ranges from 2.1% in Headingley (in 

Inner North West) to 8.2% in Burmantofts & Richmond Hill (in Inner 

East)

LSOA rates range from 0.5% to 14.7%, and there are 22 LSOAs 

where 10% or more of the population feel their general health to be 

“bad or very bad” 

Limiting Long Term Illness 

This refers to a long-term health problem or disability that limits a person's day-to-day 
activities, and has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months (including problems 

that are related to old age). People were asked to assess whether their daily activities 
were limited a lot or a little by such a health problem, or whether their daily activities 

were not limited at all. 

Page 118



Area Committee comparison 

Across the city 16.8% of people feel that they have a limiting long-

term illness, with rates ranging from 12.3% in Inner North West to 

19.4% in Inner East

7.9% of people feel that they their day to day activities are limited 

a lot, with rates ranging from 5.6% in Inner North West to 10% in 

Inner East 

Limiting Long Term Illness 

Ward and Lower Super Output Area comparisons 

At the ward level the proportion of people with a limiting long-term 

illness ranges from 7.3% in Headingley (in Inner North West) to 

22.3% in Killingbeck & Seacroft (in Inner East) 

LSOA rates range from 2.3% to 36.3%, and there are 31 LSOAs 

where 25% or more of the population have a limiting long-term 

illness

Provision of unpaid care 

Area Committee comparison 

Across the city over 71,500 people (9.5% of the total population) are 

providers of unpaid, care with over 16,000 people providing care for 50 or 

more hours per week. 

Outer East, Outer South and Outer North West have the highest 

numbers of people providing unpaid care 

Outer East and Outer South also have the highest numbers of 

people providing care for 50 or more hours per week, with Inner 

East the third highest in this category 

Page 119



Numbers of people providing unpaid care 

Page 120



Appendix A  

Area Committee map 

Page 121



O
u
te

r 
N

o
rt

h
 E

a
s
t

O
u
te

r 
E

a
s
t

O
u
te

r 
S

o
u
th

O
u
te

r 
N

o
rt

h
 W

e
s
t O

u
te

r 
W

e
s
t

In
n

e
r 

S
o

u
th

In
n

e
r 

E
a
s
t

In
n

e
r 

N
o

rt
h

 E
a
s
t

In
n

e
r 

W
e
s
tIn
n

e
r 

N
o

rt
h

 W
e
s
t

P
a
rk

O
tl
e

y

N
e
w

s
a

m

Te
m

p
le

P
u
d

s
e

y

K
ip

p
a

x

G
ip

to
n

C
ity

 &

C
h
a

p
e
l

A
rm

le
y

A
d
e

l 
&

H
u
n

s
le

t

F
a

rn
le

y

B
e
e

s
to

n

&
 Y

e
a

d
o

n

&
 R

a
w

d
o

n

A
lle

rt
o

n

W
e

th
e
rb

y

W
e

e
tw

o
o

d

R
o
u

n
d
h

a
y

R
o
th

w
e

ll

M
o

o
rt

o
w

n

H
a
re

w
o
o

d

G
a

rf
o

rt
h

&
 M

e
th

le
y

&
 W

o
rt

le
y

&
 F

a
rs

le
y

M
id

d
le

to
n

K
ir
k
s
ta

ll

H
yd

e
 P

a
rk

H
o
rs

fo
rt

h

C
a
lv

e
rl

e
y

B
ra

m
le

y
 &

A
rd

s
le

y
 &

A
lw

o
o
d

le
y

&
 S

e
a
c
ro

ft

&
 W

h
in

m
o
o

r

R
o
b

in
 H

o
o

d

W
h
a

rf
e

d
a

le

H
e
a

d
in

g
le

y

&
 W

o
o

d
h
o

u
s
e

S
ta

n
n

in
g
le

y

K
ill

in
g

b
e

c
k

C
ro

s
s
 G

a
te

s

M
o

rl
e

y
 S

o
u

th

M
o

rl
e

y
 N

o
rt

h

&
 S

w
ill

in
g

to
n

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d

 H
ill

B
u
rm

a
n

to
ft
s
 &

P
R

O
D

U
C

E
D

 B
Y

 L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

T
h
is

 m
a

p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d

 u
p

o
n
 t
h

e
 O

rd
n

a
n
c
e

 S
u

rv
e

y
's

 D
ig

it
a

l 
D

a
ta

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 O

rd
n
a
n

c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
n
tr

o
ll
e
r 

o
f 
H

e
r 

M
a
je

s
ty

's
 S

ta
ti
o
n
e

ry
 O

ff
ic

e
©

 U
n

a
u
th

o
ri

s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e

s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g

h
t 
a
n

d
 m

a
y
 l
e

a
d
 t
o

 p
ro

s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
c
iv

il 
p
ro

c
e
e
d

in
g
s
  
©

 C
ro

w
n
 C

o
p

y
ri
g
h

t.
 A

ll 
ri
g
h
ts

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
d

. 
L
e
e

d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u

n
c
il
 O

.S
. 
L
ic

e
n
c
e

 N
o
. 

1
0
0
0

1
9
5
6

7
 (

2
0

1
2
)

A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
s

R
E

F
 :

 P
R

C
M

P
L
D

 :
 C

T
Y

W
D

E
 :

 0
0

4
b

w
. 
E

le
c
to

ra
l 

W
a
rd

s

L
e

g
e
n

d

A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
s

L
e
e

d
s
 E

le
c
to

ra
l 
W

a
rd

s

Page 122



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

����������	
��
�
�

�����
������������������
�

���������
�

�

	����
�� ���!��������	�����������

� �

	����
�����"��!���#���������$��
��
	���
%�&
��
	��'�&�
�	��(�)�*����)�$
�����	��
#�+��������	��)�,���
	�

�
� ��

�
���� �������� !"#�$�%" �&��"''%()����*)+'%" �"!��,���#�''�$ -��+()%*��

���
.��
�/�-������	����
���	���*����(��
����
	�.�
��-���)
����#
��
�������
/01��
�����#���	����	��2�/$����	����	��#�������
�3	�
�����
	2�/0	���	�2�
(��
����
	�������������
���������1��
������
�����������	���
��	��
�
	��������
	�
�������
��
*�	��������
���������	��������	���������1�����
	�
������

	����������������!������	����*�
������	��
���
�������
��	�����
����
���	�������
������	��
���
��������
�����	��������������������
�������
�����
*���������	��������*

�����������
�
����
������
���1������	�
�����
	��
�
�����	���������
��
*�45�
�
/�2� #���	��1����
��������
����	��������6����
����
����������%�����	�7
����!�

�
�8	����7

��	��#��
�����
	9������������
��	�$�	
���:
;��.������1�����
�	����
���	���*����������������;./�2�
��%����
�����#/�2�
������)
����
&
���	��	��#�����<��
	�������

	������������
	���	���	�
�����
	�
������	���
�������	�	�����
���
��	������������
�������

	���;�3�����
�
	�������������������������
���
����	�
�����
	�*

���
��*

������
��!�����
����=
����������

	���9���
����������	���������	�������
	��
�����
����
����
���������
�7

��	��#��
�����
	���	��������
���
	��������
	�
*�����������
���������������
������

	���;�3������
	�������������*������
����������������
������	��������	������
�
�����
���
��������	�
�����
	�
*��������
�������������������
������)�	��(���������
��
*�	���
������
	�
��
��������	�����
	��	���
	��>
�	���������
������	��������	����	���	�	������
�1�����
	�

�*�����������
������	��������	������
��	��������	�
�����
	����
������
�	���	�����;��3�����������
����
	�����������������������	��
������
���
�����

������������������1�����
	����#�������
�3	�
�����
	�
'�
���
���(
�����;.�/�2;�

�
�0�� .$�������'��

����������������	��
������������������
��
*�	�������������
���
��	����*����
����������
��������	��45�
�
/�2� 6)�����)�?�%����#��
����
	��'��	4�3��
����	��+���
	���
��'
�����

�
	�
�����
	9;��
���
�����������������	�
������	����������
���	��'��	�
'�	���������	�����
���������*���	
���
��������
����������
����	��
����	�������
��������
������*���������
��������	���������;�3��*���
������
����
�����������������������
���
��	���;�&����	���
������
���	��
������
�����	����������
	��������	����������*
�!���
��������
���
���

���������	��0�������$������;�01���������	���
�����������
���	��

APPENDIX 3

Page 123



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

'��	�'�	���*���������
����
	������	���@���#�����������	��$�������
���
���������
�������
��������������
	��A���#���������;�-�
����1����
�����	���*����������
����	���	�������
�������	������
��	������)�����
)�?�%����#��
����
	��'��	���	��*����������	���	����	�
������
����	���	�
�
�����
����������*������
���	���������������������*����������	������
��������$��������01��
�����"
���������	�;�7
*��������	���
�����
���	��'��	�'�	���������	����
��	����������
���	����
	��
����
������
�01��
�����"
����*���
	���
����	�������������	��
	������#�����
����;�&���	�������	������	�����
����
��
������	�����	���������	��
��
������'�	����������
	������#���������*���	
���
��������
����������
����
�
����
�������
	���>
�����	��;�/$�	
���:
;��.����������2;�

�
/�2� 6-��	�����
��%��

��%�����
	��������%��

���%��	�������	��?����*
�!�

#������A��	������%��

���+���	�����
	�/'����������#�������
	���
�
$��	���	���%��

��2�/0	���	�2�(��
����
	�����<9;�-�������
���*���
�
�����������������������
���
��	���������
�������

����������
���
�
�����������
�
������	��������������������>
������
	�������������������
*���
	��������������	�����*�����	�������
������
����������������	��
��
$���������	�������
	��
�"�
����!��'�������%��

�;��01��
�����"
����
����
�����
����	�������	��
	������������*���������
�����>
������	�$����
��
	��*������������
	�
����	�������
����
������������
���
�������
������
�
����������
��
������������
���	�;�-����*����
���
�������������������
�������������
����0��
	��	���
������	�*���
�
����?����%��

��
	�����
"�
����!��'�������%��

�������*����
	����
	���
�
	����������	�	����	��
�������������

	�������	�����	�������;��-�����0�*

���	
�����	�����
?
	��	��#������	�������*

������
*�����"�
����!����*����'�������
%��

��?

	����
	�-�
����
��
���	���*�����
	���
���
	�*
�!�����
��
����������
������
����������������

����
����
	��	�������
��
%�������������;��-�����
�����	�����	�����	���������*

������	������
����
��	�	��
��������������

��*

���������
������������
	����
%������������.;��/$�	
���:
;��.@���������2;�
�

�0�� 
�*)$#$�%" �"!�
%'*)"'$()����*+ %$#1�� ��#�'�'��
-�����*����	
������
������'��
	�����3	�����������������������������	���
�
*�������	�������
	��
�����������	��������6"�����:����'�
������4�+
��
���
��
�
	�
�����
	�
	�'�
�
������
��01��	��
	�
��'�������'�
����
	��	����.��	��
'�������
	��
��
	�
���
	�'�
�
������
������01��	��
	�
��'�������'�
����
	��	�
���B9���

	����
��$
�����	����*�����"
���9������	��
	��
������
����
	����������

��&
���	
������(
��	�7

��'�������%��

���*�����*�������������������
��
�
��������������*����	������
�����������
��;�/$�	
���:
;��.B���������2;�
���

�0�� �% +��'��
���
.��
�/�-����������	
����
�����������	�������
	��.���#�������������
����
����������
���������
��;�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 124



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

���2�	
���


����.�����2���
�����
������������
�

�0�� .��-'�.
3��%����))"*$�%" '��)$ �&��''+�'�$ -�
��%" '�!"#��+()%*�
�" '+)�$�%" ��
?
�������
�$�	
���:
;��B����@���$�������������������
��
������������
���	��
�
�������������
���*������

��������"
���9������
����
������%����#��
����
	��
�����������������������C
�
�������	����
������3��
����	��+���
	���
�
��	����
�������	�����
������
�����������
�����	�
������
��	�����������
��
���
�����
�
	�
�����
	��
����
	�����!�	��
��	���
	���	���
��������
	�����%����
#��
����
	��'��	;�
�
3	������	��	���������
��������01��
�����$�������
��:�����

��

����'��		�	��
�	��%
��
���%���������������
	����
����������	!���
�����
��������*�
��������	�
�	�
������	����������
���	��
������%����#��
����
	���
�
��	����
	��
��������
�
	�������������
�����	������	�������
�
��	����
�������
���	�������;�3	�������
	��
����01��
�����$���������
����	!��������

	����
���*�
������
	����
�������
�����
���������
�������0�������$�������	������	����
�������*���������
���	�
	�����!�	��
�����;�
�
�
�����
	��	���*������������	������������
��%�
����#	���*�$'��������	��
)����9��

��	����������*����������������������	���
��"
����$������9�
�
	��������
	;�(���
	��	���
������
�����
	��	����	�����
��
�$������9�
�
���	��������"
��������������	�
�����
	�
	���������
	�	������	������
�

��	�������������������*����	�����)�����)�?�%����#��
����
	��'��	����	��
�
	�����	��*��������������
���

��	��	�������	�������*����	������
���%�������;�3	�
������
	���
	��������
	�*������
�����	��
��
*���������
������
�
�����	�
)������
��������
���������	����!�	����	�����

��	��)
����#
��
������;�
�
#��
��������������������	��*������	����*
���	���	���������
������������
�;.;���	�������
	�0B�
��C
�
������7

��	��$��!������������������#����
/7$�#2���/#����
�

��2��������	��)�����"����
���3	���	���
	���#���
��;�3��
*������
���	���������������������*
���	��*����	�
��
�������	�
�����
������	�������
	��
���������
����	��
���
	���
�
��	�;�
�
3	��
	������	�������
�
��	����
	����>
����
	��	���	�*��������
	��	�
��;�
-���!����
�	����������*��������
��
*�45�

•� 3��*���	
���������$��������������������������
	���	���������	��
�	�����
�����������
����
	����
�
������
*���������*�����!	
*������������
�����
��
���
�������
�
��	����
	��
���������
�����"
����*����
�
������������������
��
	�����	�����!��
������	������	��
	�����	���
��

���
	�D�

•� 3��*�������������������������������
����
	����
�����	�������
����
��
������������������������
��
��
	�����	�
������
��	����������

	�����
�
��
�
�����%����#��
����
	��'��	�*�����*

������
	�������������
������	��
��	��*

����������������*��	�	�������
�����������
���%��������
�������;�3��*���	
�������������	���
�������	����	����	�������*

���
�	����������

	�����
���������������	��
�	����	����
�������������
�������
	�
	������
���	�����

��

����������D�

•� $�������*���
����������������������	
�����
����������
����
	��
��
�
�����	�����6����	9��	��6�����9������
�����*����
����	�������

Page 125



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

�����������	����������
�����>
�����	���	������
������7�$#�����
��
��
����	���
	������������
�����
���
������
���	�D�

•� -���"
��������������������	�����
��������
�
�����
������
	�
�����
	�
�1��������
�����
�
����	����	
�	����	�����������������	�����
������
�����
	��
�������
��
	�����
�����	�
�������	��
��	���

	����
�����	��
�����������D��

•� 0��������*����������
�
	�����	�����
��	�
������������
	�>
��
����������
���
��
	���������

��

��)�����*��������	��D�

•� -������
���	���
������:�����

��

��'��		�	�����	���*���
���������������
	��*��������*�����	�*������������	������������
�����%����
#��
����
	����
����;�3	�������
	�����������*������
��������
�
	�����
���
�������	��������
��
��
���:�����

��

��'��		�	���	�)����D�

•� -���������

��	��
���
�����������*����������������
�������*��������	����
�
��	�
��������%����#��
����
	����
����������������
���������
	�D�

•� -���"
�����������������������������
���	���
���	�
��	�����������
�������
�������
���	������
��
���*�������
�������
���)������*�����*�����	���	��
*��������	������������
�����������
	��
�������
��
	�����	���

!��	�
�
�
	��������
	���������9�����	��	�����
��������;��������������
��
���
������������������*����������
�
	���
����
	����
����
�����������
���	��
����	�����������
����
	�������������;�
�

3	��
	��
��
	����������
������
	�
�	���	������	��*����$�����������*���
��>
�����������)�������
�������
����������

�������	�������
�������
��
	��������
	
�����
��!������
����	���������
������%����#��
����
	����
�������	�������
����
��������
�
�
����	���1��	��
��������
�
�����
	�
�����
	��1������;���
�
���
.��
�/��
/�2� -��������%����#��
����
	��'��	�3��
����	��+���
	���
�
��	���/C
�
����

�� �	�� �� ��� ����	���� �
� ���� �
�������� ���
��2� ��� ����
���� �
�� ����
�
��
����
���
������
	�
�����
	���
�=�����
������	��
��
	�
������
�������
��1��*�����*�������
��������� ���������	�� �	���������
��)�����"����
���
3	���	���
	���#���
��;�

�
/�2� -������������
������
	�
�	���	������	��*����$��������)�������
������

�
����������

�������	�������
�������
��
	��������	
�����
��!��� ���
���
�	� �������� 
�� ���� %���� #��
����
	�� ��
������ �	� ������
����� ����
����
�
�
����	���1��	��
��������
�
�����
	�
�����
	��1������;�

�
/8	����������
����
	��
���

	����'�
���
���(
����@;B��

	����
��&
��
	�
��>
���������
�������
�������������������	�����
���
��	��
	�����������
	��
����������
�*����	��������	
��2�
�

�00� ���)��� �$�%" �"!�$ ��#�$�.�$-����(�#��")���
?
�������
�$�	
���:
;������������������������������#������	��������01��
�����
/�
��
����#�������	��'���
���	��2��
�������������
�����
����	����������
��
������
�
�����
�����
	�
��#����)����(
�����
��
*�	����������	���
	�
�����
	�
�1�������*������������	�
	�����!�	;�-������	�����
����5��
	���	�������
����
*����
���
����������������
	���

	�������
��������������������	����	���	!���
�
01��
�����$��������	���

	������������������
�������	�	���*���������
�
�
��
���	���	���	�

����	���
����
������	���	�
�������	!��*����������	��

Page 126



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

����	���;��3	�������
	���������
������
���	���������#�����
������������
�	��
�
���
����
�����	�����	�*��
	�����������;�
�
���
.��
�/�-��������
�����������	��
�������
�
������
	���	���*����	�����
�
�����������
����
��#�����
����������
����
�	��#����)����$��������
������
����E���.��
	��������������	����
���	���*������	
�����
������	����
�����
����
�����	�����������#		
���$����	��
���

	����
	������$�������;�
�
���.
���4�����������
�

�05� 	$'%*����-��#"6#$�����
+�*"���"!�*" '+)�$�%" �" ��#"�"'$)'�!"#�
���$ '%" �"!��#%�$#1��#"7%'%" �% ����0�$ -���#�%''%" ��"��" '+)��" �
�#"�"'$)'�!"#��,�����$ '%" �"!��#%�$#1��#"7%'%" �% ����5��
-���������
��
���������	9��%���������
�������������
���

���	�	����
�
�����
*�����*���������	����
�����������
�����
��
����9���
����
��	�
����
������	���
��
���

��������;�-������
���*������������	�
��*
������4�'����#��������������


��
������
�������
������
	�
�����
	��1�������
	������1��	��
	�
����������
��
����
	����
�������������
��%������������.���	����������
���	����
	���
��
����	�1���������
�������
��������
�
������*������'����"��

��������"
���9��
��������
	��
��
���	������
������
	�
�����
	��1�������
�
	�������
�
�����
�
�������1��	��
	�
������������
����
	��	������������
��%������������B;�
�
�������������
�������
�
������$������������������������
	��������������	��
���	���������
	�������������

���������������*����	������
�����������
��;��
�
(���
	��	���
���$�����9���	>
����������
��	���*�����
�������	���������
��
������������������*�������
�
�������������	������������
����
	��	�?��	����
*

�������
���������
�����"
���;��
�
$��������
���	����
�
	������

	���9��%��

���#������
	��'
������
��������������������	������*����	�*��������������	������*��	��	��	�����
��9��
�
����	�����

��*�������
������	��*��������
	��������
	�*�������	��
�
���	��
���������������*��	��	��	�����
��9���
����	�����

�;�3	�����
	����
�����
��	���*�����
�����������*
�!�*����
���	�������	��
	�����!�	�
	�����
'
������
��	�
�����������*�������������	�����������������
������;��
�
���
.��
�/��
/�2� -���������
�������
	�
��������
�
���	
������
�������1��	��
	�
��#�����
	�

"�*�����'�������%��

����
�������������
�������
������
�.����
�����
*�����	��	��������	������������
	�	
�������
������
�@��*�����������
��
��%������������.���������
���;�

/�2� -���� �����
�������
	�
��������
�
���	
����� �
�� �����1��	��
	�
��#�>
����
'������� %��

�� ��
�� �� ��������� 
�� ���� �
����� �
� .��� �
����� *���� �	�
�	������� �	� ���� �������
	� 	
����� ��
�� ��� �
� @�� *���� ������� ��
��
%������������.���������
���;��

/�2� -���������
�������
	�
��������
�
���	
������
�������1��	��
	�
��$
�����%��
?��	��������
����'�������%��

�� ��
�������������
���B.��
����� �
�����

Page 127



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

�
����� *���� �	� �	������� �	� ���� �������
	� 	
����� ��
�� ��� �
� ���*����
���������
��%������������.���������
���;�

/�2� -���� ���� �
�������
	� 
�� �� ����
�
��� 	
����� �
�� ���� �1��	��
	� 
�� 0����
#�������'�������%��

����
�������������
����B��
������
�.����
�����*����
�	� �	������� �	� ���� �������
	� 	
����� ��
�� .B� �
� @�� *���� ������� ��
��
%������������.���������
���;�

/�2� -���� ���� �
�������
	� 
�� �� ����
�
��� 	
����� �
�� ���� �1��	��
	� 
�� (
��	�
7

��'�������%��

�� ��
�������������
����B��
������
�.����
�����*����
�	� �	������� �	� ���� �������
	� 	
����� ��
�� .B� �
� @�� *���� ������� ��
��
%������������.���������
���;�

/�2� -���� ���� �
�������
	� 
�� �� ����
�
��� 	
����� �
� �
*��� ���� ���� ��	��� 
��
7
����
���'�������%��

����
��B��
�����
����
������������
���;�

/�2� -���� ��������
	� ��� ����	� �
� �
	�
��� 
�
	� ���� �1��	��
	� 
�� '
�����
'����
��� 7���� '������� %��

�� ��
�� �� ��������� 
�� ��B� �
����� �
� .���
�
����� *���� �	� �	������� �	� ���� �������
	� 	
����� ��
�� .B� �
� @��*����
���������
��%������������BD�

/�2� -������������
	��������	��
��
	�
���
�
	�����	!�����
�
�����
��1��	��
&
������� 3	��	�� �	��:
������ %��

�� ��
�� �� ��������� 
�� �<�� �
����� �
�
.����
������	�� ������ �������� ��	��� ��
���� �
�<� �
��� �
����*�����������
��
��%������������BD�

/�2� -������������
	��������	��
��
	�
���
�
	�����	!�����
�
�����
��1��	��
%��+�*���9����
����
��0	���	���
	�
��%��

�� ��
�������������
���@��
�
����� �
�.����
������	�� �
*��� �������� ��	��� ��
��<� �
���� �
�B� �
����
*�������������
��%������������B;�

�
�08� �#$ '!�#�"!��*,"")��%��'�+ -�#��,���*,"")'���$ -$#-'�$ -�3#$��9"#:�

�*�����;�$ -��,���*,"")'�
#6$ %'$�%" �<�#�'*#%(�-��)��#$�%" '��"�
�$% �$% �-��*,"")'=�<� 6)$ -=���6+)$�%" '����>��
-���������
��
���������	9��%���������	������������
��
������������
���	��
�
����������=
�	�����
���*������

�����	����	����������
�����
���������	�����
��
��	���
�#������	��%��

���
	���������
	��
��
��)�����������

	������	�
���
���	���*��������������	�����������
	;�3	�������
	���������
������
��

����
����
�����
������	����������
��
������
���������������
�����������
��
�������
�����
���	��*�����*

����	����������
�����
�����������������������
���
���
���	��������	��
	�
�����
	�*����������
��
���������	9��%���������01��
�����
$�������
���������	9��%���������	������
������������$������;�
�
���
.��
�/��
/�2� -�����������	�����
���

	����
*	�����	���
�#������	��%��

�����������



��*����	������
�����������
�����������
������	�����������������
��
��
����������
���	����	��
	�
�����
	�*��������������
��
���������	9��
%�������������01��
�����$�������
���������	9��%���������	��
����
������������$�������������������������	����������
��
������
�
����
����������������������
���������	�����;�

�

Page 128



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

/�2� -�����������	������
�����	������	����	���	�����
*	�������
�������

	����
/�	��*������	�#������	��%��

������������
�2��
������
	��
���	��"
����
�������
����
	���������������

��*����	������
�����������
�����	�������
��	�������
����
������������
���
�������
�������������������
�����
������
��
������������
���	�;��

�
���
��������
��
��
�����3�����
���
�

�0>� ���*+�%7��$ -�
�*%'%" ��$:% 6��#"*�-+#���+)�'��
-���7����
��&
���	�	���%���������
�������������
��������	��

����
�
����
���	���	����
�����01��
������	��������
	�$�!�	��'�
���
���(
�����	��	����
�
��������������

	���9���
���	������������	����
���
����	�������
	��
��1��
�����
������
	���!�	���������	�����	�������
�������	�����	��
������)
����
#
��
�������/01��
�����#���	����	��2�/$����	����	��#�������
�
3	�
�����
	2/0	���	�2�(��
����
	������;�
�
���
.��
�/�-����(
�����;���
��;.���;���	���;��
������01��
������	��
������
	�$�!�	��'�
���
���(
������������

��*����	�#���	��1�#��
�����
�
�����������
�����������
���;�
�
���.�����
�?�..	���2�
�

�0;� ��'�" '���"�
��+�$�%" �&���$)�,�$ -�?�))(�% 6�"!���"�)��)%7% 6�% ��1-��
�$#:�$ -��,�� ��-�!"#�)"*$)��*,"")'�$ -��"��+ %�1��"�$**�''���"#�'�
$ -�.�%'+#��3$*%)%�%�'��
?
�������
�$�	
���:
;���B��������������������������������
��
��'
�����7������
�	������������'��		�	��+��������
����������=
�	�����
�������
	��	���
�����
���
����
	������	�����
������
����

	���������	��
	������%��������������
��
������7����'��!�+�������)�������
���������������	�������������
��
��
�����	�7����'��!��	������	�����
���
�������

����	���
��
	�����
��������
����	����
��������������;�-�������
����
��
*��������	�������
	��������
	�
�������
����������������������������01��
�����"
���������	�;�
�
3	������	��	���������
��������01��
�����$�������
��7�������	���������	��
��>
������������������
	����	��	���*����	�����������B;��
�������
��������
���
���������	������
���������������67
*�������	������		�	���
	��1��
��������
������	��
����������
����
������C���
����(
������������
	�*

���	
��
�
�
�����������������
��	��	����
������
������
����
	�
���
��
	��������������
�������9;�
�
(���
	��	���
���$�����9���	>
�����
����������
����������$�������	�>
����
	�
*���������
���	���
����
	��������	���
���������������

��9���������
��
����
��
�����������������	��
��	����
���������	��������������
����
	;�
�
���
.��
�/��
/�2� -���������	��
��
	�
���������	���	���
�����������B;��
�������
��������

���
���/��������������
��2����������;�
�

/�2� -����������	
�����	����!	
*����������������������	�>
����
	�������
�������	����	���
����������������	���������;��3	�������
	��*������

Page 129



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

���
�	���	�������
���
������)
����'��		�	��#
��
����������"
���9��
�
��
����������	��
��������	������
���	��	��	��
��
��
	�������
������
�
�����
��
	�����
��	������	��������������������	�
������
�����
���
��������	��*������	���	���������;���

�

���.
��������
�������
�
���
�

�0�� 
%'�"'$)�"!��)�$#�-��%���% ��")(�*:��"�� %�1��"+'% 6��''"*%$�%" ��
-���������
������������
���	���
�������������
���*������

��������
�����
�
����
���
������������������	�7
����!������������	�������
	��������
	��	��
	�����
������
����F
	���
�
	�G�	��
�����
	�*����8	����7

��	��#��
�����
	;�-������
���
	
�����������������
����
���������������������*

�����������������������
���	��
��
�	����
��������

��	����������	������
���������	�����
	������
����������;�
�
-�����
�
��������������*����	������
�����������
���*����*���
�����������*���
	
����������
�����
�
�����*

�����
������
���	���������
��
����
	��	��
*

������
��������*������������	�����
	�
����������;�
�
?
��
*�	���
	��������
	�
��#���	��1����
������
�����������
���������	��������
�1�����
	����������
����
	��
��#�������
�3	�
�����
	�'�
���
���(
�����;./�2��
*�����*����
	���������	�����������������
	��
��
	�
�����������	������*���
�
���
.��
�/��
/�2� -��������
�
�����
�����
���
������������������	�7
����!��������	����������

#���	��1����
������
�����������
�����������
�����
	�����������
����F
	��
�
�
	�G�	��
�����
	�*����8	����7

��	��#��
�����
	������ ��������	������
�
	��������
	��
	� ���� ���������������*����	��1�����#���	��1��� �
� ����
�
�����������
��;�

���
/�2� -���� ���� 	��������� �
��
����� ��� ���������� �
� ���� ������
�� 
�� �����

�����
���	��/*���������
*����
��
����������2��	�
������
�����
�������
���������������
����������;�

�
�5�� �5;��  �#��% 6��"$-��''� �%$)��$% �� $ *���*,�����

?
�������
�$�	
���:
;���<�������#���������������������
��
������������
���	��
�
�������������
�����
����	���	�
������
	�������
������������	���������
������
#BA$�)�����3		���(�	��(
���0���	�����$��	��	�	���%�����;�3	�������
	��
�
�=�����
�?
���#���
������
��������������	���
��-��	��
�����������
������
�
�

�����
��
������
��	�
���1��	���
����
�������
	���
���
	�������
������
�

��

���-
		���%���	����	�	��%�����;�
�
(���
	��	���
���$�����9���	>
����������������
	�*�����
�������
�����"
����
�������	��������������	���
��-��	��
�������
�������
����;�
�
���
.��
�/��
/�2� -���� ���� 
������ ��
������ �	� ���� �
�������� ���
���� �	��
��	�� ����

�
����	������
������
	�
��:�*�,
�!�?��
�����	��)
�����'��!�"����������
	
���;�

�

Page 130



��������	
�����
��������
����������������	���
�
���������
	����	�������������
	��������

�

/�2� -���� ������	
������������
	�����
���������	����
�	�����
���

��

���
-
		����	������
���	����
������	��0������
	�����
��3	�
�����	���
��

!����
���� 
����
�� �
�
��
	� �
�� ���������� �	�� ���
� �
� ����� �	�
� ���� ?
���
#���
������
����;�

�
/�2� -���� �
�=���� �
� ?
��� #���
���� ��� ���� ��������	�� �
�� -��	��
����

�1��	���
���
��
���
�H���.A����������
��
�������	�
������
� �������	��
�����
	���
���
	��������
���

��

���-
		��;�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

����
3���	.�����
���� ��-7�$#,������
�
.����
����3
����..����

3��.�2�	.��
�����
���� ��-7�$#,������/B;���';$;2�
�
/%��
��	��%
��
���*����	
�����������
���
���	����������������	������;����;�;�
	�
���������$�������2�
�
�
�
�

Page 131



Page 132

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) 

Date: 25th June 2013 

Subject: Inquiry to consider Student Accommodation – Draft Terms of Reference 
 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) at its meeting on 30th April 2013 considered 
briefing papers on student accommodation in the city. Members agreed that it should 
undertake an investigation of this issue and requested that draft terms of reference be 
prepared for consideration of the Board.  

 
Draft Terms of Reference 
 
2.  A copy of the draft terms of reference is attached for Members consideration.  
 
Consultation        
 
3.  The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules and Guidance Notes require that, before embarking 

on an inquiry, the Board seeks and considers the views of the relevant Director/s and 
Executive Member/s. These views will need to be taken into account in finalising the 
terms of reference.  

4.  The Executive Board Members with portfolio responsibility for Neighbourhoods, Planning 
and Support Services  and Development and the Economy together with the relevant 
Directors have been invited to submit their views and any that are received will be 
reported to the Board. 

Co-opted Members 

5.  Members of the Board may appoint up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of 
office that relates to the duration of this particular scrutiny inquiry. 

 Report author:  Richard Mills 

Tel:  24 74557 

Agenda Item 11

Page 133



 

 

  

Recommendation 

6.  The Board is requested to  

(a) agree the terms of reference for this inquiry and the establishment of a working group 
comprising all Members of the Board to undertake this work. 

(b) consider the appointment of up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of 
office that relates to the duration of this particular scrutiny inquiry. 

Background documents  

6.   None used 

 

Page 134



Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration)    
 

Working Group 
 

                        Inquiry to consider Student Accommodation in the City  
 

    Terms of Reference  
 

1.0  Introduction 

1.1     The Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) in early 2013  expressed  
    concern that planning approval had been given for a change of use of offices to  
    form student accommodation at Pennine House, Russell Street as this was a  
    complete departure from the traditional areas for student accommodation. The  
    Board requested briefing papers on this issue. 

 
1.2     At the last Scrutiny Board meeting of the 2012/13 municipal year on 30th April  

    2013 Members considered a report of the Director of City Development which  
    explored issues underpinning the preparation of a new planning policy for  
    student housing development in the city. It also listed current planning  
    permissions and enquiries for purpose built student accommodation in the city. 
 

1.3     A report from the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods entitled ‘Update  
    on the analysis of current housing market trends within the Leeds 6 postcode  
    areas’ was also considered at that meeting. 

 
1.4     The Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and Support Services  
          reported at this meeting that a cross Council initiative was to be established on  
          the issues relating to the housing market in traditional student housing areas. 
 
1.5    As a consequence of those discussion the Scrutiny Board recommended that its  

    successor Scrutiny Board in 2013/14 undertake an inquiry into student  
    accommodation in the city.  

 
1.6    Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) is asked to: 

 
a) establish a Working Group comprising of all Members of the Board to 

undertake this inquiry. 
 

b) consider whether it wishes to co-opt up to two non-voting co-opted 
members to this Working Group for the period of this inquiry. 

 
 

2.0   Context of and Drivers for the Inquiry  
 
2.1   The context of and drivers for the inquiry are: 

 

• Concern at the introduction of student accommodation into the Prime Office 
Quarter of the city. 
 

Page 135



• Desire to contribute to the issues underpinning the preparation of a new 
planning policy for student housing development in the city. 

 

• Public examination of the Council’s Core Strategy in the summer of 2013 
whereby the ‘soundness’ of the plan policies will be considered by an 
independent inspector who will hear from objectors and from the Council. 

 
 

3.0   The Scope of this Inquiry 
 
3.1   The scope of this inquiry is to review and consider 

 

• The report by re’new which has been commissioned by the Director of City 
Development to examine the demand and supply for student 
accommodation in Leeds. It has been asked to propose policies and 
management arrangements to better assess the future provision of student 
housing and the suitability of locations based on consultations it had carried 
out with key stakeholders including higher education institutions, UNIPOL 
and others active in the student market. 
 

• The identification of other key stakeholders and others active in the housing 
market who have not been consulted by re’new and whether further 
information is required following analysis of re’new’s report. 

 

• The implications of a criteria based planning policy for student 
accommodation in the city with a move away from traditional student areas 
and an increase in planning applications for student development in 
locations which are considered unsuitable by adjoining occupiers and local 
residents. 

 

• The identification and location of current planning applications and 
enquiries for student accommodation in the city and whether there is a 
need for the development of supplementary planning polices for these 
specific areas. 

 
  4.0   Comments of the relevant Directors and Executive Board Members 
 

  4.1   The relevant Directors and appropriate Executive Board Members have been 
requested to comment on these terms of reference and these will be reported to 
Members of the Scrutiny Board (Housing & Regeneration) Working Group at its 
first meeting. 

 
5.0   Timetable for the Inquiry 
 
5.1 The inquiry will take place over at least three sessions of the Working Group 

with a view to issuing a final report in October 2013.  
 

5.2 The length of the Inquiry is subject to change. 
 

 

Page 136



 
6.0    Key Issues and Questions  
 
6.1   There are a number of key issues and questions including: 
  

• What is the demand and supply for student accommodation in the city 
including traditional student areas? 
 

• What arrangements are in place to help regenerate traditional student areas 
where there is a decline in students wanting to live in those areas? 

 

• Where is the current demand for student accommodation and is there an 
oversupply? 

 

• What actions, if any, can the Council and our partners take to influence 
market forces that encourage the provision of student accommodation in 
areas that are not considered unsuitable by adjoining occupiers and local 
residents? 

 

• The need to avoid duplication of effort on this issue following the 
announcement by the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and 
Support at the Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) on 30th April 
2013 that a cross Council initiative would be established to consider issues 
relating to the housing market in traditional student housing areas. 

 
7.0 Submission of Evidence 
 
7.1 There will be at least three evidence gathering sessions and further meetings 

will be scheduled as required: 
 
        Session One – July 2013 Date and Time to be Confirmed 

 
        The purpose of this session is to:  
 

• Approve the draft terms of reference for this inquiry following consideration by 
the Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) in June 2013. 

 

• Receive the report of the Director of City Development on Student Housing 
and the report of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods on an 
analysis of current housing market trends within the Leeds 6 postcodes. 
These were discussed at the Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) 
meeting on 30th April 2013 which requested this inquiry.  A copy of the 
relevant minutes for that meeting will be attached to those reports.  

 

• Consider the report by re’new on the demand and supply for student   
accommodation in Leeds.  

 

• Hear the representative from re’new, Phil Crabtree, Chief Planning Officer 
and Maggie Gjessing, Housing Investment Manager. 
 

Page 137



• Identify other key stakeholders and others active in the housing market who 
have not been consulted by re’new and whether further information is 
required following analysis of re’new’s report. 

 

• Confirm witnesses to attend the next meeting of the Working Group. 
 

 Session Two – August 2013 Date and Time to be Confirmed 
 

          The purpose of this session is to consider: 
 

• Any information requested from the last session. 
 

• A paper by the Chief Planning Officer on the implications of a criteria based 
planning policy for student accommodation in the city with a move away 
from traditional student areas and an increase in planning applications for 
student development in locations which are considered unsuitable by 
adjoining occupiers and local residents. The report to include the 
identification and location of current planning applications and enquiries for 
student accommodation in the city and whether there is a need for the 
development of supplementary planning polices for these specific areas. 

 

• Discuss the key issues as appropriate. 
 

• Hear from Phil Crabtree, Chief Planning Officer and from other key 
stakeholders and others active in the housing market who have been 
invited to attend today’s session having been identified at the last  

                meeting of the working group. 
 

• Confirm witnesses to attend the next meeting of the Working Group. 
 

• Identify recommendations for inclusion in the Scrutiny Boards final report. 
 

 
 Session Three – September Date and Time to be Confirmed 

 
The purpose of this session is to consider: 
 

• Any information requested from the last session. 
 

• Hear from witnesses identified at the last meeting of the Working Group. 
 

 
          Draft Final Report – Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) October  
          2013 
 

• Consider the Board’s draft final inquiry report and recommendations  
 
8.0     Witnesses 
 
8.1  The following witnesses have been identified as possible contributors to the  
          inquiry: 
 

Page 138



• Chair of the Housing and Regeneration Strategic Partnership Board 

• Officers from Environment & Neighbourhoods Directorate as necessary e.g. 
Megan Godsell on housing policy and Maggie Gjessing on housing delivery 
issues 

• Officers from City Development Directorate as necessary e.g. Phil 
Crabtree, Chief Planning Officer, Robin Coghlan on Planning Policy issues 
and David Feeney on overall Core Strategy 

• Representatives from Children’s Services  11-19  

• Representative from re’new 

• Representatives from Universities, Unipol and other student unions 

• Representative from Homes and Community Agency 

• Private sector representation 
    

8.0 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

8.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities 2011 to 2015 have been developed to 
ensure our legal duties are met under the Equality Act 2010. The priorities will 
help the council to achieve it’s ambition to be the best City in the UK and 
ensure that as a city work takes place to reduce disadvantage, discrimination 
and inequalities of opportunity. 

8.2 Equality and diversity will be a consideration throughout the Scrutiny Inquiry 
and due regard will be given to equality through the use of evidence, written 
and verbal, outcomes from consultation and engagement activities.  

8.3  The Scrutiny Board may engage and involve interested groups and individuals 
(both internal and external to the council) to inform recommendations. 

 
8.4 Where an impact has been identified this will be reflected in the final inquiry 

report, post inquiry. Where a Scrutiny Board recommendation is agreed the 
individual, organisation or group responsible for implementation or delivery 
should give due regard to equality and diversity, conducting impact 
assessments where it is deemed appropriate. 

 
9.0 Post inquiry report monitoring arrangements 
 
9.1 Following the completion of the Scrutiny inquiry and the publication of the final 

inquiry report and recommendations, the implementation of the agreed 
recommendations will be monitored by Scrutiny Board (Housing and 
Regeneration). 

 
9.2 The final inquiry report will include information on the detailed arrangements for 

how the implementation of recommendations will be monitored. 
 

10.0 Measures of success 
 
10.1 It is important to consider how the Scrutiny Board will deem if their inquiry has 

been successful in making a difference to local people. Some measures of 
success may be obvious at the initial stages of an inquiry and can be included 

Page 139



in these terms of reference. Other measures of success may become apparent 
as the inquiry progresses and discussions take place. 

 
10.2 Some initial measures of success are: 
 

• Identification of actions that will help to contribute to the regeneration of  
traditional student areas where there is a decline in students wanting to live 
in those areas. 

 

• Identification of policies and actions that will encourage the provision of 
student accommodation in areas that are not considered unsuitable by 
adjoining occupiers and local residents. 

 

Page 140



Report of Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 

Report to Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Board 

Date: 25th June 2013 

Subject: Work Schedule 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 
1 Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 

forthcoming municipal year. 
 

2 Main issues 
 
2.1 Further to the discussions already held during today’s meeting, Members are now 

requested to translate the decisions made around the chosen topics for Scrutiny into 
a work schedule for the forthcoming municipal year. 

 
2.2 A draft work schedule is attached.  Already included within the draft work schedule 

are the traditional items of Scrutiny work.  These involve performance monitoring, 
recommendation tracking and Budget and Policy Framework Plans.   

 

3. Recommendations 
 

3.1 Members are asked to prioritise the topics identified for Scrutiny and incorporate 
these into its work schedule for the forthcoming municipal year. 

 

4. Background papers1  
 

4.1 None used 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.  

 Report author:  Richard Mills 

Tel:  2474557 

Agenda Item 12

Page 141



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Work Schedule for 2013/2014 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

  Schedule of meetings/visits during 2013/14 

Area of review June July August 
 

 
Student Accommodation 
inquiry subject to approval 
 

 
Draft Terms of Reference Working 
Group Student Accommodation 

                    
                             WG 

            
                        WG 

To be determined 
 

   

Briefings 
 

 Government proposals for devolution 
to Local Enterprise Partnerships 
(LEP) and the LEP bidding process  
(To be announced in the 
Government’s spending review  on 
26th June 2013) 

 

Budget & Policy 
Framework Plans 

   

Recommendation Tracking 
 
 

 Report on External Publication of 
Employee Interests* 
 
Progress on a Review of the role and 
Membership of the  Strategic 
Housing Land Availability 
Assessment  (SHLAA )** 
 

 

Performance Monitoring 
 

Quarter 4 performance report 
 

  

 
*Report on External Publication of Employee Interests to be considered by Scrutiny Board in July 2013 if report is cleared for   
 Executive Board which incorporates formal response to Scrutiny Board recommendations on this issue 

 
** The Executive Board is shortly to be asked to consider a report on a review of the role and membership of the SHLAA following 
the Scrutiny Boards recommendations on this matter

P
age 143



Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Work Schedule for 2013/2014 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 

 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2013/14 

Area of review September October November 
 

 
Student Accommodation 
inquiry  
 

 
                               WG 
 

 
                      Final Report 

 

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

To be determined 
 
 

   

Briefings 
 
 

Review of performance indicators – 
report of Director of Environment & 
Neighbourhoods 
 

  

Budget & Policy 
Framework Plans 
 

 
Consider Report on Housing Revenue, 
General  Fund Regeneration and 
Capital Programme Period 2 
 

 
  

 

Recommendation Tracking 
 
 

 
 

  

Performance Monitoring 
 
 

Quarter 1 performance  not  being 
submitted this month due to review  
 

  

 

P
age 144



Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Work Schedule for 2013/2014 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 

 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2013/14 

Area of review December January February 

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

  

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

  

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

  

To be determined 
 
 

   

Briefings 
 
 

   

Budget & Policy 
Framework Plans 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking  
 
 

  

Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 performance report 
SB 09/12/13 @ 10 am 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 145



Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Work Schedule for 2013/2014 Municipal Year 
 

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Housing and Regeneration) Meeting  WG – Working Group Meeting 

 
 

 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2013/14 

Area of review March April May 

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

  

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

  

To be determined 
 

 
 
 

  

To be determined 
 
 

   

Briefings 
 
 

   

Budget & Policy 
Framework Plans 
 

   

Recommendation Tracking  
 
 

  

Performance Monitoring 
 
 

Quarter 3 performance report 
SB 10/03/14 @ 10 am 
 

  

 

P
age 146


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 30th April 2013
	7 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference
	Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference - Appendix A
	Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference - Appendix B

	8 Co-opted Members
	9 2012/13 Quarter 4 Performance Report
	2012-13 Quarter 4 Performance Report - Appendix 1
	2012-13 Quarter 4 Performance Report - Appendix 2

	10 Sources of Work
	Sources of Work for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 1
	Sources of Work for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 1a
	Sources of Work for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 2
	Sources of Work for the Scrutiny Board - Appendix 3

	11 Inquiry to consider Student Accommodation - Draft Terms of Reference
	Inquiry to consider Student Accommodation - Draft Terms of Reference

	12 Work Schedule
	Work Schedule - Appendix 1


